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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing
requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of
Regulation S-T (8 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such
files). Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an
emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company” and “emerging growth
company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act:
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Emerging growth company O
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (this “Quarterly Report”) includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). All statements
other than statements of historical fact contained in this Quarterly Report, including statements regarding our future results of operations and financial
position, strategy and plans, and our expectations for future operations, are forward-looking statements. The words “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,”
“project,” “plan,” “intend,” “believe,” “may,” “might,” “will,” “should,” “can have,” “likely,” “continue,” “design,” and other words and terms of similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.

We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may
affect our financial condition, results of operations, strategy, short-term and long-term business operations and objectives and financial needs. Although
we believe that the expectations reflected in our forward-looking statements are reasonable, actual results could differ from those expressed in our
forward-looking statements. Our future financial position and results of operations, as well as any forward-looking statements are subject to change and
inherent risks and uncertainties. You should consider our forward-looking statements in light of a number of factors that may cause actual results to vary
from our forward-looking statements including, but not limited to:

« risks discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” herein and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 (“the
Annual Report”), as well as our consolidated financial statements, related notes, and the other financial information appearing elsewhere in this
Quarterly Report and our other filings with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”);

¢ labor shortages, supply chain imbalances, inflation, and the potential for a global economic recession or further downgrades to the credit ratings
of the U.S.;

¢ increasing geopolitical uncertainty, including the broader impacts of the Ukraine-Russia and Hamas-Israel conflicts and escalating tension
between the U.S. and China;

« changes or volatility in general economic conditions and in the commercial finance and the real estate markets;

« changes in credit spreads;

« changes to our business and investment strategy and increased operating costs;

« our ability to obtain and maintain financing arrangements;

« the financing and advance rates for our assets, including the potential need for additional collateral;

* our actual and expected leverage and liquidity;

« the availability of investment opportunities in mortgage-related and real estate-related instruments and other securities;
« the adequacy and performance of collateral securing our loan portfolio and a decline in the fair value of our assets;

* interest rate and duration mismatches between our assets and our borrowings used to fund such investments;

« changes in interest rates affecting the market value of our assets and the related impacts on our borrowers, including any unforeseen impacts of
the transition to Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”);

* changes in prepayment rates on our mortgages and the loans underlying our commercial mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securities;

« the effects of hedging instruments and the degree to which our hedging strategies may or may not protect us from interest rate and credit risk
volatility;

« the increased rate of default and non-accrual or decreased recovery rates on our assets and the potential insufficiency of our provision for loan
loss reserves;

« the adequacy of our policies, procedures and systems for managing risk effectively;

¢ apotential downgrade in the credit ratings assigned to subsidiaries of Ladder Capital Corp (“Ladder,” “Ladder Capital,” and the “Company”) or
our investments or corporate debt;

« our compliance with, and the impact of, and changes in laws, governmental regulations, tax laws and rates, accounting guidance and similar
matters;

« our ability to maintain our qualification as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) for U.S. federal income tax purposes and our ability and the
ability of our subsidiaries to operate in compliance with REIT requirements;

¢ our ability and the ability of our subsidiaries to maintain our and their exemptions from registration under the Investment Company Act of 1940,
as amended (the “Investment Company Act”);
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« the effects of climate change or the potential liability relating to environmental matters that impact the value of properties we may acquire or the
properties underlying our investments;

« the inability of insurance covering real estate underlying our loans and investments to cover all losses;
« fraud by potential borrowers or their inability to complete their business plans;

« our ability to attract and retain qualified originators;

¢ cybersecurity risks, including the possibility of system outages resulting from cyber incidents;

« our ability to maintain strategic business alliances;

* the impact of any tax legislation or IRS guidance;

« volatility in the equity capital markets and the impact on our Class A common stock;

¢ the degree and nature of our competition; and

« the market trends in our industry, interest rates, real estate values and the debt securities markets.

You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. In addition, neither we nor any other person assumes responsibility
for the accuracy and completeness of any of these forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report are
made as of the date hereof, and the Company assumes no obligation to update or supplement any forward-looking statements. New risks and
uncertainties arise over time and it is not possible to predict those events or how they may affect us in the future.

Part | - Financial Information
Item 1. Financial Statements (Unaudited)

The consolidated financial statements of Ladder Capital Corp and the notes related to the foregoing consolidated financial statements are included in this
Item.

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements of Income
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 1. Organization and Operations
Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies
Note 3. Mortgage Loan Receivables

Note 4. Securities

Note 5. Real Estate and Related Lease Intangibles, Net
Note 6. Debt Obligations, Net

Note 7. Derivative Instruments

Note 8. Offsetting Assets and Liabilities

Note 9. Consolidated Variable Interest Entities
Note 10. Equity Structure and Accounts

Note 11. Noncontrolling Interests

Note 12. Earnings Per Share

Note 13. Stock-Based and Other Compensation Plans
Note 14. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Note 15. Income Taxes

Note 16. Related Party Transactions

Note 17. Commitments and Contingencies
Note 18. Segment Reporting

Note 19. Subsequent Events
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Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash

Ladder Capital Corp
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Dollars in Thousands)

Mortgage loan receivables held for investment, net, at amortized cost:

Mortgage loans receivable
Allowance for credit losses
Mortgage loan receivables held for sale
Securities
Real estate and related lease intangibles, net
Real estate held for sale
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated ventures
Derivative instruments
Accrued interest receivable
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and Equity
Liabilities
Debt obligations, net
Dividends payable
Accrued expenses
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (refer to Note 17)

Equity

Class A common stock, par value $ 0.001 per share, 600,000,000 shares authorized; 129,883,019 and 128,027,478
shares issued and 127,866,107 and 126,911,689 shares outstanding as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023,

respectively.
Additional paid-in capital
Treasury stock, 2,016,912 and 1,115,789 shares, at cost
Retained earnings (dividends in excess of earnings)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Total shareholders’ equity
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated ventures

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

(1) Includes amounts relating to consolidated variable interest entities. Refer to Note 2 and Note 9.

Refer to the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

June 30, December 31,
2024(1) 2023(1)
(Unaudited)
1,195559 $ 1,015,678
11,921 15,450
2,539,323 3,155,089
(54,107) (43,165)
26,414 26,868
481,109 485,533
707,083 726,442
11,455 —
20,005 6,877
757 1,454
20,946 24,233
87,722 98,218
5,048,187 $ 5,512,677
3,378,099 $ 3,783,946
31,206 32,294
48,652 65,144
61,735 99,095
3,519,692 3,980,479
128 127
1,770,275 1,756,750
(21,852) (12,001)
(207,728) (197,875)
(10,752) (13,853)
1,530,071 1,533,148
(1,576) (950)
1,528,495 1,532,198
5,048,187 $ 5,512,677
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Ladder Capital Corp
Consolidated Statements of Income

(Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share Data)
(Unaudited)

Net interest income
Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income (expense)
Provision for (release of) loan loss reserves, net

Net interest income (expense) after provision for (release of) loan loss
reserves

Other income (loss)
Real estate operating income
Net result from mortgage loan receivables held for sale
Gain (loss) on real estate, net
Fee and other income
Net result from derivative transactions
Earnings (loss) from investment in unconsolidated ventures
Gain on extinguishment of debt
Total other income (loss)
Costs and expenses
Compensation and employee benefits
Operating expenses
Real estate operating expenses
Investment related expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Total costs and expenses
Income (loss) before taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net income (loss)

Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests in consolidated ventures

Net income (loss) attributable to Class A common shareholders

Earnings per share:
Basic

Diluted

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic

Diluted

Three Months Ended June 30,

Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023
88,516 101,829 184,428 205,625
54,199 61,342 112,971 122,092
34,317 40,487 71,457 83,533

5,055 6,881 10,823 11,617
29,262 33,606 60,634 71,916
26,133 25,887 50,019 49,086

(541) (296) (454) (490)
12,543 — 12,543 —

3,638 3,240 7,338 4,881

617 4,149 4,637 1,907

18 217 3 434

— 462 177 9,679
42,408 33,659 74,263 65,497
13,721 14,242 34,510 36,326

5,178 4,987 9,822 10,243
11,034 9,766 20,180 19,615

2,288 2,661 4,281 4,181

8,413 7,471 16,715 15,000
40,634 39,127 85,508 85,365
31,036 28,138 49,389 52,048
(1,089) 46 836 1,767
32,125 28,092 48,553 50,281

224 71 403 288

32,349 28,163 48,956 50,569

0.26 0.23 0.39 0.41

0.26 0.23 0.39 0.41
125,730,765 124,731,195 125,523,265 124,612,821
125,839,500 124,827,596 125,679,937 124,742,506

Refer to the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Ladder Capital Corp
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(Dollars in Thousands)

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2024 2023 2024 2023
Net income (loss) $ 32,125 $ 28,092 $ 48,553 $ 50,281
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Gain (loss) on available for sale securities, net of tax:

Unrealized gain (loss) on securities, available for sale (930) 1,008 3,124 4,181

Reclassification adjustment for (gain) loss included in net income (loss) (2) (8) (23) 304
Total other comprehensive income (loss) (932) 1,000 3,101 4,485
Comprehensive income (loss) 31,193 29,092 51,654 54,766
Comprehensive (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interest in consolidated
ventures 224 71 403 288
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Class A common shareholders $ 31,417 $ 29,163 $ 52,057 $ 55,054

Refer to the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Balance, March 31, 2024
Distributions
Amortization of equity based compensation
Purchase of treasury stock
Forfeitures
Dividends declared
Net income (loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Balance, June 30, 2024

Ladder Capital Corp
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
(Dollars and Shares in Thousands)
(Unaudited)

Shareholders’ Equity

Retained Noncontrolling
Class A Common Stock Earnings Accumulated Interests
(Dividends in Other
Additional Paid- Excessof  Comprehensive  Consolidated

Shares Par in-Capital  Treasury Stock  Earnings) Income (Loss) Ventures Total Equity
127,888 $ 128 $ 1,767,129 $ (21,611) $(210,611) $ (9,820) $ (1,329) $1,523,886
— — — — — — (23) (23)

= = 3,117 = = = = 3,117
(20) — — (212) — — — (212)
(3) = 29 (29) = — — _
— — — — (29,466 ) — — (29,466 )

= = = = 32,349 = (224) 32,125
— — — — — (932) — (932)
127,866 $ 128 $ 1,770,275 $ (21,852) $(207,728) $ (10,752) $ (1,576) $ 1,528,495

Refer to the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



Table of Contents

Balance, March 31, 2023

Distributions

Amortization of equity based compensation

Forfeitures
Dividends declared

Net income (loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Balance, June 30, 2023

Ladder Capital Corp

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

(Dollars and Shares in Thousands)

(Unaudited)

Shareholders’ Equity

Class A Common Stock

Retained
Earnings

(Dividends in

Accumulated

Other

Noncontrolling

Interests

Additional Paid- Excess of Comprehensive Consolidated

Shares Par in-Capital Treasury Stock Earnings) Income (Loss) Ventures Total Equity
126,948 $ 127 $ 1,835,957 $(105,738) $(183,755) $ (17,524) $ (513) $1,528,554
— — — — — — (15) (15)

— — 3,046 — — — — 3,046
(16) — — — — — — —
— — — — (29,177) — — (29,177)

— — — — 28,163 — (71) 28,092

— — — — — 1,000 — 1,000
126,932 $ 127 $ 1,839,003 $(105,738) $(184,769) $ (16,524) $ (599) $1,531,500

Refer to the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Balance, December 31, 2023
Distributions
Amortization of equity based compensation
Grants of restricted stock
Purchase of treasury stock

Shares acquired to satisfy minimum required
federal and state tax withholding on vesting
restricted stock

Forfeitures
Dividends declared
Net income (loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Balance, June 30, 2024

Ladder Capital Corp
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
(Dollars and Shares in Thousands)
(Unaudited)

Shareholders’ Equity

Retained Noncontrolling
Class A Common Stock Earnings Accumulated Interests
(Dividends in Other
Additional Paid- Excess of Comprehensive  Consolidated

Shares Par in-Capital Treasury Stock  Earnings) Income (Loss) Ventures Total Equity
126,912 $ 127 $ 1,756,750 $ (12,001) $(197,875) $ (13,853) $ (950) $1,532,198
_ — — — — — (223) (223)

— — 13,415 — — — — 13,415
1,856 2 — — — — — 2
(80) — — (858) — — — (858)
(811) (1) — (8,883) — — — (8,884)
(11) — 110 (110) — — — —
— — — — (58,809) — — (58,809 )

_ — — — 48,956 — (403) 48,553

— — — — — 3,101 — 3,101
127,866 $ 128 $ 1,770,275 $ (21,852) $(207,728) $ (10,752) $ (1,576) $ 1,528,495

Refer to the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Balance, December 31, 2022

Distributions

Amortization of equity based compensation

Grants of restricted stock
Purchase of treasury stock

Re-issuance of treasury stock

Shares acquired to satisfy minimum required
federal and state tax withholding on vesting

restricted stock
Forfeitures
Dividends declared
Net income (loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Balance, June 30, 2023

Ladder Capital Corp
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
(Dollars and Shares in Thousands)

(Unaudited)

Shareholders’ Equity

Retained Noncontrolling
Class A Common Stock Earnings Accumulated Interests
(Dividends in Other
Additional Paid- Excess of Compr lid,

Shares Par in-Capital Treasury Stock Earnings) Income (Loss) Ventures Total Equity
126,502 $ 127 $ 1,826,833 $ (95,600) $(177,005) $ (21,009) $ 215 $1,533,561
— — — — — — (526) (526)

— — 12,170 — — — — 12,170

988 1 — (1) — — — _
(250) — — (2,285) — — — (2,285)
430 — — — — — — —
(689) (1) — (7,852) — — — (7,853)
(49) — — — — — — —
— — — — (58,333) — — (58,333)

— — — — 50,569 — (288) 50,281

— = = — — 4,485 — 4,485
126,932 $ 127 $ 1,839,003 $(105,738) $(184,769) $ (16,524) $ (599) $1,531,500

Refer to the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Ladder Capital Corp

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Dollars in Thousands)
(Unaudited)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
(Gain) loss on extinguishment of debt
Depreciation and amortization
Non-cash operating lease expense
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instruments
Provision for (release of) loan loss reserves
Amortization of equity based compensation
Amortization of deferred financing costs included in interest expense
Amortization of premium/discount on mortgage loan financing included in interest expense
Amortization of above- and below-market lease intangibles
(Accretion)/amortization of discount, premium and other fees on loans
(Accretion)/amortization of discount and premium on securities
Net result from mortgage loan receivables held for sale
Realized (gain) loss on securities
(Gain) loss on real estate, net
Realized (gain) loss on sale of derivative instruments
(Earnings) loss from investments in unconsolidated ventures in excess of distributions received
Change in deferred tax asset (liability)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accrued interest receivable
Other assets
Accrued expenses and other liabilities

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Origination and funding of mortgage loan receivables held for investment
Repayment of mortgage loan receivables held for investment

Purchases of securities

Repayment of securities

Basis recovery of interest-only securities

Proceeds from sales of securities

Capital improvements of real estate

Proceeds from sale of real estate

Capital contributions and advances to investment in unconsolidated joint ventures
Proceeds from FHLB stock

Purchase of derivative instruments

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

11

Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023
48553 $ 50,281
(177) (9.679)
16,715 15,000
254 1,076
697 (9)
10,823 11,617
13,415 12,170
5,719 6,562
(340) (300)
(862) (907)
(7,891) (11,819)
(459) (707)
454 490
(75) 299
(12,543) =
— 269
(3) (334)
1,344 940
3,287 1,292
(298) 553
(53,582) (32,705)
25,031 44,089
(69,583) (44,216)
611,348 433,705
(152,312) (17,920)
147,868 135,338
1,713 1,990
10,581 14,231
(1,831) (1,496)
46,886 =
(13,125) —
5,175 1,710
— (75)
586,720 523,267
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Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023
Cash flows from financing activities:
Deferred financing costs paid (1,794) (1,655)
Proceeds from borrowings under debt obligations 141,653 738,206
Repayment and repurchase of borrowings under debt obligations (550,208 ) (1,019,868)
Cash dividends paid to Class A common shareholders (59,899) (59,044)
Capital distributed to noncontrolling interests in consolidated ventures (223) (526)
Payment of liability assumed in exchange for shares for the minimum withholding taxes on vesting restricted stock (8,884) (7,852)
Purchase of treasury stock (858) (2,285)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (480,213) (353,024)
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 131,538 214,332

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period 1,075,942 659,602
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 1,207,480 $ 873,934
Non-cash investing and financing activities:

Securities and derivatives sold, not settled — 12

Repayments in transit of securities (other assets) — 392

Repayment in transit of mortgage loans receivable held for investment (other assets) 47,112 25,761

Settlement of mortgage loan receivable held for investment by real estate, net (42,646) —

Real estate and real estate held for sale acquired in settlement of mortgage loan receivable held for investment, net 41,296 —

Dividends declared, not paid 31,206 31,289

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the consolidated balance sheets that sum to
the total of the same such amounts shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows ($ in thousands):

June 30, 2024 June 30, 2023
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,195,559 $ 777,078
Restricted cash 11,921 96,856
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows $ 1,207,480 $ 873,934

Refer to the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

12



Table of Contents

Ladder Capital Corp
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

1. ORGANIZATION AND OPERATIONS

Ladder Capital Corp (“Ladder,” “Ladder Capital,” and the “Company”) is an internally-managed real estate investment trust (“REIT”) that is a leader in
commercial real estate finance. The Company originates and invests in a diverse portfolio of commercial real estate and real estate-related assets,
focusing on senior secured assets. The Company’s investment activities include: (i) the Company’s primary business of originating senior first mortgage
fixed and floating rate loans collateralized by commercial real estate with flexible loan structures; (ii) owning and operating commercial real estate,
including net leased commercial properties; and (iii) investing in investment grade securities secured by first mortgage loans on commercial real estate.
Ladder Capital Corp, as the general partner of Ladder Capital Finance Holdings LLLP (“LCFH” or the “Operating Partnership”), operates the Ladder
Capital business through LCFH and its subsidiaries. As of June 30, 2024, Ladder Capital Corp has a 100 % economic interest in LCFH and controls the
management of LCFH as a result of its ability to appoint its board members. Accordingly, Ladder Capital Corp consolidates the financial results of LCFH
and its subsidiaries. In addition, Ladder Capital Corp, through certain subsidiaries, which are treated as taxable REIT subsidiaries (each a “TRS"), is
indirectly subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes. Other than such indirect U.S. federal, state and local income taxes, there are no material
differences between Ladder Capital Corp’s consolidated financial statements and LCFH'’s consolidated financial statements.

Ladder Capital Corp was formed as a Delaware corporation on May 21, 2013. The Company conducted its initial public offering (“IPO”) which closed on
February 11, 2014. The Company used the net proceeds from the IPO to purchase newly-issued limited partnership units (“LP Units”) from LCFH. In
connection with the IPO, Ladder Capital Corp also became a holding corporation and the general partner of, and obtained a controlling interest in, LCFH.
Ladder Capital Corp’s only business is to act as the general partner of LCFH, and, as such, Ladder Capital Corp indirectly operates and controls all of the
business and affairs of LCFH and its subsidiaries. The IPO transactions described herein are referred to as the “IPO Transactions.”

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Accounting and Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States (“GAAP”). In the opinion of management, the unaudited financial information for the interim periods presented in this report reflects
all normal and recurring adjustments necessary for a fair statement of results of operations, financial position and cash flows. The interim consolidated
financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023, which are
included in the Annual Report, as certain disclosures that would substantially duplicate those contained in the audited consolidated financial statements
have not been included in this interim report. Operating results for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of operating results for an entire fiscal
year.

The consolidated financial statements include the Company’s accounts and those of its subsidiaries that are majority-owned and/or controlled by the
Company and variable interest entities for which the Company has determined itself to be the primary beneficiary, if any. All significant intercompany
transactions and balances have been eliminated.

Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 810 — Consolidation (“ASC 810"), provides guidance
on the identification of entities for which control is achieved through means other than voting rights (“variable interest entities” or “VIEs”) and the
determination of which business enterprise, if any, should consolidate the VIEs. Generally, the consideration of whether an entity is a VIE applies when
either: (1) the equity investors (if any) lack one or more of the essential characteristics of a controlling financial interest; (2) the equity investment at risk is
insufficient to finance that entity’s activities without additional subordinated financial support; or (3) the equity investors have voting rights that are not
proportionate to their economic interests and the activities of the entity involve or are conducted on behalf of an investor with a disproportionately small
voting interest. The Company consolidates VIEs in which it is considered to be the primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary is the entity that has both
of the following characteristics: (1) the power to direct the activities that, when taken together, most significantly impact the VIE's performance; and (2)
the obligation to absorb losses and right to receive the returns from the VIE that would be significant to the VIE . Refer to Note 9, Consolidated Variable
Interest Entities, for further information on the Company’s consolidated variable interest entities.
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The Company has investments in two unconsolidated ventures which, were determined to be VIEs. The Company determined that it was not the primary
beneficiary of these VIEs because the Company is a passive investor in, and has no control of, these entities and therefore does not have a controlling
financial interests in these VIEs. These investments are recorded on the consolidated balance sheets within investments in and advances to
unconsolidated ventures. The Company’s maximum exposure to loss is limited to its investments in these VIEs. The Company has not provided financial
support to these unconsolidated VIEs that it was not previously contractually required to provide.

Allowance for Loan Losses

The Company uses a current expected credit loss model (“CECL”") for estimating the provision for loan losses on its loan portfolio. The CECL model
requires the consideration of possible credit losses over the life of an instrument and includes a portfolio-based component and an asset-specific
component. In compliance with the CECL reporting requirements, the Company supplements its existing credit monitoring and management processes
with additional processes to support the calculation of the CECL reserves. The Company engages a third-party service provider to provide market data
and a credit loss model. The credit loss model is a forward-looking, econometric, commercial real estate (“CRE") loss forecasting tool. It is comprised of a
probability of default (“PD”) model and a loss given default (“LGD”) model that, layered together with the Company’s loan-level data, fair value of
collateral, net operating income of collateral, selected forward-looking macroeconomic variables, and pool-level mean loss rates, produces life of loan
expected losses (“EL") at the loan and portfolio level. Where management has determined that the credit loss model does not fully capture certain
external factors, including portfolio trends or loan-specific factors, a qualitative adjustment to the reserve is recorded. In addition, interest receivable on
loans is not included in the Company’s CECL calculations as the Company performs timely write offs of aged interest receivable. The Company has
made a policy election to write off aged receivables through interest income as opposed to through the CECL provision on its statements of income.

Loans for which the borrower or sponsor is experiencing financial difficulty, and where repayment of the loan is expected substantially through the
operation or sale of the underlying collateral, are considered collateral dependent loans. For collateral dependent loans, the Company may elect a
practical expedient that allows the Company to measure expected losses based on the difference between the collateral’s fair value and the amortized
cost basis of the loan. When the repayment or satisfaction of the loan is dependent on a sale, rather than operations of the collateral, the fair value is
adjusted for the estimated costs to sell the collateral. If foreclosure is probable, the Company is required to measure for expected losses using this
methodology.

The Company generally will use the direct capitalization rate valuation methodology or the sales comparison approach to estimate the fair value of the
collateral for loans and in certain cases will obtain external appraisals. Determining fair value of the collateral may take into account a number of
assumptions including, but not limited to, cash flow projections, market capitalization rates, discount rates and data regarding recent comparable sales of
similar properties. Such assumptions are generally based on current market conditions and are subject to economic and market uncertainties.

The Company’s loans are typically collateralized by real estate directly or indirectly. As a result, the Company regularly evaluates the extent and impact of
any credit deterioration associated with the performance and/or value of the underlying collateral property as well as the financial and operating capability
of the borrower/sponsor on a loan-by-loan basis. Specifically, a property’s operating results and any cash reserves are analyzed and used to assess:

(i) whether cash flow from operations is sufficient to cover the debt service requirements currently and into the future; (ii) the ability of the borrower to
refinance the loan at maturity; and/or (iii) the property’s liquidation value. The Company also evaluates the financial wherewithal of any loan guarantors as
well as the borrower’s competency in managing and operating the properties. In addition, the Company considers the overall economic environment, real
estate sector, and geographic submarket in which the collateral property is located. Such impairment analyses are completed and reviewed by asset
management and underwriting personnel, who utilize various data sources, including: (i) periodic financial data such as property occupancy, tenant
profile, rental rates, operating expenses, the borrowers’ business plan, and capitalization and discount rates; (ii) site inspections; and (iii) current credit
spreads and other market data and ultimately presented to management for approval.

When a debtor is experiencing financial difficulties and a loan is modified, the effect of the modification will be included in the Company’s assessment of
the CECL allowance for loan losses. If the Company provides principal forgiveness, the amortized cost basis of the loan is written off against the
allowance for loan losses. Generally, when modifying loans, the Company will seek to protect its position by requiring incremental pay downs, additional
collateral or guarantees and, in some cases, lookback features or equity interests to offset concessions granted should conditions impacting the loan
improve.

The Company designates a loan as a non-accrual loan generally when: (i) the principal or coupon interest components of loan payments become 90-days

past due; or (ii) in the opinion of the Company, recovery of principal and coupon interest is doubtful. Interest income on non-accrual loans in which the
Company reasonably expects a recovery of the loan’s outstanding principal
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balance is recognized when received in cash. Otherwise, income recognition will be suspended and any cash received will be applied as a reduction to
the amortized cost basis. A non-accrual loan is returned to accrual status at such time as the loan becomes contractually current and future principal and
coupon interest are reasonably assured to be received. A loan will be written off when management has determined principal and coupon interest is no
longer realizable and deemed non-recoverable.

Transfers of Financial Assets

For a transfer of financial assets to be considered a sale, the transfer must meet the sale criteria of ASC 860, which, at the time of the transfer, require
that the transferred assets qualify as recognized financial assets and the Company surrender control over the assets. Such surrender requires that the
assets be isolated from the Company, even in bankruptcy or other receivership, the purchaser have the right to pledge or sell the assets transferred and
the Company not have an option or obligation to reacquire the assets. If the sale criteria are not met, the transfer is considered to be a secured
borrowing, the assets remain on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets and the sale proceeds are recognized as a liability. In November 2017, the
SEC staff indicated that, despite transfer restrictions placed on qualified Third Party Purchasers by the risk retention rules of the Dodd-Frank Act, they
would not take exception to a registrant treating transfers of financial instruments in a securitization as sales if the transfers otherwise met all the criteria
for sale accounting. The Company believes treatment of such transfers as sales is consistent with the substance of such transactions and, accordingly,
reflects such transfers as sales. The Company recognizes gains on sale of loans net of any costs related to that sale.

Debt Issued

From time to time, a subsidiary of the Company will originate a loan (each, an “inter-segment loan,” and collectively, “inter-segment loans”) to another
subsidiary of the Company to finance the purchase of real estate. The mortgage loan receivable and the related obligation do not appear in the
Company’s consolidated balance sheets as they are eliminated upon consolidation. Once the Company issues (sells) an inter-segment loan to a third-
party securitization trust (for cash), the related mortgage note is recognized as a financing transaction and accounted for under ASC 470. The accounting
for the securitization of an inter-segment loan—a financial instrument that has never been recognized in the consolidated financial statements as an asset
—is considered a financing transaction under ASC 470, and ASC 835.

The periodic securitization of the Company’s mortgage loans involves both inter-segment loans and mortgage loans made to third parties with the latter
recognized as financial assets in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as part of an integrated transaction. The Company receives aggregate
proceeds equal to the transaction’s all-in securitization value and sales price. In accordance with the guidance under ASC 835, when initially measuring
the obligation arising from an inter-segment loan’s securitization, the Company allocates the proceeds from each securitization transaction between the
third-party loans and each inter-segment loan so securitized on a relative fair value basis determined in accordance with the guidance in ASC 820. The
difference between the amount allocated to each inter-segment loan and the loan’s face amount is recorded as a premium or discount, and is amortized,
using the effective interest method, as a reduction or increase in reported interest expense, respectively.

Reclassification

The Company reclassified unrealized and realized gain (loss) on securities into fee and other income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024.
As such, the unrealized gain (loss) of $( 95 ) thousand and $ 22 thousand and realized loss of $ 8 thousand and $( 299 ) thousand for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2023 were reclassified into fee and other income on the consolidated statements of income. Refer to Note 4, Securities for
realized and unrealized gain/loss details. Certain other prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period's presentation.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

None.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements Pending Adoption

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07—Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures (“ASU 2023-
07"). ASU 2023-07 improves reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses.
ASU 2023-07 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024,
early adoption is permitted. The amendments should be applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the financial statements. Upon transition,
the segment expense categories and amounts disclosed in the prior periods should be based on the significant segment expense categories identified
and disclosed in the period of adoption. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the update on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09—Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures (“ASU 2023-09"). ASU 2023-
09 improves the transparency of income tax disclosures related to rate reconciliation and income taxes. ASU 2023-07 is effective for annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2024. For entities other than public business entities, the amendments are effective for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2025. Early adoption is permitted for annual financial statements that have not yet been issued or made available for issuance. The
amendments should be applied prospectively, however retrospective application is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the
update on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Any new accounting standards not disclosed above that have been issued or proposed by FASB and that do not require adoption until a future date are
being evaluated or are not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements upon adoption.
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3. MORTGAGE LOAN RECEIVABLES

June 30, 2024 ($ in thousands)

Mortgage loan receivables held for investment, net, at
amortized cost:

First mortgage loans
Mezzanine loans
Total mortgage loans receivable
Allowance for credit losses

Total mortgage loan receivables held for investment, net, at
amortized cost

Mortgage loan receivables held for sale:

First mortgage loans

Total

Weighted Remaining
Outstanding Carrying Average Maturity
Face Amount Value Yield (1)(2) (years)(2)(3)
$ 2,528,691 $ 2,523,011 9.46 % 0.6
16,339 16,312 11.21 % 12
2,545,030 2,539,323 9.48 % 0.6
N/A (54,107)
2,545,030 2,485,216
31,350 26,414 (4) 457 % 7.7
$ 2,576,380 $ 2,511,630 (5) 9.42 % 0.7

(1) Includes the impact of interest rate floors. Term SOFR rates in effect as of June 30, 2024 are used to calculate weighted average yield for floating

rate loans.

(2) Excludes one non-accrual loan with an amortized cost basis of $ 60.8 million. Refer to “Non-Accrual Status” below for further details.

(3) The remaining maturity is calculated based on the initial maturity. The weighted average extended maturity for all loans is 1.5 years.

(4) As aresult of changes in prevailing rates, the Company recorded a reversal of lower of cost or market adjustment as of June 30, 2024. The
adjustment was calculated using a 5.48 % discount rate.

(5) Net of $ 5.7 million of deferred origination fees and other items as of June 30, 2024.

As of June 30, 2024, $ 2.3 billion, or 88.7 %, of the outstanding face amount of the mortgage loan receivables held for investment, net, at amortized cost,
were at variable interest rates linked to Term SOFR. Of this $ 2.3 billion, 100 % of these variable interest rate mortgage loan receivables were subject to
interest rate floors. As of June 30, 2024, $ 31.4 million, or 100 %, of the outstanding face amount of the mortgage loan receivables held for sale were at

fixed interest rates.

December 31, 2023 ($ in thousands)

Mortgage loan receivables held for investment, net, at
amortized cost:

First mortgage loans
Mezzanine loans
Total mortgage loans receivable
Allowance for credit losses

Total mortgage loan receivables held for investment, net, at
amortized cost

Mortgage loan receivables held for sale:

First mortgage loans

Total

Weighted Remaining
Outstanding Carrying Average Maturity
Face Amount Value Yield (1)(2) (years)(2)(3)
$ 3,131,803 $ 3,122,707 9.63 % 0.7
32,423 32,382 11.46 % 0.9
3,164,226 3,155,089 9.65 % 0.7
— (43,165)
3,164,226 3,111,924
31,350 26,868 (4) 457 % 8.2
$ 3,195,576 $ 3,138,792 (5) 9.61 % 0.7

(1) Includes the impact from interest rate floors. Term SOFR rates in effect as of December 31, 2023 are used to calculate weighted average yield for

floating rate loans.

(2) Excludes one non-accrual loan with an amortized cost basis of $ 14.5 million. Refer to “Non-Accrual Status” below for further details.
(3) The remaining maturity is calculated based on the initial maturity. The weighted average extended maturity for all loans is 1.8 years.
(4) As aresult of rising prevailing rates, the Company recorded a lower of cost or market adjustment as of December 31, 2023. The adjustment was

calculated using a 5.18 % discount rate.

(5) Net of $ 9.1 million of deferred origination fees and other items as of December 31, 2023.
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As of December 31, 2023, $ 2.8 billion, or 87.8 %, of the outstanding face amount of the mortgage loan receivables held for investment, net, at amortized
cost, were at variable interest rates linked to Term SOFR. Of this $ 2.8 billion, 100.0 % of these variable interest rate mortgage loan receivables were
subject to interest rate floors. As of December 31, 2023, $ 31.4 million, or 100 %, of the outstanding face amount of the mortgage loan receivables held
for sale were at fixed interest rates.

For the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, loan portfolio activity was as follows ($ in thousands):

Mortgage loan receivables held for
investment, net, at amortized cost:

Mortgage loan

Mortgage loans Allowance for receivables held
receivable credit losses for sale
Balance, December 31, 2023 $ 3,155,089 $ (43,165) $ 26,868
Origination of mortgage loan receivables (1) 69,583 — —
Repayment of mortgage loan receivables (2) (650,594 ) — —
Proceeds from sales of mortgage loan receivables (3) — — —
Non-cash disposition of loans via foreclosure (4) (42,646) — —
Net result from mortgage loan receivables held for sale (5) — — (454)
Accretion/amortization of discount, premium and other fees 7,891 — —
Release (addition) of provision for current expected credit loss, net (6) — (10,942) —
Balance, June 30, 2024 $ 2,539,323 $ (54,107) $ 26,414

(1) Includes funding of commitments on existing mortgage loans.

(2) Includes $ 39.2 million of repayments in transit.

(3) Excludes $ 69.4 million of proceeds received from the sale of conduit mortgage loans collateralized by net leased properties in the Company’s real
estate segment to a third-party securitization trust. The mortgage loan receivables, which were originated during the current period, and the related
obligation do not appear in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as they are eliminated upon consolidation. Upon the sale of the mortgage
loan receivable to a third-party securitization trust (for cash), the related mortgage note is recognized as a financing transaction.

(4) Refer to Note 5, Real Estate and Related Lease Intangibles, Net, for further detail on foreclosure of real estate.

(5) Includes unrealized lower of cost or market adjustment and realized gain/loss on loans held for sale.

(6) Referto “Allowance for Credit Losses” table below for further detail.

Mortgage loan receivables held for
investment, net, at amortized cost:

Mortgage loan

Mortgage loans Allowance for receivables held
receivable credit losses for sale
Balance, December 31, 2022 $ 3,885,746 $ (20,755) $ 27,391
Origination of mortgage loan receivables (1) 44,216 — —
Repayment of mortgage loan receivables (440,546 ) — —
Net result from mortgage loan receivables held for sale (2) — — (490)
Accretion/amortization of discount, premium and other fees 11,819 — —
Release (addition) of provision for current expected credit loss, net (3) — (11,493) —
Balance, June 30, 2023 $ 3,501,235 $ (32,248) $ 26,901

(1) Includes funding of commitments on existing mortgage loans.
(2) Includes unrealized lower of cost or market adjustment and realized gain/loss on loans held for sale.
(3) Refer to “Allowance for Credit Losses” table below for further detail.
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Allowance for Credit Losses and Non-Accrual Status ($ in thousands)

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
Allowance for Credit Losses 2024 2023 2024 2023
Allowance for credit losses at beginning of period $ 49,060 $ 25,499 $ 43,165 $ 20,755
Provision for (release of) current expected credit loss, net (1) 5,047 6,749 10,942 11,493
Allowance for credit losses at end of period $ 54,107 $ 32,248 $ 54,107 $ 32,248

(1) There were no asset-specific reserves recorded for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023.

1-Accrual Status (1) June 30, 2024(2) December 31, 2023(3)

ortized cost basis of loans on non-accrual status $ 60,830 14,541

(1) As of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the loans on non-accrual status were greater than 90 days past due and are considered collateral

dependent.

(2) Comprised of one multi-family loan with an amortized cost basis of $ 60.8 million, for which the Company determined no asset-specific reserve was
necessary.

(3) Comprised of one multi-family loan with an amortized cost basis of $ 14.5 million, for which the Company determined no asset-specific reserve was
necessary.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company modified one first mortgage loan with an amortized cost basis of $ 56.0 million as of June 30,
2024, or 2.2 % of the Company’s mortgage loan receivable portfolio. This modification resulted in an initial extension through June 2024, in exchange for
terms that included a $ 2.5 million payment that reduced the amortized cost basis of the loan, with subsequent contractual extensions available with
additional payments. The loan was extended in June 2024 through October 2024 in exchange for an additional $ 2.5 million payment. No principal or
interest was forgiven, and Ladder also received a 15 % non-controlling common equity interest in the property. The payment structure of the loan was
modified to defer a portion of the contractual interest until maturity and the Company is accruing only the current pay component. As of June 30, 2024,
the loan is current. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, the Company accrued $ 0.2 million and $ 0.4 million of interest income related to
this loan, respectively.

Current Expected Credit Loss (“CECL”")

As of June 30, 2024, the Company has a $ 54.7 million allowance for current expected credit losses, of which $ 54.1 million pertains to mortgage loan
receivables and $ 0.6 million relates to unfunded commitments included in other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. As of June 30, 2024, the
Company concluded that none of its loans required an asset-specific reserve.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had a $ 43.9 million allowance for current expected credit losses, of which $ 43.2 million pertained to mortgage
loan receivables and $ 0.7 million related to unfunded commitments included in other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31,
2023, the Company concluded that none of its loans required an asset specific reserve.

The total change in provision for loan loss reserves for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 was an increase of the provision of $ 5.1 million
and $ 10.8 million, respectively. The net increase for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 represents an increase in the general reserve of
loans held for investment of $ 5.0 million and $ 10.9 million, respectively, and an increase of $ 8 thousand and a decrease of $ 119 thousand related to
unfunded loan commitments, respectively. The increase in provision associated with the general reserve during the three and six months ended June 30,
2024 is primarily due to adverse changes in macroeconomic market conditions affecting commercial real estate, partially offset by a decrease in the size
of the Company'’s balance sheet first mortgage loan portfolio as a result of repayments.

The total change in provision for loan loss reserves for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 was an increase of the provision of $ 6.9 million
and $ 11.6 million, respectively. The net increase for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 represents an increase in the general reserve of
loans held for investment of $ 6.7 million and $ 11.5 million, respectively, and an increase related to unfunded commitments of $ 132 thousand and $
124 thousand, respectively. The increase in provision associated with the general reserve during the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 was
primarily due to adverse changes in macroeconomic market conditions affecting commercial real estate, partially offset by a decrease in the size of the
Company’s balance sheet first mortgage loan portfolio as a result of repayments.
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Management’s method for monitoring credit is the performance of a loan. The primary credit quality indicator management utilizes to assess its current
expected credit loss reserve is by viewing the Company’s mortgage loan portfolio by collateral type. The primary credit quality indicator is reviewed by
management on a quarterly basis. The following tables summarize the amortized cost of the mortgage loan portfolio by collateral type as of June 30,
2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively ($ in thousands):

Amortized Cost Basis by Origination Year as of June 30, 2024

Collateral Type 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 and Earlier Total

Multifamily $ 37,631 $ 14549 $ 295,348 $ 495871 $ — 3 843,399
Office — — 79,284 607,817 195,772 882,873
Mixed Use — — 177,340 232,591 — 409,931
Industrial 14,740 — — 6,979 118,787 140,506
Manufactured Housing — — — 79,198 4,706 83,904
Retail — — — 18,630 55,284 73,914
Hospitality — — 32,735 58,013 — 90,748
Other — — 14,048 — — 14,048
Subtotal mortgage loans receivable 52,371 14,549 598,755 1,499,099 374,549 2,539,323

Individually Impaired loans — — — — — _

Total mortgage loans receivable (1) $ 52,371 $ 14,549 $ 598,755 $ 1,499,099 $ 374,549 $ 2,539,323

Amortized Cost Basis by Origination Year as of December 31, 2023

Collateral Type 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 and Earlier Total (2)

Multifamily $ 14,461 $ 547,532 $ 612,489 $ — 8 — % 1,174,482
Office — 79,148 614,743 — 211,674 905,565
Mixed Use — 193,470 321,514 — 41,403 556,387
Industrial —_ 22,636 34,746 —_ 119,344 176,726
Manufactured Housing — 32,655 82,895 — — 115,550
Retail — 12,934 87,052 — 9,083 109,069
Hospitality — — 18,589 — 55,380 73,969
Other — 31,363 11,978 — — 43,341
Subtotal mortgage loans receivable 14,461 919,738 1,784,006 — 436,884 3,155,089

Individually Impaired loans — — — — — _

Total mortgage loans receivable (3) $ 14,461 $ 919,738 $ 1,784,006 $ — 8 436,884 $ 3,155,089

(1) Notincluded above is $ 19.0 million of accrued interest receivable on all loans at June 30, 2024.

(2) For the year ended December 31, 2023, there was a $ 2.7 million of write-off of an asset-specific allowance in connection with a foreclosure of one
retail property in New York, NY.

(3) Notincluded above is $ 22.4 million of accrued interest receivable on all loans at December 31, 2023.

4. SECURITIES

The Company invests in primarily AAA-rated real estate securities, typically front pay securities, with relatively short duration and significant credit
subordination.

Commercial mortgage-backed securities (‘CMBS”), CMBS interest-only securities, U.S. Agency securities, corporate bonds and U.S. Treasury securities
are classified as available-for-sale and reported at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in the current period in other comprehensive income. As
of June 30, 2024, the Company does not intend to sell these investments and it is not more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell the
investments before recovery of their amortized cost bases.
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Government National Mortgage Association (“GNMA”) interest-only, Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp (“FHLMC") and equity securities are recorded at
fair value with changes in fair value recognized in earnings in the consolidated statements of income. The following is a summary of the Company’s
securities at June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 ($ in thousands):

June 30, 2024
Gross Unrealized Weighted Average
Remaining
Outstanding Amortized Carrying # of Duration
Asset Type Face Amount Cost Basis Gains Losses (1) Value Securities Rating (2) Coupon % Yield % (years)
CMBS $ 487,661 $ 486,829 507 $(11,455) $ 475881 (3) 69 AAA 6.73 % 6.91 % 213
CMBS interest-only(4) 834,955 (4) 4,774 181 (20) 4,935 (5) 8 AAA 0.39 % 7.16 % 0.94
GNMA interest-only(6) 35,865 (4) 179 65 (57) 187 13 AAA 0.36 % 9.44 % 3.26
Agency securities 17 16 — — 16 1 AAA 4.00 % 2.74% 0.82
Total debt securities $ 1,358,498 $ 491,798 753 $(11,532) $ 481,019 (7) 91 267 % 6.92 % 212
Equity securities N/A 160 — (50) 110 1 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Allowance for current expected
credit losses N/A — — (20) (20)
Total securities $ 1,358,498 $ 491,958 $ 753 $(11,602) $ 481,109 92
December 31, 2023
Gross Unrealized Weighted Average
Remaining
Outstanding Amortized Carrying # of Duration
Asset Type Face Amount Cost Basis Gains Losses (1) Value Securities Rating (2) Coupon % Yield % (years)
CMBS $ 439,679 $ 439,052 $ 277 $(14,439) $ 424,890 (3) 64 AAA 6.67 % 6.83 % 2.00
CMBS interest-only(4) 876,555 (4) 6,453 169 (53) 6,569 (5) 9 AAA 0.57 % 6.61% 1.07
GNMA interest-only(6) 37,053 (4) 214 51 (52) 213 14 AAA 0.36 % 6.12 % 3.60
Agency securities 22 22 — (1) 21 1 AAA 4.00 % 2.70 % 1.05
U.S. Treasury securities 54,031 53,648 68 — 53,716 7 AAA N/A 5.41% 0.07
Total debt securities $ 1,407,340 $ 499,389 $ 565 $(14,545) $ 485409 (7) 95 255 % 6.82 % 1.98
Equity securities N/A 160 — (16) 144 1 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Allowance for current expected
credit losses N/A — — (20) (20)
Total securities $ 1,407,340 $ 499549 $ 565 $(14581) $ 485533 96

(1) Based on the Company’s analysis, including review of interest rate changes and current levels of subordination, among other factors, the
unrealized loss positions are determined to be due to market factors other than credit.

(2) Represents the weighted average of the ratings of all securities in each asset type, expressed as an S&P equivalent rating. For each security rated
by multiple rating agencies, the highest rating is used. The ratings provided were determined by third-party rating agencies. The rates may not be
current and are subject to change (including the assignment of a “negative outlook” or “credit watch”) at any time.

(3) As of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, includes $ 8.9 million and $ 9.0 million of restricted securities which are designated as risk retention
securities under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, as amended (“Dodd-Frank Act”) and are therefore
subject to transfer restrictions over the term of the securitization trust and are classified as held-to-maturity and reported at amortized cost.

(4) The amounts presented represent the principal amount of the mortgage loans outstanding in the pool in which the interest-only securities
participate.

(5)  As of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, includes $ 0.3 million of restricted securities which are designated as risk retention securities under
the Dodd-Frank Act and are therefore subject to transfer restrictions over the term of the securitization trust and are classified as held-to-maturity
and reported at amortized cost.

(6) GNMA interest-only securities are recorded at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in current period earnings. The Company’s GNMA
interest-only securities are considered to be hybrid financial instruments that contain embedded derivatives. As a result, the Company has elected
to account for them as hybrid instruments in their entirety at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in unrealized gain (loss) on securities
in the consolidated statements of income.

(7) The Company’s investments in debt securities represent an ownership interest in unconsolidated VIEs. The Company’s maximum exposure to loss
from these unconsolidated VIEs is the amortized cost basis of the securities which represents the purchase price of the investment adjusted by any
unamortized premiums or discounts as of the reporting date.

21






Table of Contents

The following summarizes the carrying value of the Company’s debt securities by remaining maturity based upon expected cash flows at June 30, 2024
and December 31, 2023 ($ in thousands):

June 30, 2024

Asset Type Within 1 year 1-5 years 5-10 years Total

CMBS $ 71,242  $ 394,661 $ 9978 $ 475,881
CMBS interest-only 1,720 3,215 — 4,935
GNMA interest-only 76 15 96 187
Agency securities 16 — — 16

U.S. Treasury securities — — — _

Total securities (1) $ 73,054 $ 397,891 $ 10,074 $ 481,019

(1) Excluded from the table above are $ 0.1 million of equity securities and $( 20.0 ) thousand of allowance for current expected credit losses.

December 31, 2023

Asset Type Within 1 year 1-5 years 5-10 years Total
CMBS $ 81,343 $ 343,547 $ — % 424,890
CMBS interest-only 2,121 4,448 — 6,569
GNMA interest-only 86 22 105 213
Agency securities — 21 — 21
U.S. Treasury securities 53,716 — 53,716
Total securities (1) $ 137,266 $ 348,038 $ 105 $ 485,409

(1) Excluded from the table above are $ 0.1 million of equity securities and $( 20.0 ) thousand of allowance for current expected credit losses.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, the Company sold $ 0.8 million and $ 1.8 million of equity securities, respectively. During the
three and six months ended June 30, 2023 the Company did not sell any equity securities.

The following summarizes the Company'’s realized and unrealized gain (loss) on securities, included within “Fee and Other Income” on the Company’s
consolidated statements of income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023 ($ in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2024 2023 2024 2023
Realized gain (loss) $ 22 % 8 3 7% % (299)
Unrealized gain (loss) (19) (95) (27) 22
Total realized and unrealized gain (loss) on securities $ 3 s (87) $ 48 $ (277)

United States Treasury Securities

The Company invests in short-term and long-term U.S. Treasury securities. Short-term U.S. Treasury securities are classified as cash and cash
equivalents on our consolidated balance sheets and long-term U.S. Treasury securities are classified as securities on the consolidated balance sheets.
As of June 30, 2024, the Company held $ 1.2 billion of U.S. Treasury securities classified as cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated balance
sheet.
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5. REAL ESTATE AND RELATED LEASE INTANGIBLES, NET

The Company’s real estate assets were comprised of the following ($ in thousands):

June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023
Land $ 177,840 $ 183,194
Building 643,840 647,201
In-place leases and other intangibles 113,392 116,831
Undepreciated real estate and related lease intangibles 935,072 947,226
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (227,989) (220,784 )
Real estate and related lease intangibles, net(1) $ 707,083 $ 726,442
Below market lease intangibles, net (other liabilities)(2) $ (27,512) $ (28,860)

(1) There was unencumbered real estate of $ 174.5 million and $ 160.8 million as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively.
(2) Below market lease intangibles is net of $ 16.3 million and $ 15.8 million of accumulated amortization as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023,
respectively.

As of June 30, 2024, the Company held $ 11.5 million of undepreciated real estate and lease intangibles held for sale.

The following table presents depreciation and amortization expense on real estate recorded by the Company ($ in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023
Depreciation expense(1) $ 6346 $ 6,144 $ 12,735 $ 12,344
Amortization expense 2,067 1,327 3,980 2,656
Total real estate depreciation and amortization expense $ 8413 $ 7471 $ 16,715 $ 15,000

(1) Depreciation expense on the consolidated statements of income also includes $ 0.1 million of depreciation on corporate fixed assets for the three
months ended June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023, and $ 0.2 million of depreciation on corporate fixed assets for the six months ended June 30,
2024 and June 30, 2023.

The Company’s intangible assets are comprised of in-place leases, above market leases and other intangibles. The following tables present additional
detail related to the intangible assets ($ in thousands):

June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023
Gross intangible assets(1) $ 113,392 % 116,831
Accumulated amortization 57,204 55,782
Net intangible assets $ 56,188 $ 61,049

(1) Includes $ 2.5 million and $ 2.8 million of unamortized above market lease intangibles, which are included in real estate and related lease
intangibles, net on the consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

The following table presents increases/reductions in operating lease income related to the amortization of above or below market leases recorded by the
Company ($ in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2024 2023 2024 2023
Reduction in operating lease income for amortization of above market
lease intangibles acquired $ (95) $ (72) $ (192) $ (143)
Increase in operating lease income for amortization of below market lease
intangibles acquired 525 525 1,054 1,050
Total $ 430 $ 453 $ 862 $ 907
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The following table presents expected adjustment to operating lease income and expected amortization expense during the next five years and thereafter
related to the above and below market leases and acquired in-place lease and other intangibles for property owned as of June 30, 2024 ($ in thousands):

Increasel(Decrease) to

Period Ending December 31, Operating Lease Income Amortization Expense
2024 (last six months) $ 850 $ 3,589
2025 1,703 5,100
2026 1,717 4,276
2027 1,681 4,115
2028 1,607 3,924
Thereafter 17,432 33,697
Total $ 24,990 $ 54,701

Rent Receivables

There were $ 3.1 million and $ 1.1 million of rent receivables included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2024 and
December 31, 2023, respectively.

Operating Lease Income & Tenant Reimbursements

The following is a schedule of non-cancellable, contractual, future minimum rent under leases (excluding property operating expenses paid directly by
tenant under net leases) at June 30, 2024 ($ in thousands):

Period Ending December 31, Amount
2024 (last six months) $ 33,693
2025 59,229
2026 48,883
2027 46,897
2028 44,909
Thereafter 156,707
Total $ 390,318

Tenant reimbursements, which consist of real estate taxes and utilities paid by the Company, which were reimbursable by the Company’s tenants
pursuant to the terms of the lease agreements, were $ 1.4 million and $ 3.3 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively and $
1.0 million and $ 2.1 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively. Tenant reimbursements are included in operating lease
income on the Company’s consolidated statements of income.

Acquisitions

The Company acquired the following properties during the six months ended June 30, 2024 ($ in thousands):

Purchase
PricelFair Value on

the Date of Ownership
Acquisition Date Type Primary Location(s) Foreclosure Interest (1)
February 2024 (2) Multifamily Los Angeles, CA $ 14,110 100 %
April 2024 (3) Multifamily Longview, TX 6,080 100 %
April 2024 (4) Multifamily Amarillo, TX 9,651 100 %
June 2024 (5) Multifamily Los Angeles, CA 11,455 100 %
Total real estate acquisitions $ 41,296

(1) Properties were consolidated as of acquisition date.
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In February 2024, the Company acquired a multifamily portfolio consisting of three properties in Los Angeles, CA via foreclosure. The portfolio
served as collateral for a mortgage loan receivable held for investment. The Company obtained a third-party appraisal of the property. The $ 14.1
million fair value was determined by using the sales comparison and income approach. The appraiser utilized a terminal capitalization rate of 5.5
%. There was no gain or loss resulting from the foreclosure of the loan. The key inputs used to determine fair value were determined to be Level 3
inputs. The portfolio was sold in June 2024.

In April 2024, the Company acquired a multifamily portfolio consisting of two properties in Longview, TX via foreclosure. The portfolio served as
collateral for a mortgage loan receivable held for investment. There was a $ 0.4 million gain recognized in connection with the foreclosure of the
loan. During June 2024, the Company sold the portfolio for $ 6.1 million. The fair value at foreclosure was based on the the sales price.

In April 2024, the Company acquired a multifamily property in Amarillo, TX via foreclosure. The property served as collateral for a mortgage loan
receivable held for investment. The Company determined the fair value of $ 9.7 million by using the sales comparison approach utilizing a terminal
capitalization rate of 8.3 %. There was no gain or loss resulting from the foreclosure of the loan. The key inputs used to determine fair value were
determined to be Level 3 inputs.

In June 2024, the Company acquired a multifamily portfolio consisting of three properties in Los Angeles, CA via foreclosure. The portfolio served
as collateral for a mortgage loan receivable held for investment. The $ 11.5 million fair value was determined by using the sales comparison
approach. There was no gain or loss resulting from the foreclosure of the loan.

The Company allocates purchase consideration based on relative fair values, and real estate acquisition costs are capitalized as a component of the cost
of the assets acquired for asset acquisitions. During the six months ended June 30, 2024, all acquisitions were determined to be asset acquisitions.

There were no acquisitions during the six months ended June 30, 2023.

Sales

The Company sold the following properties during the six months ended June 30, 2024 ($ in thousands):

Sales Date Type Primary Location(s) Sales Proceeds Net Book Value Realized Gain/(Loss) Properties
May 2024 Office Peoria, IL $ 1,227 $ 2320 $ (1,093) 1
June 2024 Multifamily Los Angeles, CA 14,834 13,911 923 3
June 2024 Retail Waldorf, MD 23,734 11,424 12,310 1
June 2024 Multifamily Longview, TX 1) 6,080 6,080 403 2
Totals $ 45875 $ 33,735 $ 12,543

@)

The Company recognized a $ 0.4 million gain on foreclosure which is recognized in gain (loss) on real estate, net on the consolidated statements
of income.

There were no property sales during the six months ended June 30, 2023.
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6. DEBT OBLIGATIONS, NET

The details of the Company’s debt obligations at June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 are as follows ($ in thousands):

June 30, 2024
Comnmitted / Carrying Remaining Carrying
Principal Value of Debt Committed Interest Rate at June Current Term Extension Eligible Amount of  Fair Value of

Debt Obligations Amount Obligations but Unfunded 30, 2024(1) Maturity Options Coll al Ci C al
Committed Loan Repurchase
Facility $ 500,000 $ 232,114 $ 267,886 7.07 % 747 % 9/27/2025 ) ®3) $ 341,094 $ 341,094
Committed Loan Repurchase
Facility 300,000 80,743 219,257 7.42% 8.32% 12/19/2024 (4) (5) 111,680 111,680
Committed Loan Repurchase
Facility 56,000 16,300 39,700 7.57% 757 % 4/30/2026 (6) €) = — @
Committed Loan Repurchase
Facility 200,000 22,707 177,293 7.82% 8.27 % 10/3/2025 8) 3) 31,232 31,367
Committed Loan Repurchase
Facility 100,000 = 100,000 — % — % 1/22/2025 9) (5) — =

Total Committed Loan

Repurchase Facilities 1,156,000 351,864 804,136 484,006 484,141
Uncommitted Securities
Repurchase Facility N/A (10) 1,678 N/A (10)  6.53 % 7.48 % 7/15/2024 N/A (11) 9,483 9,483 (12)

Total Repurchase

Facilities 1,156,000 353,542 804,136 493,489 493,624
Revolving Credit Facility 323,850 = 323,850 —% —% 1/25/2025 (13) N/A (14) N/A (14) N/A (14)
Mortgage Loan Financing 506,656 509,421 — 439% 9.03%  2024-2034 (15) N/A (16) 500,141 683,584 (17)
CLO Debt 952,220 951,716 (18) — 6.64 % 9.09 % 2024-2026 (19) N/A 3) 1,183,650 1,183,650
Senior Unsecured Notes 1,573,614 1,563,420 (20) — 425% 5.25% 2025-2029 N/A N/A (21) N/A (21) N/A (21)

Total Debt Obligations,

Net $ 4,512,340 $ 3,378,099 $ 1,127,986

(1) Interest rates on floating rate debt reflect the applicable index in effect as of June 30, 2024.

(2) Two 12 -month extension periods at Company’s option. No new advances are permitted after the initial maturity date.

(3) First mortgage commercial real estate loans and senior and pari passu interests therein. Eligible collateral does not include the real estate collateralizing such

loans.

(4) One additional 364 -day period at Company’s option.

$2,177,280

$ 2,360,858

®)

(6)
@)

®)
©)
(10
(1)
(12

(13)
(14

(15)
(16)
1
(18)
(19)
(20)
(1)

First mortgage and mezzanine commercial real estate loans and senior and pari passu interests therein. Eligible collateral does not include the real estate
collateralizing such loans.

Three additional 12 -month extension periods at Company’s option.

The Company has pledged mortgage loans receivable with a value of $ 20.4 million that eliminates in consolidation and is thus not included in the carrying
amount of collateral or fair value of collateral.

Two additional 12 -month extension periods at Company’s option. No new advances permitted past 30 days prior to initial maturity.

One additional 12 -month extension period at Company's option. No new advances permitted during the final 12 -month period.

Represents uncommitted securities repurchase facilities for which there is no committed amount subject to future advances.

Commercial real estate securities. Eligible collateral does not include the first mortgage commercial real estate loans collateralizing such securities.
Includes $ 1.9 million of restricted securities under the risk retention rules of the Dodd-Frank Act. These securities are accounted for as held-to-maturity and
recorded at amortized cost basis.

Four additional 12 -month periods at Company’s option.

The obligations under the Revolving Credit Facility are guaranteed by the Company and certain of its subsidiaries and secured by equity pledges in certain
Company subsidiaries.

Anticipated repayment dates.

Certain of the Company’s real estate investments serve as collateral for the Company’s mortgage loan financing.

Represents undepreciated carrying value of commercial real estate collateral.

Presented net of unamortized debt issuance costs of $ 0.5 million at June 30, 2024.

Represents the estimated maturity date based on the underlying loan maturities.

Presented net of unamortized debt issuance costs of $ 10.2 million at June 30, 2024.

The obligations under the senior unsecured notes are guaranteed by the Company and certain of its subsidiaries.
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December 31, 2023

Committed / Carrying Remaining Carrying
Principal Value of Debt Committed Interest Rate at Current Term Extension Eligible Amount of  Fair Value of

Debt Obligations Amount Obligations but Unfunded December 31, 2022(1) Maturity Options Ci Cc C al
Committed Loan Repurchase
Facility $ 500,000 $ 235,594 $ 264,406 7.08 % 7.48 % 9/27/2025 ) 3) $ 342467 $ 342,467
Committed Loan Repurchase
Facility 300,000 118,903 181,097 7.46 % 8.36 % 12/19/2024 4) (5) 174,938 174,938
Committed Loan Repurchase
Facility 141,997 139,162 2,835 7.06 % 7.60 % 4/30/2024 (6) ®3) 65,110 65,110 (7)
Committed Loan Repurchase
Facility 200,000 111,340 88,660 7.22% 8.29 % 10/3/2025 8) ®3) 150,280 150,559
Committed Loan Repurchase
Facility 100,000 — 100,000 — % — % 1/22/2024 9) (5) — —

Total Committed Loan

Repurchase Facilities 1,241,997 604,999 636,998 732,795 733,074
Committed Securities
Repurchase Facility 100,000 — 100,000 — % — % 5/27/2024 N/A (10) — —
Uncommitted Securities
Repurchase Facility N/A (11) 1,608 N/A (11)  6.61% 7.56 % 1/17/2024 N/A (10) 2,511 2,511 (12)

Total Repurchase

Facilities 1,341,997 606,607 736,998 735,306 735,585
Revolving Credit Facility 323,850 — 323,850 — % —% 71272024 (13) N/A (14) N/A (14) N/A (14)
Mortgage Loan Financing 437,384 437,759 — 4.39 % 9.03 % 2024-2031 (15) N/A (16) 474,740 625,454 (17)
CLO Debt 1,062,777 1,060,719 (18) — 6.68 % 9.13% 2024-2026 (19) N/A 3) 1,327,722 1,327,722
Borrowings from the FHLB 115,000 115,000 — 5.76 % 5.88 % 2024 N/A (20) 140,276 140,276
Senior Unsecured Notes 1,575,614 1,563,861 (21) — 425% 5.25% 2025-2029 N/A N/A (22) N/A (22) N/A (22)

Total Debt Obligations,

Net $ 4,856,622 $ 3,783,946 $ 1,060,848

(1) Interest rates on floating rate debt reflect the applicable index in effect as of December 31, 2023.

(2) Two 12 -month extension periods at Company’s option. No new advances are permitted after the initial maturity date.

(3) First mortgage commercial real estate loans and senior and pari passu interests therein. Eligible collateral does not include the real estate collateralizing such

loans.

(4) One additional 364 -day period at Company’s option.

(5) First mortgage and mezzanine commercial real estate loans and senior and pari passu interests therein. Eligible collateral does not include the real estate

collateralizing such loans.

(6) Three additional 12 -month extension periods at Company'’s option.
(7) The Company has pledged mortgage loans receivable with a value of $ 114.7 million that eliminates in consolidation and is thus not included in the carrying

amount of collateral or fair value of collateral.

$2,678,044

(8) Two additional 12 -month extension periods at Company’s option. No new advances permitted past 30 days prior to initial maturity.

(9) Two additional 12 -month extension periods at Company's option. No new advances permitted during the final 12 -month period.

$ 2,829,037

(10) Commercial real estate securities. Eligible collateral does not include the first mortgage commercial real estate loans collateralizing such securities.

(11)
(12

(13)
(14

(15)
(16)
an
(18)
(19)
(20)
(1)
(22

Represents uncommitted securities repurchase facilities for which there is no committed amount subject to future advances.

Includes $ 1.9 million of restricted securities under the risk retention rules of the Dodd-Frank Act. These securities are accounted for as held-to-maturity and
recorded at amortized cost basis.

Three additional 12 -month periods at Company’s option.

The obligations under the Revolving Credit Facility are guaranteed by the Company and certain of its subsidiaries and secured by equity pledges in certain
Company subsidiaries.

Anticipated repayment dates.

Certain of the Company’s real estate investments serve as collateral for the Company’s mortgage loan financing.

Represents undepreciated carrying value of commercial real estate collateral.

Presented net of unamortized debt issuance costs of $ 2.1 million at December 31, 2023.

Represents the estimated maturity date based on the remaining reinvestment period and underlying loan maturities.

Investment grade commercial real estate securities. It does not include the first mortgage commercial real estate loans collateralizing such securities.
Presented net of unamortized debt issuance costs of $ 11.8 million at December 31, 2023.

The obligations under the senior unsecured notes are guaranteed by the Company and certain of its subsidiaries.

Committed Loan and Securities Repurchase Facilities

The Company has entered into five committed master repurchase agreements, as outlined in the June 30, 2024 table above, totaling $ 1.2 billion of
credit capacity in order to finance its lending activities. Assets pledged as collateral under these facilities are limited to whole mortgage loans or



participation interests in mortgage loans collateralized by first liens on commercial properties and mezzanine
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debt. The Company also had a term master repurchase agreement with a major U.S. bank to finance CMBS totaling $ 100 million that was undrawn and
matured during the three months ended June 30, 2024. The Company’s repurchase facilities include covenants covering net worth requirements,
minimum liquidity levels, maximum leverage ratios, and minimum fixed charge coverage ratios. The Company was in compliance with all covenants as of
June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

The Company has the option to extend some of the current facilities subject to a number of conditions, including satisfaction of certain notice
requirements, the absence of an event of default, and the absence of a margin deficit, all as defined in the repurchase facility agreements. The lenders
have sole discretion with respect to the inclusion of collateral in these facilities and the determination of the market value of the collateral on a daily basis,
to be exercised on a good faith basis, and have the right in certain cases to require additional collateral, a full and/or partial repayment of the facilities
(margin call), or a reduction in unused availability under the facilities, sufficient to rebalance the facilities if the estimated market value of the included
collateral declines.

As of June 30, 2024, the Company had total debt obligations of $ 353.5 million outstanding pursuant to repurchase agreements with four counterparties.
None of the loan repurchase facilities are due within 90 days of June 30, 2024. As of June 30, 2024, no counterparties held collateral that exceeded the
amounts borrowed under the related repurchase agreements by more than $ 152.8 million, or 10 % of the Company’s total equity. As of June 30, 2024,
the weighted average haircut, or the percent of collateral value in excess of the loan amount, under the Company’s repurchase agreements was 28 %.
There have been no significant fluctuations in haircuts across asset classes on the repurchase facilities.

Revolving Credit Facility

The Company’s Revolving Credit Facility provides for an aggregate maximum borrowing amount of $ 323.9 million, including a $ 25.0 million sublimit for
the issuance of letters of credit. The Revolving Credit Facility is available on a revolving basis to finance the Company’s working capital needs and for
general corporate purposes. Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility incur interest at a fixed margin of 2.50 % over the index rate, with reductions
in the fixed margin upon the achievement of investment grade credit ratings. As of June 30, 2024, the Company had no outstanding borrowings on the
Revolving Credit Facility, and continues to maintain the ability to draw $ 323.9 million.

The obligations under the Revolving Credit Facility are guaranteed by the Company and certain of its subsidiaries. The Revolving Credit Facility is
secured by a pledge of the shares of (or other ownership or equity interests in) certain subsidiaries to the extent the pledge is not restricted under
existing regulations, law or contractual obligations.

The Company is subject to customary affirmative covenants and negative covenants, including limitations on the incurrence of additional debt, liens,
restricted payments, sales of assets and affiliate transactions. In addition, the Company is required to comply with financial covenants relating to
minimum net worth, maximum leverage, minimum liquidity, and minimum fixed charge coverage, consistent with the Company’s other credit facilities. The
Company'’s ability to borrow is dependent on, among other things, compliance with the financial covenants. The Revolving Credit Facility contains
customary events of default, including non-payment of principal or interest, fees or other amounts, failure to perform or observe covenants, cross-default
to other indebtedness, the rendering of judgments against the Company or certain of its subsidiaries to pay certain amounts of money and certain events
of bankruptcy or insolvency.

Debt Issuance Costs

As of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the amounts of unamortized costs relating to the Company’s master repurchase facilities and Revolving
Credit Facility were $ 3.3 million and $ 4.0 million, respectively, are included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

Uncommitted Securities Repurchase Facilities
The Company has also entered into multiple uncommitted master repurchase agreements collateralized by real estate securities with several

counterparties. The borrowings under these agreements have typical advance rates between 75 % and 95 % of the fair value of collateral, which is
primarily AAA-rated securities. The uncommitted securities repurchase facility is due within 30 days of June 30, 2024.
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Mortgage Loan Financing

The Company typically finances its real estate investments with long-term, non-recourse mortgage financing. These mortgage loans have carrying
amounts of $ 509.4 million and $ 437.8 million, net of unamortized premiums of $ 4.1 million and $ 1.8 million as of June 30, 2024 and December 31,
2023, respectively, representing proceeds received upon financing greater than the contractual amounts due under these agreements. The premiums are
being amortized over the remaining life of the respective debt instruments using the effective interest method. The Company recorded $ 0.2 million and $
0.3 million of premium amortization, which decreased interest expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. These
non-recourse debt agreements provide for secured financing at rates ranging from 4.39 % to 9.03 %, and, as of June 30, 2024, have anticipated maturity
dates between 2024 and 2034, with an average term of 3.8 years. The mortgage loans are collateralized by real estate and related lease intangibles, net,
of $500.1 million and $ 474.7 million as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2024, the
Company executed ten new term debt agreements to finance properties in its real estate portfolio with an aggregate outstanding debt balance of $ 68.9
million. During the six months ended June 30, 2023 the Company did not execute any new term debt agreements.

Collateralized Loan Obligations (“CLO”) Debt

As of June 30, 2024, the Company had $ 951.7 million of matched term, non-mark-to-market and non-recourse CLO debt included in debt obligations on
its consolidated balance sheets, which includes unamortized debt issuance costs of $ 0.5 million.

On July 13, 2021, a consolidated subsidiary of the Company completed a privately-marketed CLO transaction, which generated $ 498.2 million of gross
proceeds to Ladder, financing $ 607.5 million of loans (“Contributed July 2021 CLO Loans”) at an 82 % advance rate on a matched term, non-mark-to-
market and non-recourse basis. A consolidated subsidiary of the Company retained an 18 % subordinate and controlling interest in the CLO. The
Company retained consent rights over major decisions with respect to the servicing of the Contributed July 2021 CLO Loans, including the right to
appoint and replace the special servicer under the CLO. The CLO is a VIE and the Company is the primary beneficiary and, therefore, consolidated the
VIE. Refer to Note 9, Consolidated Variable Interest Entities for further detail.

On December 2, 2021, a consolidated subsidiary of the Company completed a privately-marketed CLO transaction, which generated $ 566.2 million of
gross proceeds to Ladder, financing $ 729.4 million of loans (“Contributed December 2021 CLO Loans”) at a maximum 77.6 % advance rate on a
matched term, non-mark-to-market and non-recourse basis. A consolidated subsidiary of the Company retained an 15.6 % subordinate and controlling
interest in the CLO. The Company also held two additional tranches as investments totaling 6.8 % interest in the CLO. The Company retained consent
rights over major decisions with respect to the servicing of the Contributed December 2021 CLO Loans, including the right to appoint and replace the
special servicer under the CLO. The CLO is a VIE and the Company is the primary beneficiary and, therefore, consolidated the VIE. Refer to Note 9,
Consolidated Variable Interest Entities for further detail.

Borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”)

As of June 30, 2024, the Company had no debt outstanding with the FHLB.

Tuebor Captive Insurance Company LLC (“Tuebor”), was licensed in Michigan and approved to operate as a captive insurance company as well as being
approved to become a member of the FHLB. Tuebor is subject to state regulations which require that dividends (including dividends to the Company as
its parent) may only be made with regulatory approval. However, there can be no assurance that the Company would obtain such approval if sought.
Largely as a result of this restriction, approximately $ 859.7 million of Tuebor's member’s capital was restricted from transfer via dividend to Tuebor’s
parent without prior approval of state insurance regulators at June 30, 2024. To facilitate intercompany cash funding of operations and investments,
Tuebor and its parent maintain regulator-approved intercompany borrowing/lending agreements.

Senior Unsecured Notes
As of June 30, 2024, the Company had $ 1.6 billion of unsecured corporate bonds outstanding. These unsecured financings were comprised of $ 327.8
million in aggregate principal amount of 5.25 % senior notes due 2025 (the “2025 Notes”), $ 611.9 million in aggregate principal amount of 4.25 % senior

notes due 2027 (the “2027 Notes”) and $ 633.9 million in aggregate principal of 4.75 % senior notes due 2029 (the “2029 Notes”). Subsequent to quarter
end, the Company issued $ 500 million in aggregate
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principal amount of 7.00 % senior notes due 2031 (the “2031 Notes”, collectively with the 2025 Notes, the 2027 Notes and the 2029 Notes, the “Notes”).

During the six months ended June 30, 2024, the Company repurchased $ 2.0 million of the 2029 Notes and recognized a net gain of $ 0.2 million on
extinguishment of debt.

LCFH issued the Notes with Ladder Capital Finance Corporation (“LCFC"), as co-issuers on a joint and several basis. LCFC is a 100 % owned finance
subsidiary of LCFH with no assets, operations, revenues or cash flows other than those related to the issuance, administration and repayment of the
Notes. The Company and certain subsidiaries of LCFH currently guarantee the obligations under the Notes and the indenture. The Company was in
compliance with all covenants of the Notes as of June 30, 2024 and 2023.

The Notes require interest payments semi-annually in cash in arrears, are unsecured, and are subject to an unencumbered assets to unsecured debt
covenant. The Company may redeem the Notes prior to their stated maturity, in whole or in part, at any time or from time to time, with required notice and
at a redemption price as specified in the indenture governing the Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date. The board of
directors has authorized the Company to repurchase any or all of the Notes from time to time without further approval.

Financial Covenants

The Company’s debt facilities are subject to covenants that require the Company to maintain a minimum level of total equity. Largely as a result of this
restriction, approximately $ 871.4 million of the total equity is restricted from payment as a dividend by the Company at June 30, 2024.

The Company was in compliance with all covenants as of June 30, 2024.

30



Table of Contents

Combined Maturity of Debt Obligations

The following schedule reflects the Company’s contractual payments under borrowings by maturity ($ in thousands):

Borrowings by

Period ending December 31, Maturity(1)
2024 (last six months) $ 202,362
2025 571,010
2026 100,149
2027 787,099
2028 24,317
Thereafter 748,874
Subtotal 2,433,811
Debt issuance costs included in senior unsecured notes (10,194)
Debt issuance costs included in mortgage loan financings (1,330)
Premiums included in mortgage loan financings (2) 4,095
Total (3) $ 2,426,382
(1) The allocation of repayments under the Company’s committed loan repurchase facilities is based on the earlier of: (i) the maturity date of each

@

©)

agreement; or (ii) the maximum maturity date of the collateral loans, assuming all extension options are exercised by the borrower.

Represents deferred gains on conduit mortgage mortgage loans sold into securitizations, collateralized by net leased properties in the Company’s
real estate segment. These premiums are amortized as a reduction to interest expense.

Total does not include $ 952.2 million of consolidated CLO debt obligations and the related debt issuance costs of $ 0.5 million, as the satisfaction
of these liabilities will be paid through cash flow from loan collateral including amortization and will not require cash outlays from us.
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7. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The Company primarily uses derivative instruments to economically manage the fair value variability of fixed rate assets caused by interest rate
fluctuations and overall portfolio market risk. The following is a breakdown of the derivatives outstanding as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 ($

in thousands):

June 30, 2024

Fair Value Remaining
Maturity
Contract Type Notional Asset(1) Liability(1) (years)
Caps
1 Month Term SOFR 90,000 $ 278 % — 0.13
Futures
10-year Treasury-Note Futures 17,100 479 — 0.25
Total futures 17,100 479 —
Total derivatives 107,100 $ 757 $ —
(1) Shown as derivative instruments in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
December 31, 2023
Fair Value Remaining
Maturity
Contract Type Notional Asset(1) Liability(1) (years)
Caps
1 Month Term SOFR 90,000 $ 908 $ — 0.62
Futures
5-year Treasury-Note Futures 18,800 98 — 0.25
10-year Treasury-Note Futures 86,100 447 — 0.25
Total futures 104,900 545 —
Options
Options N/A (2) 1 — 0.05
Total derivatives 194,900 $ 1,454 $ —

(1) Shown as derivative instruments in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

(2) The Company held 104 options contracts as of December 31, 2023.

The following table summarizes the net realized gains (losses) and unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives, by primary underlying risk exposure, as
included in net result from derivatives transactions in the consolidated statements of income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

($ in thousands):

Contract Type
Caps

Futures
Options

Total

Three Months Ended June 30, 2024

Six Months Ended June 30, 2024

Net Result
from
Derivative
Transactions

$ 36
581
$ 617

Net Result
from
Unrealized Realized Derivative
Gainl/(Loss) Gainl/(Loss) Transactions
$ (630) $ 837 $ 207
(65) 4,496 4,431
= (1) (1)

$ (695) $ 5332 $ 4,637
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Contract Type
Caps

Futures
Options

Total

Futures

Three Months Ended June 30, 2023 Six Months Ended June 30, 2023
Net Result Net Result
from from
Unrealized Realized Derivative Unrealized Realized Derivative
Gain/(Loss) Gainl/(Loss) Transactions Gainl/(Loss) Gainl/(Loss) Transactions
344 3 347 % 691 $ 0 $ 584 $ 594
64 3,444 3,508 (107) 1,583 1,476
(25) (25) (50) 106 (269) (163)
383 $ 3,766 $ 4149 $ 9 $ 1,898 $ 1,907

Collateral posted with the Company’s futures counterparties is segregated in the Company’s books and records. Interest rate futures are centrally
cleared by the Chicago Mercantile Exchange (“CME”) through a futures commission merchant. Interest rate futures that are governed by an International
Swaps and Derivatives Association (“ISDA”) agreement provide for bilateral collateral pledging based on the counterparties’ market value. The
counterparties have the right to re-pledge the collateral posted but have the obligation to return the pledged collateral, or substantially the same
collateral, if agreed to by us, as the market value of the interest rate futures change.

The Company is required to post initial margin and daily variation margin for its interest rate futures that are centrally cleared by CME. CME determines
the fair value of the Company’s centrally cleared futures, including daily variation margin. Variation margin pledged on the Company’s centrally cleared
interest rate futures is settled against the realized results of these futures. The Company’s counterparties held $ 0.4 million and $ 2.8 million of cash
margin as collateral for derivatives as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively, which is included in restricted cash in the consolidated

balance sheets.
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8. OFFSETTING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The following tables present both gross information and net information about derivatives and other instruments eligible for offset in the statement of
financial position as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023. The Company’s accounting policy is to record derivative asset and liability positions on a
gross basis; therefore, the following tables present the gross derivative asset and liability positions recorded on the balance sheets, while also disclosing
the eligible amounts of financial instruments and cash collateral to the extent those amounts could offset the gross amount of derivative asset and liability
positions. The actual amounts of collateral posted by or received from counterparties may be in excess of the amounts disclosed in the following tables
as the following only disclose amounts eligible to be offset to the extent of the recorded gross derivative positions.

The following table represents offsetting of financial assets and derivative assets as of June 30, 2024 ($ in thousands):

Net amounts of Gross amounts not offset in the

balance sheet

Gross amounts assets presented
Gross amounts of offset in the in the balance Financial Cash collateral
Description recognized assets balance sheet sheet instruments received/(posted)(1) Net amount
Derivatives $ 757 $ — 3 757 $ — 3 (445) $ 313
Total $ 757 $ - 3 757 $ — 3 (445) $ 313

(1) Included in restricted cash on consolidated balance sheets.

The following table represents offsetting of financial liabilities and derivative liabilities as of June 30, 2024 ($ in thousands):

Gross amounts not offset in the

Net amounts of balance sheet

Gross amounts of Gross amounts liabilities Financial
recognized offset in the presented in the instruments Cash collateral
Description liabilities balance sheet balance sheet collateral posted/(received)(1) Net amount
Repurchase agreements $ 353,541 $ — $ 353541 $ 353,541 $ — $ 353,541
Total $ 353,541 $ — $ 353,541 $ 353,541 $ — $ 353,541

(1) Included in restricted cash on consolidated balance sheets.

The following table represents offsetting of financial assets and derivative assets as of December 31, 2023 ($ in thousands):

Net amounts of Gross amounts not offset in the

balance sheet

Gross amounts assets presented
Gross amounts of offset in the in the balance Financial Cash collateral
Description recognized assets balance sheet sheet instruments received/(posted)(1) Net amount
Derivatives $ 1454 $ — 3 1,454  $ — 3 (2,846) $ (1,392)
Total $ 1454 $ — 3 1454 $ — 8 (2,846) $ (1,392)

(1) Included in restricted cash on consolidated balance sheets.

The following table represents offsetting of financial liabilities and derivative liabilities as of December 31, 2023 ($ in thousands):

Gross amounts not offset in the

Net amounts of balance sheet

Gross amounts of Gross amounts liabilities Financial
recognized offset in the presented in the instruments Cash collateral
Description liabilities balance sheet balance sheet collateral posted/(received)(1) Net amount
Repurchase agreements $ 606,607 $ — $ 606,607 $ 606,607 $ — $ 606,607
Total $ 606,607 $ — 8 606,607 $ 606,607 $ — $ 606,607

(1) Included in restricted cash on consolidated balance sheets.

Master netting agreements that the Company has entered into with its derivative and repurchase agreement counterparties allow for netting of the same
transaction, in the same currency, on the same date. Assets, liabilities, and collateral subject to master netting agreements as of June 30, 2024 and
December 31, 2023 are disclosed in the tables above. The Company does not present its derivative and repurchase agreements net on the consolidated
financial statements as it has elected gross presentation.
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9. CONSOLIDATED VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

The Company consolidates on its balance sheet two CLOs that are considered VIEs as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 ($ in thousands):

June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023
Mortgage loan receivables held for investment, net, at amortized cost $ 1,183,650 $ 1,327,722
Accrued interest receivable 8,106 9,394
Other assets 40,888 4,469
Total assets $ 1,232,644 $ 1,341,585
Debt obligations, net $ 951,716 $ 1,060,719
Accrued expenses 2,999 3,655
Total liabilities 954,715 1,064,274
Net equity in VIEs (eliminated in consolidation) 277,929 277,311
Total equity 277,929 277,311
Total liabilities and equity $ 1,232,644 $ 1,341,585

Refer to Note 6, Debt Obligations, Net - Collateralized Loan Obligations (“CLO”) Debt for further details.
10. EQUITY STRUCTURE AND ACCOUNTS
Stock Repurchases

On April 24, 2024, the board of directors authorized the repurchase of $ 75.0 million of the Company’s Class A common stock from time to time without
further approval. This authorization increased the remaining outstanding authorization per the July 27, 2022 authorization from $ 43.6 million to $ 75.0
million. Stock repurchases by the Company are generally made for cash in open market transactions at prevailing market prices but may also be made in
privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. The timing and amount of purchases are determined based upon prevailing market conditions, the
Company’s liquidity requirements, contractual restrictions and other factors. As of June 30, 2024, the Company has a remaining amount available for
repurchase of $ 74.8 million, which represents 5.2 % in the aggregate of its outstanding Class A common stock, based on the closing price of $ 11.29

per share on such date.

The following tables summarize the Company’s repurchase activity of its Class A common stock during the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 ($
in thousands):

Shares Amount(1)
Authorizations remaining as of December 31, 2023 $ 44,256
Additional authorizations (2) 31,391
Repurchases paid:
March 1, 2024 - March 31, 2024 60,000 (647)
May 1, 2024 - May 31, 2024 2,100 (23)
June 1, 2024 - June 30, 2024 17,590 (189)
Authorizations remaining as of June 30, 2024 $ 74,788
(1) Amount excludes commissions paid associated with share repurchases.
(2) On April 24, 2024, the Board authorized repurchases up to $ 75.0 million in aggregate.
Shares Amount(1)
Authorizations remaining as of December 31, 2022 $ 46,737
Repurchases paid:
March 1, 2023 - March 31, 2023 250,000 (2,285)
Authorizations remaining as of June 30, 2023 $ 44,452
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(1) Amount excludes commissions paid associated with share repurchases.
Dividends

The following table presents dividends declared (on a per share basis) of Class A common stock for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023:

Declaration Date Dividend per Share
March 15, 2024 $ 0.23
June 14, 2024 0.23
Total $ 0.46
March 15, 2023 $ 0.23
June 15, 2023 0.23
Total $ 0.46

Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The following table presents changes in accumulated other comprehensive income related to the cumulative difference between the fair market value
and the amortized cost basis of securities classified as available for sale for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 ($ in thousands):

Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) beginning of period $ (13,853) $ (21,009)
Gain (loss) on available for sale securities, net of tax 3,101 4,485
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) end of period $ (10,752) $ (16,524)

11. NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Ventures

As of June 30, 2024, the Company consolidates two ventures and in each, there are different noncontrolling investors, which own between 10.0 % - 25.0
% of such ventures. These ventures hold investments in a 40 -building student housing portfolio in Isla Vista, CA with a book value of $ 78.1 million, and
a single-tenant office building in Oakland County, Ml with a book value of $ 8.7 million. The Company makes distributions and allocates income from
these ventures to the noncontrolling interests in accordance with the terms of the respective governing agreements.

Sales

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023, there were no sales of assets with noncontrolling interests.
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Company’s net income (loss) and weighted average shares outstanding for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 consist of the

following:
Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
($ in thousands except share amounts) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Basic and Diluted Net income (loss) available for Class A common shareholders $ 32,349 $ 28,163 48,956 50,569
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 125,730,765 124,731,195 125,523,265 124,612,821
Diluted 125,839,500 124,827,596 125,679,937 124,742,506

The calculation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share amounts for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 consist of the

following:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
(In thousands except share and per share amounts) (1) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Basic Net Income (Loss) Per Share of Class A Common Stock
Numerator:

Net income (loss) attributable to Class A common shareholders $ 32,349 $ 28,163 48,956 50,569
Denominator:

Weighted average number of shares of Class A common stock outstanding 125,730,765 124,731,195 125,523,265 124,612,821
Basic net income (loss) per share of Class A common stock $ 0.26 $ 0.23 0.39 0.41
Diluted Net Income (Loss) Per Share of Class A Common Stock
Numerator:

Net income (loss) attributable to Class A common shareholders $ 32,349 $ 28,163 48,956 50,569
Diluted net income (loss) attributable to Class A common shareholders 32,349 28,163 48,956 50,569
Denominator:

Basic weighted average number of shares of Class A common stock

outstanding 125,730,765 124,731,195 125,523,265 124,612,821

Add - dilutive effect of:

Incremental shares of unvested Class A restricted stock(1) 108,735 96,401 156,672 129,685

Diluted weighted average number of shares of Class A common stock

outstanding (2)(3) 125,839,500 124,827,596 125,679,937 124,742,506
Diluted net income (loss) per share of Class A common stock $ 026 $ 0.23 0.39 0.41

(1)  The Company applies the treasury stock method.

(2) There were 461,207 and 419,937 anti-dilutive shares for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively.
(3) There were 628,240 and 509,276 anti-dilutive shares for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively.
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13. STOCK-BASED AND OTHER COMPENSATION PLANS
Summary of Stock and Shares Unvested/Outstanding

The following table summarizes the impact on the consolidated statements of income of the various stock-based compensation plans and other
compensation plans ($ in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2024 2023 2024 2023
Stock-based compensation expense $ 3,117 $ 3,046 $ 13,415 $ 12,170
Total Stock-Based Compensation Expense $ 3,117 $ 3,046 $ 13415 $ 12,170
A summary of the grants is presented below:
Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2024 2023 2024 2023
Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted
Number Average Average Average Average
of Fair Value Number Fair Value Number Fair Value Number Fair Value
Shares/Options Per Share of Shares Per Share of Shares Per Share of Shares Per Share
Grants - Class A Common
Stock = $ = — % — 1,855,541 $ 10.70 1,417,561 $ 11.58

The table below presents the number of unvested shares of Class A common stock and outstanding stock options at June 30, 2024 and changes during
2024 of the Class A common stock and stock options of Ladder Capital Corp:

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair

Restricted Stock Value Stock Options
Nonvested/Outstanding at December 31, 2023 2,197,963 $ 12.37 623,788
Granted 1,855,541 10.70 —
Vested (1,893,138) 10.91 —
Forfeited (9,960) 10.94 —
Nonvested/Outstanding at June 30, 2024 2,150,406 $ 12.22 623,788
Exercisable at June 30, 2024 (1) 623,788

(1) The weighted average exercise price of outstanding options is $ 14.84 at June 30, 2024.

At June 30, 2024, there was $ 15.8 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to certain share-based compensation awards that is expected
to be recognized over a period of up to 32.1 months, with a weighted average remaining vesting period of 25.1 months.

2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan

In connection with the IPO Transactions, the 2014 Ladder Capital Corp Omnibus Incentive Equity Plan (the “2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan”) was
adopted by the board of directors on February 11, 2014, and provided certain members of management, employees and directors of the Company or its
affiliates with additional incentives including grants of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, other stock-based awards and other cash-
based awards.

2023 Omnibus Incentive Plan

At the Company’s Annual Meeting held on June 6, 2023, the stockholders of the Company approved the Ladder Capital Corp 2023 Omnibus Incentive
Plan (the “2023 Omnibus Incentive Plan”), effective as of the date of the Annual Meeting (the “Effective Date”). The 2023 Omnibus Incentive Plan
superseded and replaced the 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan in its entirety as of the Effective Date.

The aggregate number of shares of the Company’s Class A common stock that will be available for issuance to employees, non-employee directors and

consultants of the Company and its affiliates under the 2023 Omnibus Incentive Plan will not exceed
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3,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, plus an additional amount, not to exceed 10,253,867 shares of Class A common stock, remaining available
for new awards under the 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan as of the Effective Date, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the 2023 Omnibus
Incentive Plan.

Annual Incentive Awards Granted in 2024 with respect to 2023 Performance

For 2023 performance, certain employees received stock-based incentive equity in February 2024. Restricted stock subject to time-based vesting criteria
will vest in three installments on February 18 of each of 2025, 2026 and 2027, subject to continued employment on the applicable vesting dates. The
Company has elected to recognize the compensation expense related to the time-based vesting of the annual restricted stock awards for the entire
award on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award. Restricted stock subject to performance criteria is eligible to vest in
three equal installments upon the compensation committee’s confirmation that the Company achieves a pre-tax return on average equity, based on
distributable earnings divided by the Company’s average shareholders’ equity, equal to or greater than 8 % for such year (the “Performance Target”) for
the years ended December 31, 2024, 2025 and 2026, respectively. If the Company misses the Performance Target during either the first or second
calendar year but meets the Performance Target for a subsequent year during the three-year performance period and the Company’s return on equity
for such subsequent year and any years for which it missed its Performance Target equals or exceeds the compounded pre-tax return on average equity
of 8 % based on distributable earnings divided by the Company’s average shareholders’ equity, the performance-vesting restricted stock which failed to
vest because the Company previously missed its Performance Target will vest subject to continued employment on the applicable vesting date (the
“Catch-Up Provision”). Approximately 2/3 of all the shares subject to attainment of the Performance Target are also subject to the Catch-Up Provision, as
the Catch-Up Provision is not available for the missed performance during the third performance year and has the effect of requiring the Company to
achieve an average 8 % return over the full three-year performance plan in order to be effective. Accruals of compensation cost for an award with a
performance condition shall be based on the probable outcome of that performance condition. Therefore, compensation cost shall be accrued if it is
probable that the performance condition will be achieved and shall not be accrued if it is not probable that the performance condition will be achieved.
The probability of meeting the performance outcome is assessed quarterly.

On February 18, 2024, in connection with 2023 performance, annual stock awards were granted to management employees (each, a “Management
Grantee”), with an aggregate grant date fair value of $ 10 million, which represents 937,560 shares of Class A common stock. The grant to Mr. Harris
and approximately half of the grants to each of Ms. McCormack and Mr. Perelman were unrestricted. The other half of incentive equity granted to each of
Ms. McCormack and Mr. Perelman is restricted stock subject to attainment of the Performance Target for the applicable years and is also subject to the
Catch-Up Provision described above. For the grants to Mr. Miceli and Ms. Porcella (a total of 127,275 shares with an aggregate fair value of $ 1.4
million), approximately half of the awards are subject to time-based vesting criteria and the remaining half are subject to attainment of the Performance
Target for the applicable years.

On February 18, 2024, in connection with 2023 performance, annual stock awards were granted to certain non-management employees (“Non-
Management Grantees”) with an aggregate grant date fair value of $ 9.4 million, which represents 882,436 shares of Class A common stock. Of these
awards, 22,939 shares were unrestricted, 418,285 shares are subject to time-based vesting criteria and the remaining 441,212 shares are subject to the
attainment of the Performance Target, including the Catch-Up Provision, for the applicable years.

Other 2024 Restricted Stock Awards

On February 18, 2024, certain members of the board of directors received annual restricted stock awards with a grant date fair value of $ 0.4 million,

representing 35,545 shares of restricted Class A common stock, which will vest in full on the first anniversary of the date of grant, subject to continued
service on the board of directors. Compensation expense related to the time-based vesting criteria of the award shall be recognized on a straight-line

basis over the one-year vesting period.

Annual Incentive Awards Granted in 2023 with respect to 2022 Performance

For 2022 performance, certain employees received stock-based incentive equity in February 2023. Restricted stock subject to time-based vesting criteria
will vest in three installments on February 18 of each of 2024, 2025 and 2026, subject to continued employment on the applicable vesting dates. The
Company has elected to recognize the compensation expense related to the time-based vesting of the annual restricted stock awards for the entire
award on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award. Restricted stock subject to performance criteria is eligible to vest in
three equal installments upon the compensation committee’s confirmation that the Company achieves a pre-tax return on average equity, based on
distributable earnings divided by the Company’s average shareholders’ equity, equal to or greater than 8 % for such year (the
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“Performance Target”) for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2024 and 2025, respectively. If the Company misses the Performance Target during
either the first or second calendar year but meets the Performance Target for a subsequent year during the three-year performance period and the
Company'’s return on equity for such subsequent year and any years for which it missed its Performance Target equals or exceeds the compounded pre-
tax return on average equity of 8 % based on distributable earnings divided by the Company’s average shareholders’ equity, the performance-vesting
restricted stock which failed to vest because the Company previously missed its Performance Target will vest subject to continued employment on the
applicable vesting date (the “Catch-Up Provision”). Approximately 2/3 of all the shares subject to attainment of the Performance Target are also subject to
the Catch-Up Provision, as the Catch-Up Provision is not available for the missed performance during the third performance year and has the effect of
requiring the Company to achieve an average 8 % return over the full three-year performance plan in order to be effective. Accruals of compensation
cost for an award with a performance condition shall be based on the probable outcome of that performance condition. Therefore, compensation cost
shall be accrued if it is probable that the performance condition will be achieved and shall not be accrued if it is not probable that the performance
condition will be achieved. The probability of meeting the performance outcome is assessed quarterly.

On February 18, 2023, in connection with 2022 performance, annual stock awards were granted to management employees (each, a “Management
Grantee”), with an aggregate grant date fair value of $ 8.5 million, which represents 733,607 shares of Class A common stock. The grant to Mr. Harris
and approximately half of the grants to each of Ms. McCormack and Mr. Perelman were unrestricted. The other half of incentive equity granted to each of
Ms. McCormack and Mr. Perelman is restricted stock subject to attainment of the Performance Target for the applicable years and is also subject to the
Catch-Up Provision described above. For the grants to Mr. Miceli and Ms. Porcella (a total of 101,344 shares with an aggregate fair value of $ 1.2
million), approximately half of the awards are subject to time-based vesting criteria and the remaining half are subject to attainment of the Performance
Target for the applicable years.

On February 18, 2023, in connection with 2022 performance, annual stock awards were granted to certain non-management employees (“Non-
Management Grantees”) with an aggregate grant date fair value of $ 7.5 million, which represents 651,429 shares of Class A common stock. Of these
awards, 19,558 shares were unrestricted, 306,162 shares are subject to time-based vesting criteria and the remaining 325,709 shares are subject to the
attainment of the Performance Target, including the Catch-Up Provision, for the applicable years.

Other 2023 Restricted Stock Awards

On February 18, 2023, certain members of the board of directors received annual restricted stock awards with a grant date fair value of $ 0.4 million,

representing 32,525 shares of restricted Class A common stock, which will vest in full on the first anniversary of the date of grant, subject to continued
service on the board of directors. Compensation expense related to the time-based vesting criteria of the award shall be recognized on a straight-line

basis over the one-year vesting period.

Change in Control

Upon a change in control (as defined in the respective award agreements), restricted stock awards to Mr. Miceli, Ms. McCormack, Mr. Perelman, Ms.
Porcella (for her February 18, 2024 award), and one Non-Management Grantee will become fully vested if: (1) such Grantee continues to be employed
through the closing of the change in control; or (2) after the signing of definitive documentation related to the change in control, but prior to its closing,
such Grantee’s employment is terminated without cause or due to death or disability or the Grantee resigns for Good Reason, as defined in each
Grantee’s employment agreement. The compensation committee retains the right, in its sole discretion, to provide for the accelerated vesting (in whole or
in part) of the restricted stock awards granted.

In the event a Non-Management Grantee (except for the one grantee mentioned above and including Ms. Porcella, in regards to her awards granted
prior to February 18, 2024), is terminated by the Company without cause within six months of certain changes in control, all unvested time shares shall
vest on the termination date and all unvested performance shares shall remain outstanding and be eligible to vest (or be forfeited) in accordance with the
performance conditions.
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14. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value is based upon internal models, using market quotations, broker quotations, counterparty quotations or pricing services quotations, which
provide valuation estimates based upon reasonable market order indications and are subject to significant variability based on market conditions, such as
interest rates, credit spreads and market liquidity. The fair value of the mortgage loan receivables held for sale is based upon a securitization model
utilizing market data from recent securitization spreads and pricing.

Fair Value Summary Table

The carrying values and estimated fair values of the Company’s financial instruments, which are both reported at fair value on a recurring basis (as
indicated) or amortized cost/par, at June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 are as follows ($ in thousands):

June 30, 2024
Weighted Average
Amortized
Principal Cost Basis/Purchase Yield Remaining
Amount Price Fair Value Fair Value Method % Maturity/Duration (years)
Assets:
CMBS(1) $ 487,661 $ 486,829 $ 475,881 Internal model 6.91 % 213
CMBS interest-only(1) 834,955 (2) 4,774 4,935 Internal model 7.16 % 0.94
GNMA interest-only(3) 35,865 (2) 179 187 Internal model 9.44 % 3.26
Agency securities(1) 17 16 16 Internal model 2.74 % 0.82
Equity securities(3) N/A 160 110 Observable market prices N/A N/A
Mortgage loan receivables held for investment, net,
at amortized cost(4) 2,545,030 2,539,323 2,535,928 Discounted Cash Flow(5) 9.48 % 0.60
Mortgage loan receivables held for sale 31,350 26,414 26,414 Internal model, third-party inputs(6) 4.57 % 7.69
Nonhedge derivatives(1)(10) 107,100 757 757 Counterparty quotations N/A 0.20
Liabilities:
Repurchase agreements - short-term 82,422 82,422 82,422 Cost plus Accrued Interest (7) 7.93 % 0.46
Repurchase agreements - long-term 271,120 271,120 271,120 Discounted Cash Flow(8) 7.33 % 1.28
Mortgage loan financing 506,656 509,421 495,370 Discounted Cash Flow 6.05 % 3.19
CLO debt 952,220 951,716 951,716 Discounted Cash Flow(8) 7.09 % 141
Senior unsecured notes 1,573,614 1,563,420 1,491,369 Internal model, third-party inputs 4.66 % 3.27

(1) Measured at fair value on a recurring basis with the net unrealized gains or losses recorded as a component of other comprehensive income (loss) in equity.

(2) Represents notional outstanding balance of underlying collateral.

(3) Measured at fair value on a recurring basis with the net unrealized gains or losses recorded in current period earnings.

(4) Balance does not include impact of allowance for current expected credit losses of $ 54.1 million at June 30, 2024.

(5) Fair value for floating rate mortgage loan receivables, held for investment is estimated to approximate the outstanding face amount given the short interest rate reset risk ( 30
days) and no significant change in credit spreads. Fair value for fixed rate mortgage loan receivables, held for investment is measured using a discounted cash flow model.

(6) Fair value for mortgage loan receivables, held for sale is measured using a hypothetical securitization model utilizing market data from recent securitization spreads and
pricing.

(7)  For repurchase agreements - short term, the value approximates the cost plus accrued interest.

(8) For repurchase agreements - long term and CLO debt, the carrying value approximates the fair value discounting the expected cash flows at current market rates. If the
collateral is determined to be impaired, the related financing would be revalued accordingly. There are no impairments on any positions.

(9) The outstanding face amount of the nonhedge derivatives represents the notional amount of the underlying contracts.
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December 31, 2023

Weighted Average

Amortized

Principal Cost Basis/Purchase Yield Remaining

Amount Price Fair Value Fair Value Method % Maturity/Duration (years)
Assets:
CMBS(1) $ 439,679 $ 439,052 $ 424,890 Internal model 6.83 % 2.00
CMBS interest-only(1) 876,555 (2) 6,453 6,569 Internal model 6.61 % 1.07
GNMA interest-only(3) 37,053 (2) 214 213 Internal model 6.12 % 3.60
Agency securities(1) 22 22 21 Internal model 2.70 % 1.05
U.S. Treasury securities(1) 54,031 53,648 53,716 Internal model 5.41 % 0.07
Equity securities(3) N/A 160 144 Observable market prices N/A N/A
Mortgage loan receivables held for investment, net,
at amortized cost(4) 3,164,226 3,155,089 3,150,843 Discounted Cash Flow(5) 9.65 % 0.68
Mortgage loan receivables held for sale 31,350 26,868 26,868 Internal model, third-party inputs(6) 457 % 8.19
FHLB stock(7) 5,175 5,175 5,175 @) 8.25 % N/A
Nonhedge derivatives(1)(10) 194,900 1,454 1,454 Counterparty quotations N/A 0.48
Liabilities:
Repurchase agreements - short-term 337,631 337,631 337,631 Cost plus Accrued Interest (8) 7.57 % 0.48
Repurchase agreements - long-term 268,976 268,976 268,976 Discounted Cash Flow(9) 7.35 % 1.74
Mortgage loan financing 437,384 437,759 425,992 Discounted Cash Flow 5.87 % 2.64
CLO debt 1,062,777 1,060,719 1,060,719 Discounted Cash Flow(9) 7.08 % 1.89
Borrowings from the FHLB 115,000 115,000 115,000 Discounted Cash Flow 5.82 % 0.57
Senior unsecured notes 1,575,614 1,563,861 1,475,303 Internal model, third-party inputs 466 % 3.77

(1) Measured at fair value on a recurring basis with the net unrealized gains or losses recorded as a component of other comprehensive income (loss) in equity.
(2) Represents notional outstanding balance of underlying collateral.
(3) Measured at fair value on a recurring basis with the net unrealized gains or losses recorded in current period earnings.

(4) Balance does not include impact of allowance for current expected credit losses of $ 43.2 million at December 31, 2023.

(5) Fair value for floating rate mortgage loan receivables, held for investment is estimated to approximate the outstanding face amount given the short interest rate reset risk ( 30

days) and no significant change in credit spreads. Fair value for fixed rate mortgage loan receivables, held for investment is measured using a discounted cash flow model.
(6) Fair value for mortgage loan receivables, held for sale is measured using a hypothetical securitization model utilizing market data from recent securitization spreads and

pricing.

(7)  Fair value of the FHLB stock approximates outstanding face amount as the Company’s captive insurance subsidiary is restricted from trading the stock and can only put the

stock back to the FHLB, at the FHLB's discretion, at par.

(8) For repurchase agreements - short term, the value approximates the cost plus accrued interest.

(9) For repurchase agreements - long term and CLO debt, the carrying value approximates the fair value discounting the expected cash flows at current market rates. If the
collateral is determined to be impaired, the related financing would be revalued accordingly. There are no impairments on any positions.

(10) The outstanding face amount of the nonhedge derivatives represents the notional amount of the underlying contracts.
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The following table summarizes the Company'’s financial assets and liabilities, which are both reported at fair value on a recurring basis (as indicated) or

amortized cost/par, at June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 ($ in thousands):

June 30, 2024

Financial Instruments Reported at Fair Value on Principal Fair Value
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition Amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
CMBS(1) 478,449 — 466,961 $ — 3 466,961
CMBS interest-only(1) 826,697 (2) — 4,676 — 4,676
GNMA interest-only(3) 35,865 (2) — 187 — 187
Agency securities(1) 17 — 16 — 16
Equity securities N/A 110 — — 110
Nonhedge derivatives(4) 107,100 — 757 — 757
110 472,597 $ — 8 472,707
Financial Instruments Not Reported at Fair Value on Principal Fair Value
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition Amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Mortgage loan receivable held for investment, net, at amortized
cost:
Mortgage loan receivables held for investment, net, at
amortized cost(5) 2,545,030 = —  $ 2,535,928 $ 2,535,928
Mortgage loan receivable held for sale(6) 31,350 — — 26,414 26,414
CMBS(7) 9,212 — 8,920 — 8,920
CMBS interest-only(7) 8,258 — 259 — 259
— 9,179 $ 2,562,342 $ 2,571,521
Liabilities:
Repurchase agreements - short-term 82,422 — 82,422 % — $ 82,422
Repurchase agreements - long-term 271,120 — 271,120 — 271,120
Mortgage loan financing 506,656 — — 495,370 495,370
CLO debt 952,220 — 951,716 — 951,716
Senior unsecured notes 1,573,614 — — 1,491,369 1,491,369
— 1,305,258 $ 1,986,739 $ 3,291,997

1) Measured at fair value on a recurring basis with the net unrealized gains or losses recorded as a component of other comprehensive income (loss) in equity.

) Represents notional outstanding balance of underlying collateral.

®3) Measured at fair value on a recurring basis with the net unrealized gains or losses recorded in current period earnings.

4) Measured at fair value on a recurring basis with the net unrealized gains or losses recorded in current period earnings. The outstanding face amount of the nonhedge

derivatives represents the notional amount of the underlying contracts.

(5) Balance does not include impact of allowance for current expected credit losses of $ 54.1 million at June 30, 2024.

(6) A lower of cost or market adjustment was recorded as of June 30, 2024.

@) Restricted securities which are designated as risk retention securities under the Dodd-Frank Act and are therefore subject to transfer restrictions over the term of the

securitization trust, are classified as held-to-maturity and reported at amortized cost.
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December 31, 2023

Financial Instruments Reported at Fair Value on Principal Fair Value
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition Amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
CMBS(1) $ 430,398 $ —  $ 415935 $ — 3 415,935
CMBS interest-only(1) 868,228 (2) — 6,260 — 6,260
GNMA interest-only(3) 37,053 (2) — 213 — 213
Agency securities(1) 22 — 21 — 21
U.S. Treasury securities 54,031 53,716 — — 53,716
Equity securities N/A 144 — — 144
Nonhedge derivatives(4) 194,900 — 1,454 — 1,454
$ 53,860 $ 423,883 $ — 8 477,743
Financial Instruments Not Reported at Fair Value on Principal Fair Value
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition Amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Mortgage loan receivable held for investment, net, at amortized
cost:
Mortgage loan receivables held for investment, net, at
amortized cost(5) $ 3,164,226 $ — 8 — 8 3,150,843 $ 3,150,843
Mortgage loan receivable held for sale(6) 31,350 — — 26,868 26,868
CMBS(7) 9,281 — 8,955 — 8,955
CMBS interest-only(7) 8,327 — 309 — 309
FHLB stock 5,175 — — 5,175 5,175
$ — 8 9,264 $ 3,182,886 $ 3,192,150
Liabilities:
Repurchase agreements - short-term $ 337,631 $ — % 337631 $ — 8 337,631
Repurchase agreements - long-term 268,976 — 268,976 — 268,976
Mortgage loan financing 437,384 — — 425,992 425,992
CLO debt 1,062,777 — 1,060,719 — 1,060,719
Borrowings from the FHLB 115,000 — — 115,000 115,000
Senior unsecured notes 1,575,614 — — 1,475,303 1,475,303
$ — 8 1,667,326 $ 2,016,295 $ 3,683,621

1) Measured at fair value on a recurring basis with the net unrealized gains or losses recorded as a component of other comprehensive income (loss) in equity.

2) Represents notional outstanding balance of underlying collateral.

?3) Measured at fair value on a recurring basis with the net unrealized gains or losses recorded in current period earnings.

4) Measured at fair value on a recurring basis with the net unrealized gains or losses recorded in current period earnings. The outstanding face amount of the nonhedge
derivatives represents the notional amount of the underlying contracts.

(5) Balance does not include impact of allowance for current expected credit losses of $ 43.2 million at December 31, 2023.

(6) A lower of cost or market adjustment was recorded as of December 31, 2023.

()] Restricted securities which are designated as risk retention securities under the Dodd-Frank Act and are therefore subject to transfer restrictions over the term of the

securitization trust, are classified as held-to-maturity and reported at amortized cost.

The Company did not have any Level 3 financial instruments as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

Nonrecurring Fair Values

The Company measures fair value of certain assets on a honrecurring basis when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of
the assets may be impaired. Adjustments to fair value generally result from the application of lower of amortized cost or fair value accounting for assets
held for sale or write-down of assets value due to impairment. Refer to Note 3, Mortgage Loan Receivables and Note 5, Real Estate and Related Lease

Intangibles, Net, for disclosure of Level 3 inputs for certain assets measured on a nonrecurring basis.

15. INCOME TAXES
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The Company elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”),
commencing with the taxable year ended December 31, 2015 (the REIT Election”). As such, the Company’s income is generally not subject to U.S.
federal, state and local corporate income taxes other than as described below.

Certain of the Company'’s subsidiaries have elected to be treated as TRSs. TRSs permit the Company to participate in certain activities from which
REITs are generally precluded, as long as these activities meet specific criteria, are conducted within the parameters of certain limitations established by
the Code, and are conducted in entities which elect to be treated as taxable subsidiaries under the Code. To the extent these criteria are met, the
Company will continue to maintain its qualification as a REIT. The Company’s TRSs are not consolidated for U.S. federal income tax purposes, but are
instead taxed as corporations. For financial reporting purposes, a provision for current and deferred taxes is established for the portion of earnings
recognized by the Company with respect to its interest in TRSs. Current income tax expense (benefit) was $ 0.2 million and $ 0.8 million for the three
and six months ended June 30, 2024 and $( 0.1 ) million and $ 0.8 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023.

As of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company'’s net deferred tax assets (liabilities) were $( 3.0 ) million and are included in other assets
(other liabilities) in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. Deferred income tax expense (benefit) included within the provision for income taxes
was $( 1.3 ) million and $ 0.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023, respectively. Deferred income tax expense (benefit)
included within the provision for income taxes was $ 0.1 million and $ 0.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023,
respectively. The Company’s net deferred tax liability is comprised of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities. The Company believes it is more
likely than not that the deferred tax assets (aside from the exception noted below) will be realized in the future. Realization of the deferred tax assets is
dependent upon our generation of sufficient taxable income in future years in appropriate tax jurisdictions to obtain benefit from the reversal of temporary
differences. The amount of deferred tax assets considered realizable is subject to adjustment in future periods if estimates of future taxable income
change.

As of June 30, 2024, the Company had a deferred tax asset of $ 2.8 million relating to capital losses which it may only use to offset capital gains. These
tax attributes will begin to expire if unused by December 31, 2024. As the realization of these assets are not more likely than not to be realized before
their expiration, the Company provided a full valuation allowance against this deferred tax asset. Additionally, as of June 30, 2024, the Company had $
1.8 million of deferred tax assets related to Code Section 163(j) interest expense limitation. As the Company is uncertain if this asset will be realized in
the future, the Company provided a full valuation allowance against this deferred tax asset.

The Company'’s tax returns are subject to audit by taxing authorities. Generally, as of June 30, 2024, the tax years 2020-2023 remain open to
examination by the major taxing jurisdictions in which the Company is subject to taxes. One of the Company’s subsidiary entities is currently under an
IRS audit for tax year 2020 and also under audit in New York City for tax years 2014-2020. The Company does not expect these audits to result in any
material changes to the Company’s financial position or performance. In April 2023, a settlement was reached for $ 2.6 million with New York City
pertaining to an audit of the Company for the years 2012-2013 resulting in an incremental income tax expense of $ 0.2 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2023. The Company does not expect tax expense to have an impact on either short, or long-term liquidity or capital needs.

As of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company did not have any unrecognized tax benefits. As of June 30, 2024, the Company has not
recognized a significant amount of any interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions. In addition, the Company does not believe that it has any
tax positions for which it is reasonably possible that it will be required to record a significant liability for unrecognized tax benefits within the next twelve
months.

Under U.S. GAAP, a tax benefit related to an income tax position may be recognized when it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained
upon examination by the tax authorities based on the technical merits of the position. In addition, the Company does not believe that it has any tax
positions for which it is reasonably possible that it will be required to record a significant liability for unrecognized tax benefits within the next twelve
months.

16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company has no material related party relationships to disclose.
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17. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Leases

As of June 30, 2024, the Company had a $ 15.7 million lease liability and a $ 14.2 million right-of-use asset on its consolidated balance sheet recorded
within other liabilities and other assets, respectively. The right-of-use lease asset relates to the Company’s operating lease of office space. Right-of-use
lease assets initially equal the lease liability. The Company recognized $ 0.5 million and $ 1.1 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024

and June 30, 2023, respectively, in operating expenses in its consolidated statements of income relating to operating leases.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases as of June 30, 2024 are as follows ($ in thousands):

2024 (last six months) $ 1,104
2025 2,207
2026 2,219
2027 2,232
2028 2,306
Thereafter 11,038
Total undiscounted cash flows 21,106
Present value discount (1) (5,381)
Lease liabilities (2) $ 15,725

(1) Lease liabilities were discounted at the Company's weighted average incremental borrowing rate for similar collateral, which was estimated to be
6.62 %. The remaining lease term is 9.1 years.
(2) The Company has a five-year extension option, which is not reflected in the total lease liability.

Unfunded Loan Commitments

As of June 30, 2024, the Company’s off-balance sheet arrangements consisted of $ 94.0 million of unfunded commitments on mortgage loan receivables
held for investment to provide additional first mortgage loan financing over the next three years at rates to be determined at the time of funding. 62 % of
these unfunded commitments would only be funded upon the occurrence of certain “good news” events, such as the owner concluding a lease
agreement with a major tenant in the building or reaching some pre-determined net operating income. As of December 31, 2023, the Company’s off-
balance sheet arrangements consisted of $ 204.0 million of unfunded commitments on mortgage loan receivables held for investment to provide
additional first mortgage loan financing.

Commitments are subject to the Company’s loan borrowers’ satisfaction of certain financial and nonfinancial covenants and may or may not be funded
depending on a variety of circumstances including timing, credit metric hurdles, and other nonfinancial events occurring. The Company carefully monitors
the progress of work at properties that serve as collateral underlying its commercial mortgage loans, including the progress of capital expenditures,
construction, leasing and business plans in light of current market conditions. These commitments are not reflected on the consolidated balance sheets.

Unsettled Trades
As of December 31, 2023, the Company had $ 44.8 million of U.S. Treasury securities traded and not yet settled on its consolidated balance sheets. The
U.S. Treasury securities are recorded within other assets, and the related payable is recorded within other liabilities. These balances relate to the

Company’s purchase of U.S. Treasury securities with maturities of less than three months, which will be recorded within cash and cash equivalents upon
settlement. The payable within other liabilities was paid during the six months ended June 30, 2024.
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18. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Company has determined that it has three reportable segments based on how the chief operating decision makers review and manage the business.
These reportable segments include loans, securities, and real estate. The loans segment includes mortgage loan receivables held for investment
(balance sheet loans) and mortgage loan receivables held for sale (conduit loans). The securities segment is composed of all of the Company’s activities
related to securities, which include investments in CMBS, U.S. Agency securities, corporate bonds, equity securities and U.S. Treasury securities. The
real estate segment includes net leased properties, other diversified real estate and investments in unconsolidated ventures. Corporate/other includes
cash and cash equivalents, senior unsecured notes, operating expenses, and unallocated items including any inter-segment eliminations necessary to

reconcile to consolidated Company totals.

The Company evaluates performance based on the following financial measures for each segment ($ in thousands):

Three months ended June 30, 2024
Net interest income
Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income (expense)
(Provision for) release of loan loss reserves

Net interest income (expense) after provision for (release of)
loan reserves

Other income (loss)
Real estate operating income
Net result from mortgage loan receivables held for sale (3)
Gain (loss) on real estate, net
Fee and other income
Net result from derivative transactions
Earnings (loss) from investment in unconsolidated ventures
Gain (loss) on extinguishment of debt
Total other income (loss)
Costs and expenses
Compensation and employee benefits
Operating expenses
Real estate operating expenses
Investment related expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Total costs and expenses

Income tax (expense) benefit

Segment profit (loss)

Total assets as of June 30, 2024

Company
Loans Securities Real Estate (1) Corporate/Other(2) Total
$ 63,811 $ 8,051 $ 73 % 16,581 $ 88,516
(25,992) (28) (8,271) (19,908) (54,199)
37,819 8,023 (8,198) (3,327) 34,317
(5,055) — — = (5,055)
32,764 8,023 (8,198) (3,327) 29,262
— — 26,133 — 26,133
1,223 — — (1,764) (541)
— — 12,543 — 12,543
2,191 8 1,325 114 3,638
(206) 9 36 778 617
— — 18 — 18
3,208 17 40,055 (872) 42,408
— — — (13,721) (13,721)
— — (5,178) (5,178)
— — (11,034) = (11,034)
(1,631) (46) (259) (352) (2,288)
_ — (8,304) (109) (8,413)
(1,631) (46) (19,597) (19,360) (40,634)
— — — 1,089 1,089
$ 34,341 $ 7,994 $ 12,260 $ (22,470) $ 32,125
$ 2,511,630 $ 481,109 $ 738,543 $ 1,316,905 $ 5,048,187
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Three months ended June 30, 2023
Net interest income
Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income (expense)

(Provision for) release of loan loss reserves

Net interest income (expense) after provision for (release of)

loan reserves

Other income (loss)
Real estate operating income
Net result from mortgage loan receivables held for sale
Fee and other income
Net result from derivative transactions
Earnings (loss) from investment in unconsolidated ventures
Gain (loss) on extinguishment of debt

Total other income (loss)
Costs and expenses
Compensation and employee benefits
Operating expenses
Real estate operating expenses
Investment related expenses
Depreciation and amortization

Total costs and expenses

Income tax (expense) benefit

Segment profit (loss)

Total assets as of December 31, 2023

Company
Loans Real Estate (1) Corporate/Other(2) Total
$ 88,134 $ $ 2 3 5868 $ 101,829
(30,907 ) (7,723) (22,248) (61,342)
57,227 (7,721) (16,380) 40,487
(6,881) = = (6,881)
50,346 (7,721) (16,380) 33,606
— 25,887 — 25,887
(296) — — (296)
3,163 — 160 3,240
2,784 691 — 4,149
— 217 — 217
— — 462 462
5,651 26,795 622 33,659
_ — (14,242) (14,242)
— — (4,987) (4,987)
— (9,766) — (9,766)
(1,787) (481) (345) (2,661)
— (7,363) (108) (7.471)
(1,787) (17,610) (19,682) (39,127)
— — (46) (46)
$ 54,210 $ 7,904 $ 1,464 $ (35,486) $ 28,092
$ 3,138,794 $ 485,533 $ 733,319 $ 1,155,031 $ 5,512,677
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Six months ended June 30, 2024
Net interest income
Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income (expense)
(Provision for) release of loan loss reserves

Net interest income (expense) after provision for (release of)
loan reserves

Other income (loss)
Real estate operating income
Net result from mortgage loan receivables held for sale (3)
Gain (loss) on real estate, net
Fee and other income
Net result from derivative transactions
Earnings (loss) from investment in unconsolidated ventures
Gain (loss) on extinguishment of debt
Total other income (loss)
Costs and expenses
Compensation and employee benefits
Operating expenses
Real estate operating expenses
Investment related expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Total costs and expenses

Income tax (expense) benefit

Segment profit (loss)

Total assets as of June 30, 2024

Company
Loans Securities Real Estate (1) Corporate/Other(2) Total
$ 137,434 % 15943 % 182 $ 30,869 $ 184,428
(55,442) (56) (16,621) (40,852) (112,971)
81,992 15,887 (16,439) (9,983) 71,457
(10,823) = = = (10,823)
71,169 15,887 (16,439) (9,983) 60,634
— — 50,019 — 50,019
2,166 — = (2,620) (454)
_ — 12,543 — 12,543
5,697 83 1,327 231 7,338
434 80 207 3,916 4,637
— — 3 — 3
— — — 177 177
8,297 163 64,099 1,704 74,263
— — — (34,510) (34,510)
_ _ (9,822) (9,822)
— — (20,180) — (20,180)
(3,220) (93) (352) (616) (4,281)
— — (16,496 ) (219) (16,715)
(3,220) (93) (37,028) (45,167) (85,508)
— — — (836) (836)
$ 76,246 $ 15,957 $ 10,632 $ (54,282) $ 48,553
$ 2,511,630 $ 481,109 $ 738,543 $ 1,316,905 $ 5,048,187
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Six months ended June 30, 2023
Net interest income
Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income (expense)

(Provision for) release of loan loss reserves

Net interest income (expense) after provision for (release of)

loan reserves

Other income (loss)
Real estate operating income
Net result from mortgage loan receivables held for sale
Fee and other income
Net result from derivative transactions
Earnings (loss) from investment in unconsolidated ventures
Gain (loss) on extinguishment of debt

Total other income (loss)
Costs and expenses
Compensation and employee benefits
Operating expenses
Real estate operating expenses
Investment related expenses
Depreciation and amortization

Total costs and expenses

Income tax (expense) benefit

Segment profit (loss)

Total assets as of December 31, 2023

Company
Loans Securities Real Estate (1) Corporate/Other(2) Total
179,008 $ 16,154 $ 4 % 10459 $ 205,625
(59,635) (3,097) (14,376) (44,984) (122,092)
119,373 13,057 (14,372) (34,525) 83,533
(11,617) — — — (11,617)
107,756 13,057 (14,372) (34,525) 71,916
— — 49,086 — 49,086
(490) = = = (490)
4,841 (269) 2 307 4,881
941 372 594 — 1,907
— — 434 — 434
— — — 9,679 9,679
5,292 103 50,116 9,986 65,497
— — — (36,326) (36,326)
_ — = (10,243) (10,243)
— — (19,615) — (19,615)
(2,755) (96) (575) (755) (4,181)
— — (14,788) (212) (15,000)
(2,755) (96) (34,978) (47,536) (85,365)
_ _ — (1,767) (1,767)
110,293 $ 13,064 $ 766 $ (73,842) $ 50,281
3,138,794 $ 485,533 $ 733,319 $ 1,155,031 $ 5,512,677

(1) Includes the Company'’s investment in unconsolidated ventures that held real estate of $ 20.0 million and $ 6.9 million as of June 30, 2024 and

December 31, 2023, respectively.

(2) Corporate/Other represents all corporate level and unallocated items including any inter-segment eliminations necessary to reconcile to
consolidated Company totals. This segment also includes the Company’s investment in FHLB stock of $ 5.2 million as of December 31, 2023, and
the Company’s senior unsecured notes of $ 1.6 billion at June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

(3) Includes $ 1.8 million and $ 2.6 million of realized gains from sales of conduit mortgage loans collateralized by net leased properties in the
Company’s real estate segment that eliminate in consolidation for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively.

19. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent to quarter end, the Company issued $ 500 million in aggregate principal amount of 7.00 % senior notes due 2031 (the “2031 Notes”). The
2031 Notes require interest payments semi-annually in cash in arrears, are unsecured, and are subject to an unencumbered assets to unsecured debt
covenant. The Company may redeem the 2031 Notes prior to their stated maturity, in whole or in part, at any time or from time to time, with required
notice and at a redemption price as specified in the indenture governing the 2031 Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date.
The board of directors has authorized the Company to repurchase any or all of the 2031 Notes from time to time without further approval.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and the related notes of Ladder Capital Corp included within this Quarterly Report and the Annual Report. This Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains forward-looking statements. See “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-
Looking Statements” within this Quarterly Report and “Risk Factors” within the Annual Report for a discussion of the uncertainties, risks and assumptions
associated with these statements. Actual results may differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements as a result of various
factors, including but not limited to, those in “Risk Factors” set forth within the Annual Report.

ERD

References to “Ladder,” the “Company,” and “we,” “our” and “us” refer to Ladder Capital Corp, a Delaware corporation incorporated in 2013, and its

consolidated subsidiaries.

Overview

Ladder is an internally-managed real estate investment trust (“REIT”) that is a leader in commercial real estate finance. We originate and invest in a
diverse portfolio of commercial real estate and real estate-related assets, focusing on senior secured assets. Our investment activities include: (i) our
primary business of originating senior first mortgage fixed and floating rate loans collateralized by commercial real estate with flexible loan structures; (ii)
owning and operating commercial real estate, including net leased commercial properties; and (iii) investing in investment grade securities secured by
first mortgage loans on commercial real estate. We believe that our in-house origination platform, ability to flexibly allocate capital among complementary
product lines, credit-centric underwriting approach, access to diversified financing sources, and experienced management team position us well to deliver
attractive returns on equity to our shareholders through economic and credit cycles.

Our businesses, including balance sheet lending, conduit lending, securities investments, and real estate investments, provide for a stable base of net
interest and rental income. We have originated $29.8 billion of commercial real estate loans from our inception in October 2008 through June 30, 2024.
During this timeframe, we also acquired $13.3 billion of predominantly investment grade-rated securities secured by first mortgage loans on commercial
real estate and $2.1 billion of selected net leased and other real estate assets.

As part of our commercial mortgage lending operations, we originate conduit loans, which are first mortgage loans on stabilized, income producing
commercial real estate properties that we intend to make available for sale in commercial mortgage-backed securities (“CMBS”) securitizations. From our
inception in October 2008 through June 30, 2024, we originated $16.9 billion of conduit loans, of which $16.9 billion were sold into 73 CMBS
securitizations, making us, by volume, we have been one of the largest non-bank contributors of loans to CMBS securitizations in the United States in
such period. Our sales of loans into securitizations are generally accounted for as true sales, not financings, and we generally retain no ongoing interest
in loans which we securitize unless we are required to do so as issuer pursuant to the risk retention requirements of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform
and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, as amended, (the “Dodd-Frank Act”). The securitization of conduit loans enables us to reinvest our equity capital
into new loan originations or allocate it to other investments.

We maintain a diversified and flexible financing strategy supporting our investment strategy and overall business operations, including the use of
unsecured corporate bonds, non-recourse, non-mark-to-market Collateralized Loan Obligations (“CLO") debt issuances and committed term financing
from leading financial institutions. Refer to “Our Financing Strategies” and “Liquidity and Capital Resources” for further information.

Ladder was founded in October 2008 and we completed our IPO in February 2014. We are led by a disciplined and highly aligned management team. As
of June 30, 2024, our management team and directors held interests in our Company comprising over 11% of our total equity. On average, our
management team members have 28 years of experience in the industry. Our management team includes Brian Harris, Chief Executive Officer; Pamela
McCormack, President; Paul J. Miceli, Chief Financial Officer; Robert Perelman, Head of Asset Management; and Kelly Porcella, Chief Administrative
Officer & General Counsel. Anthony V. Esposito, Chief Accounting Officer, is an additional officer of Ladder.

We continue to actively manage the liquidity and operations of the Company in light of market conditions, including the current interest rate environment,

and potential recessionary conditions. The Company has disclosed the impact of current market conditions on our business throughout this Quarterly
Report.
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Our Businesses

We invest primarily in loans, securities and other interests in U.S. commercial real estate, with a focus on senior secured assets. Our complementary
business segments are designed to provide us with the flexibility to opportunistically allocate capital in order to generate attractive risk-adjusted returns
under varying market conditions. The following chart summarizes our investment portfolio as of June 30, 2024 ($ in thousands):

$5.2B
CRE Loans Investment
2566 Assets +
Unrestricted

(50%)

(1) CRE equity asset amounts represent undepreciated asset values.

There are a number of factors that influence our operating results. Some of these factors include: (1) our competition; (2) market and economic
conditions, including inflation; (3) loan origination and repayment volume; (4) profitability of securitizations; (5) avoidance of credit losses; (6) availability of
debt and equity funding and the costs of that funding; (7) the net interest margin on our investments; (8) effectiveness of our hedging and other risk
management practices; (9) real estate transaction volumes; (10) occupancy rates; and (11) expense management. Refer the heading “Results of
Operations.”

Loans

Balance Sheet First Mortgage Loans. We originate and invest in balance sheet first mortgage loans secured by commercial real estate properties that are
typically undergoing transition, including lease-up, sell-out, and renovation or repositioning. These mortgage loans are structured to fit the needs and
business plans of the property owners, and generally have Term SOFR-based floating rates and terms (including extension options) ranging from one to
five years. Our loans are directly originated by an internal team that has longstanding and strong relationships with borrowers and mortgage brokers
throughout the United States. We follow a rigorous investment process, which begins with an initial due diligence review; continues through a
comprehensive legal and underwriting process incorporating multiple internal and external checks and balances; and culminates in approval or
disapproval of each prospective investment by our Investment Committee. Balance sheet first mortgage loans in excess of $50.0 million also require the
approval of our board of directors’ Risk and Underwriting Committee.

We generally seek to hold our balance sheet first mortgage loans for investment although we also maintain the flexibility to contribute such loans into a
CLO or similar structure, sell participation interests or “b-notes” in our mortgage loans or sell such mortgage loans as whole loans. Our balance sheet first
mortgage loans may be refinanced by us into a new conduit first mortgage loan upon property stabilization. As of June 30, 2024, we held a portfolio of 79
balance sheet first mortgage loans with an aggregate book value of $2.5 billion. Based on the loan balances and the “as-is” third-party Financial
Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989 (“FIRREA”) appraised values at origination, the weighted average loan-to-value ratio of this
portfolio was 64.4% at June 30, 2024.

Other Commercial Real Estate-Related Loans. We selectively invest in note purchase financings, subordinated debt, mezzanine debt and other
structured finance products related to commercial real estate that are generally held for investment. As of
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June 30, 2024, we held a portfolio of 6 mezzanine loans with an aggregate book value of $16.3 million. Based on the loan balance and the “as-is” third-
party FIRREA appraised values at origination, the weighted average loan-to-value ratio of the portfolio was 74.4% at June 30, 2024.

Conduit First Mortgage Loans. We also originate conduit loans, which are first mortgage loans that are secured by cash-flowing commercial real estate
and are available for sale to securitizations. These first mortgage loans are typically structured with fixed interest rates and generally have five- to ten-
year terms. Conduit first mortgage loans are originated, underwritten, approved and funded using the same comprehensive legal and underwriting
approach, process and personnel used to originate our balance sheet first mortgage loans. Conduit first mortgage loans in excess of $50.0 million also
require approval of our board of directors’ Risk and Underwriting Committee. We held one conduit loan with an aggregate carrying value of $26.4 million
at June 30, 2024.

Although our primary intent is to sell our conduit first mortgage loans to CMBS trusts, we generally seek to maintain the flexibility to keep them on our
balance sheet, sell participation interests or “B-notes” in such loans or sell the loans as whole loans. The Company holds these conduit loans in its
taxable REIT subsidiary (“TRS”) upon origination. As of June 30, 2024, we held one conduit first mortgage loan that was available for contribution into
securitizations. Based on the loan balance and the “as-is” third-party FIRREA appraised values at origination, loan-to-value ratio of this loan was 59.4% at
June 30, 2024.

The following charts set forth our total outstanding balance sheet first mortgage loans, other commercial real estate-related loans, and conduit first
mortgage loans as of June 30, 2024, and a breakdown of our loan portfolio by loan size and geographic location and asset type of the underlying real
estate by loan balance.

Loan Type Loan Size

Conduit First

Mort;
Balance OIE26S

Sheet
First

CRE-Related
Loans
$16M

7%

Geographic Location Asset Type

Northeast

Various
2%

1% MHP
49 Industrial
5%
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Real Estate

Net Leased Commercial Real Estate Properties. As of June 30, 2024, we owned 155 single tenant net leased properties with an undepreciated book
value of $635.1 million. These properties are fully leased on a net basis where the tenant is generally responsible for payment of real estate taxes,
property, building and general liability insurance and property and building maintenance expenses. As of June 30, 2024, our net leased properties
comprised a total of 3.7 million square feet, 100% leased with an average age since construction of 19.5 years and a weighted average remaining lease
term of 8.3 years. Commercial real estate investments in excess of $20.0 million require the approval of our board of directors’ Risk and Underwriting
Committee. The majority of the tenants in our net leased properties are necessity-based businesses. During the three months ended June 30, 2024, we
collected 100% of rent on these properties.

Diversified Commercial Real Estate Properties. As of June 30, 2024, we owned 56 diversified commercial real estate properties throughout the U.S with
an undepreciated book value of $311.5 million. During the three months ended June 30, 2024, we collected 98% of rent on these properties.

The following charts summarize the composition of our real estate investments as of June 30, 2024 ($ in millions):

Real Estate Undepreciated Book Value Real Estate Geography Real Estate Property Type

Northeast
20% South
Various 25%
1%

West

Dollar Store
Multifamily 15%
22%

13%

Retail
9%

Securities

The Company invests in primarily AAA-rated real estate securities, typically front pay securities, with relatively short duration and significant
subordination. We invest primarily in CMBS, including CLOs, secured by first mortgage loans on commercial real estate. These investments provide a
stable and attractive base of net interest income and help us manage our liquidity and hyper-amortization features included in many of these securities
positions help mitigate potential credit losses in the event of adverse market conditions. We have significant in-house expertise in the evaluation and
trading of these securities, due in part to our experience in originating and underwriting mortgage loans that comprise assets within CMBS trusts, as well
as our experience in structuring CMBS transactions.

As of June 30, 2024, the estimated fair value of our portfolio of CMBS investments totaled $480.8 million in 77 CUSIPs ($6.2 million average investment
per CUSIP). Included in the $480.8 million of CMBS securities are $9.2 million of CMBS securities designated as risk retention securities under the Dodd-
Frank Act, which are subject to transfer restrictions over the term of the securitization trust. The following chart summarizes our securities investments by
market value, 99.5% of which were rated investment grade by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group, Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or Fitch Ratings Inc. as
of June 30, 2024:
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AA [ Aa
5%

AlA
4%
- BBB / Baa [ other
5%

In the future, we may invest in CMBS securities or other securities that are unrated. As of June 30, 2024, our CMBS investments had a weighted average
duration of 2.1 years. The commercial real estate collateral underlying our CMBS investment portfolio is located throughout the United States. As of

June 30, 2024, by property count and market value, respectively, 62.2% and 59.7% of the collateral underlying our CMBS investment portfolio was
distributed throughout the top 25 metropolitan statistical areas (“MSAs”) in the United States, with 4.6% and 17.9%, by property count and market value,
respectively, of the collateral located in the New York-Newark-Jersey City MSA, and the concentrations in each of the remaining top 24 MSAs ranging
from 0.1% to 7.0% by property count and 0.1% to 5.8% by market value.

AAA-rated CMBS or U.S. Agency securities investments in excess of $76.0 million and all other investment grade CMBS or U.S. Agency securities
investments in excess of $51.0 million, each in any single class of any single issuance, require the approval of our board of directors’ Risk and
Underwriting Committee. The Risk and Underwriting Committee also must approve any investments in non-rated or sub-investment grade CMBS or U.S.
Agency securities in any single class of any single issuance in excess of the lesser of (x) $21.0 million and (y) 10% of the total net asset value of the
respective Ladder subsidiary or other entity for which Ladder has authority to make investment decisions.

Other Investments

Unconsolidated Ventures. From time to time we invest in real estate related ventures. As of June 30, 2024, the carrying value of our unconsolidated
ventures was $20.0 million.

United States Treasury Securities. We invest in short-term and long-term U.S. Treasury securities. Short-term U.S. Treasury securities are classified as
cash and cash equivalents on our consolidated balance sheet. As of June 30, 2024, we held $1.2 billion of U.S. Treasury securities classified as cash and
cash equivalents on our consolidated balance sheet.

Our Financing Strategies

Our financing strategies are critical to the success and growth of our business. We manage our financing to complement our asset composition and to
diversify our exposure across multiple capital markets and counterparties. In addition to cash flow from operations, we fund our operations and
investment strategy through a diverse array of funding sources, including:

¢ Unsecured corporate bonds

e CLO transactions

¢ Secured loan and securities repurchase facilities
* Non-recourse mortgage debt

* Revolving credit facility

e Loan sales and securitizations

¢ Unencumbered assets available for financing

e Equity
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From time to time, we may add financing counterparties that we believe will complement our business, although the agreements governing our
indebtedness may limit our ability and the ability of our present and future subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness. Our amended and restated
charter and by-laws do not impose any threshold limits on our ability to use leverage. Refer to our discussion below and “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations." under the heading “Liquidity and Capital Resources” and Note 6, Debt Obligations, Net, to our
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report, for additional information about our financing arrangements.

Unsecured Corporate Bonds

As of June 30, 2024, we had $1.6 billion of unsecured corporate bonds outstanding. These unsecured financings were comprised of $327.8 million in
aggregate principal amount of 5.25% senior notes due 2025 (the “2025 Notes”), $611.9 million in aggregate principal amount of 4.25% senior notes due
2027 (the “2027 Notes”) and $633.9 million in aggregate principal amount of 4.75% senior notes due 2029 (the “2029 Notes,” and collectively with the
2025 Notes and the 2027 Notes, the “Notes”).

Subsequent to quarter end, the Company issued $500 million in aggregate principal amount of 7.00% senior notes due 2031.

Due in large part to devoting such a large portion of the Company’s capital structure to equity and unsecured corporate bond debt, Ladder maintains a
$3.1 billion pool of unencumbered assets, comprised primarily of first mortgage loans and unrestricted cash as of June 30, 2024.

CLO Debt

As of June 30, 2024, the Company had $1.0 billion of matched term, non-mark-to-market and non-recourse CLO debt included in debt obligations on its
consolidated balance sheets.

On July 13, 2021, a consolidated subsidiary of the Company completed a privately-marketed CLO transaction, which generated $498.2 million of gross
proceeds to Ladder, financing $607.5 million of loans (“Contributed July 2021 Loans”) at an 82% advance rate on a matched term, non-mark-to-market
and non-recourse basis. A consolidated subsidiary of the Company retained an 18% subordinate and controlling interest in the CLO. The Company
retained control over major decisions made with respect to the administration of the Contributed July 2021 Loans, including broad discretion in managing
these loans, and has the ability to appoint the special servicer under the CLO.

On December 2, 2021, a consolidated subsidiary of the Company completed a privately-marketed CLO transaction, which generated $566.2 million of
gross proceeds to Ladder, financing $729.4 million of loans (“Contributed December 2021 Loans”) at a 77.6% advance rate on a matched term, non-
mark-to-market and non-recourse basis. A consolidated subsidiary of the Company retained an 15.6% subordinate and controlling interest in the CLO.
The Company also held two additional tranches as investments totaling 6.8% interest in the CLO. The Company retained control over major decisions
made with respect to the administration of the Contributed December 2021 Loans, including broad discretion in managing these loans, and has the ability
to appoint the special servicer under the CLO.

Committed Loan Financing Facilities

We are parties to multiple committed loan repurchase agreement facilities, totaling $1.2 billion of credit capacity. As of June 30, 2024, the Company had
$351.9 million of borrowings outstanding, with an additional $804.1 million of committed financing available. Assets pledged as collateral under these
facilities are generally limited to first mortgage whole mortgage loans, mezzanine loans and certain interests in such first mortgage and mezzanine loans.
Our repurchase facilities include covenants covering net worth requirements, minimum liquidity levels, and maximum debt/equity ratios.

We have the option to extend some of our existing facilities subject to a number of customary conditions. The lenders have sole discretion to include
collateral in these facilities and to determine the market value of the collateral on a daily basis, and, if the estimated market value of the included
collateral declines, the lenders have the right to require additional collateral or a full and/or partial repayment of the facilities (margin call) sufficient to
rebalance the facilities. Typically, the lender establishes a maximum percentage of the collateral asset’'s market value that can be borrowed. We often
borrow at a lower percentage of the collateral asset's value than the maximum, leaving us with excess borrowing capacity that can be drawn upon at a
later date and/or applied against future margin calls so that they can be satisfied on a cashless basis.
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Securities Repurchase Facilities

We are a party to multiple uncommitted master repurchase agreements with several counterparties to finance our investments in CMBS and U.S. Agency
securities. The securities that serve as collateral for these borrowings are typically AAA-rated CMBS with relatively short duration and significant
subordination. The lenders have sole discretion to determine the market value of the collateral on a daily basis, and, if the estimated market value of the
collateral declines, the lenders have the right to require additional cash collateral. If the estimated market value of the collateral subsequently increases,
we have the right to call back excess cash collateral.

Mortgage Loan Financing

We generally finance our real estate using long-term non-recourse mortgage financing. During the six months ended June 30, 2024, the Company
executed ten new term debt agreements to finance properties in its real estate portfolio with an aggregate balance outstanding debt balance of $68.9
million. Our mortgage loan financings have primarily fixed rates ranging from 4.39% to 9.03%, mature between 2024 and 2034 and total $509.4 million as
of June 30, 2024. These long-term non-recourse mortgages include net unamortized premiums of $4.1 million at June 30, 2024, representing proceeds
received upon financing greater than the contractual amounts due under the agreements. The premiums are being amortized over the remaining life of
the respective debt instruments using the effective interest method. We recorded $0.3 million of premium amortization, which decreased interest
expense, for the six months ended June 30, 2024. The loans are collateralized by real estate and related lease intangibles, net, of $500.1 million as of
June 30, 2024.

Revolving Credit Facility

The Company’s revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) provides for an aggregate maximum borrowing amount of $323.9 million, including
a $25.0 million sublimit for the issuance of letters of credit. The Revolving Credit Facility is available on a revolving basis to finance the Company'’s
working capital needs and for general corporate purposes. Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility incur interest at a fixed margin of 2.50% over
the index rate, with reductions in the fixed margin upon the achievement of investment grade credit ratings. As of June 30, 2024, the Company had no
outstanding borrowings on the Revolving Credit Facility, but still maintains the ability to draw $323.9 million.

The obligations under the Revolving Credit Facility are guaranteed by the Company and certain of its subsidiaries. The Revolving Credit Facility is
secured by a pledge of the shares of (or other ownership or equity interests in) certain subsidiaries to the extent the pledge is not restricted under
existing regulations, law or contractual obligations.

LCFH is subject to customary affirmative covenants and negative covenants, including limitations on the incurrence of additional debt, liens, restricted
payments, sales of assets and affiliate transactions under the Revolving Credit Facility. In addition, under the Revolving Credit Facility, LCFH is required
to comply with financial covenants relating to minimum net worth, maximum leverage, minimum liquidity, and minimum fixed charge coverage, consistent
with our other credit facilities.

Hedging Strategies

We may enter into interest rate and credit spread derivative contracts to mitigate our exposure to changes in interest rates and credit spreads. We
generally seek to hedge the interest rate risk on the financing of assets that have a duration longer than five years, including newly-originated conduit
first mortgage loans, securities in our CMBS portfolio if long enough in duration, and most of our U.S. Agency securities portfolio. We monitor our asset
profile and our hedge positions to manage our interest rate and credit spread exposures, and we seek to match fund our assets according to the liquidity
characteristics and expected holding periods of our assets.

Financial Covenants

We generally seek to maintain a debt-to-equity ratio of approximately 3.0:1.0 or below. We expect this ratio to fluctuate during the course of a fiscal year
due to the normal course of business. This ratio may also fluctuate as a result of our conduit lending operations, in which we generally securitize our
inventory of conduit loans at intervals, and also because of changes in our asset mix, due in part to such securitizations. We generally seek to match fund
our assets according to their liquidity characteristics and expected hold period. We believe that the defensive positioning of our predominantly senior
secured assets and our financing strategy has allowed us to maintain financial flexibility to capitalize on an attractive range of market opportunities as
they have arisen.
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We and our subsidiaries may incur substantial additional debt in the future. However, we are subject to certain restrictions on our ability to incur additional
debt in the indentures governing the Notes (the “Indentures”) and our other debt agreements. Under the Indentures, we may not incur certain types of
indebtedness unless our consolidated non-funding debt to equity ratio (as defined in the Indentures) is less than or equal to 1.75:1.00 or if the
unencumbered assets of the Company and its subsidiaries is less than 120% of their unsecured indebtedness, although our subsidiaries are permitted to
incur indebtedness where recourse is limited to the assets and/or the general credit of such subsidiary.

Our borrowings under certain financing agreements and our committed repurchase facilities are subject to maximum consolidated leverage ratio limits
(either a fixed ratio ranging from 3.5:1.0 to 4.0:1.0, or a maximum ratio based on our asset composition at the time of determination), minimum net worth
requirements (ranging from $400.0 million to $871.4 million), maximum reductions in net worth over stated time periods, minimum liquidity levels (typically
$30.0 million of cash or a higher standard that often allows for the inclusion of different percentages of liquid securities in the determination of compliance
with the requirement), and a fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.25x, and, in the instance of one lender, an interest coverage ratio of 1.50x, in each case, if
certain liquidity thresholds are not satisfied. Leverage ratio limits exclude CLO financing for purposes of this covenant calculation. These restrictions,
which would permit us to incur substantial additional debt, are subject to significant qualifications and exceptions.

Further, certain of our financing arrangements and loans on our real property are secured by the assets of the Company, including pledges of the equity
of certain subsidiaries or the assets of certain subsidiaries. From time to time, certain of these financing arrangements and loans may prohibit certain of
our subsidiaries from paying dividends to the Company, from making distributions on such subsidiary’s capital stock, from repaying to the Company any
loans or advances to such subsidiary from the Company or from transferring any of such subsidiary’s property or other assets to the Company or other
subsidiaries of the Company.

We are in compliance with all covenants as described in this Quarterly Report as of June 30, 2024.
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Results of Operations

A discussion regarding our results of operations for the three months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2024 is
presented below.

Three months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2024

The following table sets forth information regarding our consolidated results of operations ($ in thousands):
Three Months Ended

June 30,2024 March 31, 2024 Difference

Net interest income

Interest income $ 88,516 $ 95912 $ (7,396)
Interest expense 54,199 58,771 (4,572)
Net interest income (expense) 34,317 37,141 (2,824)
Provision for (release of) loan loss reserves, net 5,055 5,768 (713)
Net interest income (expense) after provision for (release of) loan loss reserves 29,262 31,373 (2,111)

Other income (loss)

Real estate operating income 26,133 23,887 2,246
Net result from mortgage loan receivables held for sale (541) 87 (628)
Gain (loss) on real estate, net 12,543 — 12,543
Fee and other income 3,638 3,700 (62)
Net result from derivative transactions 617 4,019 (3,402)
Earnings (loss) from investment in unconsolidated ventures 18 (15) 33
Gain on extinguishment of debt — 177 a77)

Total other income (loss) 42,408 31,855 10,553

Costs and expenses

Compensation and employee benefits 13,721 20,789 (7,068)
Operating expenses 5,178 4,643 535
Real estate operating expenses 11,034 9,146 1,888
Investment related expenses 2,288 1,993 295
Depreciation and amortization 8,413 8,302 111
Total costs and expenses 40,634 44,873 (4,239)
Income (loss) before taxes 31,036 18,355 12,681
Income tax expense (benefit) (1,089) 1,925 (3,014)
Net income (loss) $ 32,125 $ 16,430 $ 15,695

Investment Overview

Activity for the three months ended June 30, 2024 included fundings of $20.9 million and paydowns of $255.2 million contributing to a $258.6 million
decrease of commercial mortgage loans. Activity for the three months ended June 30, 2024 included securities purchases of $81.7 million, sales of $5.8
million and $60.0 million of amortization and paydowns, which contributed to a net increase in our securities portfolio of $14.3 million. We acquired $27.2
million in real estate via foreclosure. In addition, we purchased $1.8 billion of short-term U.S. Treasury securities and received $1.8 billion from
redemptions of short-term U.S. Treasury securities during the three months ended June 30, 2024.

Activity for the three months ended March 31, 2024 included net paydowns $357.1 million of commercial mortgage loans. Activity for the three months
ended March 31, 2024 included securities purchases of $70.6 million, sales of $4.8 million and $88.4 million of amortization and paydowns, which
contributed to a net decrease in our securities portfolio of $19.0 million. We acquired $14.1 million in real estate via foreclosure. In addition, we purchased
$2.0 billion of short-term U.S. Treasury securities and received $1.9 billion from redemptions of short-term U.S. Treasury securities during the three
months ended March 31, 2024.
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Net Interest Income

The $7.4 million decrease in interest income was primarily attributable to a reduction in our outstanding loan balances as a result of net paydowns. For
the three months ended June 30, 2024, the amortized cost of loan investments averaged $2.6 billion and the amortized cost of securities investments
averaged $452.3 million. For the three months ended March 31, 2024, the amortized cost of loan investments averaged $3.0 billion and the amortized
cost of securities investments averaged $458.7 million. There was a $430.5 million decrease in average loan investments and a $6.4 million decrease in
average securities investments.

The $4.6 million decrease in interest expense is primarily a result of a reduction in our loan repurchase facilities and repurchases of our Notes.

The decrease in net interest income before provision for loan losses of $2.8 million as explained above is primarily driven by a reduction in interest
income as a result of net payoffs.

As of June 30, 2024 and March 31, 2024, the weighted average yield on our mortgage loan receivables was 9.4%. As of June 30, 2024 and March 31,
2024, the weighted average interest rate on borrowings against our mortgage loan receivables was 7.2%. As of June 30, 2024, we had outstanding
borrowings secured by our mortgage loan receivables equal to 51.9% of the carrying value of our mortgage loan receivables, compared to 55.3% as of
March 31, 2024.

As of June 30, 2024 and March 31, 2024, the weighted average yield on our securities was 6.9% and 6.8%, respectively. As of June 30, 2024 and
March 31, 2024, the weighted average interest rate on borrowings against our securities was 6.7% and 5.75%, respectively. As of June 30, 2024, we had
outstanding borrowings secured by our securities equal to 0.3% of the carrying value of our securities, compared to 19.6% as of March 31, 2024.

Our real estate is comprised of non-interest bearing assets; however, interest incurred on mortgage financing collateralized by such real estate is
included in interest expense. As of June 30, 2024 and March 31, 2024, the weighted average interest rate on mortgage borrowings against our real estate
was 6.0%. As of June 30, 2024, we had outstanding borrowings secured by our real estate equal to 70.9% of the carrying value of our real estate,
compared to 65.3% as of March 31, 2024.

Provision for (release of) Loan Loss Reserves

The provision for the three months ended June 30, 2024 of $5.1 million was primarily due to adverse changes in macroeconomic conditions affecting
commercial real estate, partially offset by a decrease in the size of our balance sheet first mortgage loan portfolio as a result of repayments.

The provision for the three months ended March 31, 2024 of $5.8 million was primarily due to adverse changes in macroeconomic conditions affecting
commercial real estate, partially offset by a decrease in the size of our balance sheet first mortgage loan portfolio as a result of repayments. For additional
information, refer to Note 3, Mortgage Loan Receivables, in the consolidated financial statements.

Real Estate Operating Income

The increase of $2.2 million in real estate operating income was primarily the result of increases in tenant related income and the timing of the acquisition
of properties via foreclosure during the three months ended June 30, 2024 and March 31, 2024.

Net Result from Mortgage Loan Receivables Held for Sale

Net result from mortgage loan receivables held for sale, includes all loan sales, whether by securitization, whole loan sales or other means. Net result
from mortgage loan receivables held for sale also includes unrealized losses on loans related to lower of cost or market adjustments. During the three
months ended June 30, 2024, we recorded a lower of cost or market adjustment of $(0.5) million on our conduit loan. During the three months ended
March 31, 2024, recorded a lower of cost or market adjustment reversal of $0.1 million. Income from sales of loans, net is subject to market conditions
impacting timing, size and pricing and as such may vary significantly quarter to quarter.
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Gain (Loss) on Real Estate, net

The increase of $12.5 million of gain on real estate, net during the three months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the three months ended March 31,
2024 was primarily the result of sales of two multifamily portfolios, one retail portfolio and one office property during the the three months ended June 30,
2024 compared to no sales during the three months ended March 31, 2024.

Fee and Other Income

We generate fee income on the loans we originate and in which we invest, and dividend income on our FHLB stock. The $0.1 million decrease in fee and
other income was primarily due to the timing of loan payoffs for the three months ended June 30, 2024 as compared to the three months ended March 31,
2024.

Net Result from Derivative Transactions

Net result from derivative transactions of $0.6 million was comprised of a realized gain of $0.5 million and an unrealized gain of $0.1 million for the three
months ended June 30, 2024. Net result from derivative transactions of $4.0 million was comprised of a realized gain of $4.8 million and an unrealized
loss of $0.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024. The hedge positions primarily relate to fixed rate conduit loans and securities
investments. The derivative positions that generated these results were a combination of five and ten year U.S. treasury rate futures that we employed in
an effort to hedge the interest rate risk primarily on the financing of our fixed rate assets and the net interest income we earn against the impact of
changes in interest rates. The gain during three months ended June 30, 2024 was primarily related to movement in interest rates during the three months
ended June 30, 2024. The total net result from derivative transactions is comprised of hedging interest expense, realized gains/losses related to hedge
terminations and unrealized gains/losses related to changes in the fair value of asset hedges.

Gain (Loss) on Extinguishment of Debt

During the three months ended June 30, 2024, there was no gain or loss on extinguishment of debt.

During the three months ended March 31, 2024, there was $0.2 million of gain on extinguishment of debt as the Company retired $2.0 million of principal
of the 2029 Notes for a repurchase price of $1.8 million, recognizing a $0.2 million net gain on extinguishment of debt after recognizing $21 thousand of
unamortized debt issuance costs associated with the retired debt.

Compensation and Employee Benefits

Compensation and employee benefits are comprised primarily of salaries, bonuses, stock-based compensation and other employee benefits. The
decrease of $7.1 million in compensation expense was primarily attributable to the granting of fully vested annual stock-based compensation during the
three months ended March 31, 2024, whereas there was no equity based compensation granted during the three months ended June 30, 2024.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses are primarily composed of professional fees, lease expense and technology expenses. The increase of $0.5 million during the three
months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2024 was primarily related to an increase in professional fees.

Real Estate Operating Expenses

The increase of $1.9 million in real estate operating expenses during the three months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the three months ended
March 31, 2024 was primarily the result of the timing of the acquisition of three properties via foreclosure during the three months ended June 30, 2024
and March 31, 2024.

Investment Related Expenses

Investment related expenses are comprised primarily of custodian fees, financing costs, servicing fees related to loans, and other deal related expenses.

The increase of $0.3 million during the three months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2024 was primarily
attributable to an increase in deal related expenses.
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Depreciation and Amortization

The $0.1 million increase during the three months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2024 in depreciation and
amortization is primarily attributable to the timing of the acquisition of properties via foreclosure during the three months ended June 30, 2024 and
March 31, 2024.

Income Tax (Benefit) Expense

Most of our consolidated income tax provision related to the business units held in our TRSs. The decrease in expense during the three months ended

June 30, 2024 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2024 is primarily a result of changes in our income in our TRSs.
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Results of Operations

A discussion regarding our results of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2023 is presented
below.

Six months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2023

The following table sets forth information regarding our consolidated results of operations ($ in thousands):
Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 Difference

Net interest income
Interest income $ 184,428 $ 205,625 $ (21,197)
Interest expense 112,971 122,092 (9,121)
Net interest income (expense) 71,457 83,533 (12,076)
Provision for (release of) loan loss reserves, net 10,823 11,617 (794)
Net interest income (expense) after provision for (release of) loan loss reserves 60,634 71,916 (11,282)

Other income (loss)

Real estate operating income 50,019 49,086 933
Net result from mortgage loan receivables held for sale (454) (490) 36
Gain (loss) on real estate, net 12,543 — 12,543
Fee and other income 7,338 4,881 2,457
Net result from derivative transactions 4,637 1,907 2,730
Earnings (loss) from investment in unconsolidated ventures 3 434 (431)
Gain on extinguishment of debt 177 9,679 (9,502)
Total other income (loss) 74,263 65,497 8,766

Costs and expenses
Compensation and employee benefits 34,510 36,326 (1,816)
Operating expenses 9,822 10,243 (421)
Real estate operating expenses 20,180 19,615 565
Investment related expenses 4,281 4,181 100
Depreciation and amortization 16,715 15,000 1,715
Total costs and expenses 85,508 85,365 143
Income (loss) before taxes 49,389 52,048 (2,659)
Income tax expense (benefit) 836 1,767 (931)
Net income (loss) $ 48,553 $ 50,281 $ (1,728)

Investment Overview

Activity for the six months ended June 30, 2024 included fundings of $69.6 million and paydowns of $650.6 million contributing to a $615.8 million
decrease of commercial mortgage loans. Activity for the six months ended June 30, 2024 included securities purchases of $152.3 million, sales of $10.6
million and $148.3 million of amortization and paydowns, which contributed to a net decrease in our securities portfolio of $4.6 million. We acquired $40.9
million in real estate via foreclosure. In addition, we purchased $3.8 billion of short-term U.S. Treasury securities during the six months ended June 30,
2024, of which $3.7 billion matured during the six months ended June 30, 2024.

Activity for the six months ended June 30, 2023 included originating and funding $44.2 million in principal value of commercial mortgage loans, which was
offset by $440.5 million of principal repayments. Activity for the six months ended June 30, 2023 included securities purchases of $17.9 million, sales of
$14.2 million and $135.7 million of amortization and paydowns, which partially contributed to a net decrease in our securities portfolio of $129.3 million
during the six months ended June 30, 2023. In addition, we purchased $2.1 billion of short-term U.S. Treasury securities during the six months ended
June 30, 2023, of which $1.5 billion matured during the six months ended June 30, 2023.
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Net Interest Income

The $21.2 million decrease in interest income was primarily attributable net payoffs within our loan portfolio partially offset by an increase in income from
our cash and cash equivalent U.S. Treasuries. There was a $(0.9) billion decrease in average loan investments from $3.8 billion for the six months
ended June 30, 2023 to $2.9 billion for the six months ended June 30, 2024. There was a $(62.4) million decrease in average securities investments from
$518.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023 to $455.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024.

The $9.1 million decrease in interest expense is primarily related to lower outstanding balances on our securities and loan repurchase facilities and the
payoff of our FHLB borrowings as well as a reduction in expense as a result of redemptions of our Notes.

As of June 30, 2024, the weighted average yield on our mortgage loan receivables was 9.4%, compared to 9.5% as of June 30, 2023. The weighted
average Yield increased as a result of securities purchase activity with higher rates. As of June 30, 2024, the weighted average interest rate on
borrowings against our mortgage loan receivables was 7.2%, compared to 7.2% as of June 30, 2023. The decrease in the rate on borrowings against our
mortgage loan receivables from June 30, 2023 to June 30, 2024 was primarily due to the increase in prevailing interest rates. As of June 30, 2024, we
had outstanding borrowings secured by our mortgage loan receivables equal to 51.9% of the carrying value of our mortgage loan receivables, compared
to 49.3% as of June 30, 2023.

As of June 30, 2024, the weighted average yield on our securities was 6.9%, compared to 6.2% as of June 30, 2023. The weighted average yield
increased as a result of increases in the prevailing interest rates. As of June 30, 2024, the weighted average interest rate on borrowings against our
securities was 6.7%, compared to 5.4% as of June 30, 2023. The increase in the rate on borrowings against our securities from June 30, 2023 to June 30,
2024 was primarily due to higher prevailing market borrowing rates as of June 30, 2024 compared to June 30, 2023. As of June 30, 2024, we had
outstanding borrowings secured by our securities equal to 0.3% of the carrying value of our real estate securities, compared to 39.5% as of June 30,
2023.

Our real estate is comprised of non-interest bearing assets; however, interest incurred on mortgage financing collateralized by such real estate is
included in interest expense. As of June 30, 2024, the weighted average interest rate on mortgage borrowings against our real estate assets was 6.0%,
compared to 5.7% as of June 30, 2023. As of June 30, 2024, we had outstanding borrowings secured by our real estate equal to 70.9% of the carrying
value of our real estate, compared to 68.3% as of June 30, 2023.

Provision for (release of) Loan Loss Reserves

The provision for the six months ended June 30, 2024 of $10.8 million represents an increase in the general reserve of loans held for investment. The
increase in the provision associated with the general reserve during the six months ended June 30, 2024 was primarily due to adverse changes in
macroeconomic conditions affecting commercial real estate, partially offset by a decrease in the size of our balance sheet first mortgage loans as a result
of repayments.

The provision for the six months ended June 30, 2023 was $11.6 million. The increase in provision associated with the general reserve during the six
months ended June 30, 2023 is primarily due to adverse changes in macroeconomic conditions affecting commercial real estate.

For additional information, refer to “Allowance for Credit Losses and Non-Accrual Status” in Note 3, Mortgage Loan Receivables, to the consolidated
financial statements.

Real Estate Operating Income

The increase of $0.9 million in real estate operating income was primarily attributable to operating income earned on seven properties acquired via
foreclosure between June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2024 for which there was no operating income during the six months ended June 30, 2023, offset by the
sale of one property.

Net Result from Mortgage Loan Receivables Held for Sale

Net result from mortgage loan receivables held for sale includes unrealized losses on loans held for sale related to lower of cost or market adjustments
and realized gains and losses from the sale of loans. During the six months ended June 30, 2024, we recorded $(0.5) million of unrealized losses on

loans related to lower of cost or market adjustments on our conduit loan. During the six months ended June 30, 2023, we did not sell any conduit loans
and recorded $0.5 million of unrealized losses on loans

64



Table of Contents

related to lower of cost or market adjustments on our conduit loans. Income from sales of loans, net is subject to market conditions impacting timing, size
and pricing and as such may vary significantly quarter to quarter.

Gain (Loss) on Real Estate, net

The increase of $12.5 million of gain on real estate, net during the six months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2023
was primarily the result of the sales of two multifamily portfolios, one retail portfolio and one office property during the the six months ended June 30,
2024 compared to no sales during the six months ended June 30, 2023.

Fee and Other Income

We generate fee income on the loans we originate and in which we invest, and dividend income on our FHLB stock. The $2.5 million increase in fee and
other income was primarily due to the timing of loan payoffs for the six months ended June 30, 2024 as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2023.

Net Result from Derivative Transactions

Net result from derivative transactions of $4.6 million was comprised of a realized gain of $5.3 million and an unrealized loss of $0.7 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2024. Net result from derivative transactions of $1.9 million was comprised of a realized gain of $1.9 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2023. The hedge positions primarily relate to fixed rate conduit loans and securities investments. The derivative positions that generated
these results were a combination of five and ten year U.S. treasury rate futures that we employed in an effort to hedge the interest rate risk primarily on
the financing of our fixed rate assets and the net interest income we earn against the impact of changes in interest rates. The net gain in 2024 was
primarily related to increases in interest rates during the six months ended June 30, 2024. The total net result from derivative transactions is comprised of
hedging interest expense, realized gains/losses related to hedge terminations and unrealized gains/losses related to changes in the fair value of asset
hedges.

Gain on Extinguishment of Debt

Gain on extinguishment of debt totaled $0.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024. During the six months ended June 30, 2024, the Company
retired: $2.0 million of principal of the 2029 Notes for a repurchase price of $1.8 million, recognizing a $0.2 million net gain on extinguishment of debt
after recognizing $21 thousand of unamortized debt issuance costs associated with the retired debt.

Gain on extinguishment of debt totaled $9.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023. During the six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company
retired: (1) $16.2 million of principal of the 2025 Notes for a repurchase price of $14.8 million, recognizing a $1.3 million net gain on extinguishment of
debt after recognizing $(72) thousand of unamortized debt issuance costs associated with the retired debt; (2) $38.4 million of principal of the 2027 Notes
for a repurchase price of $31.4 million, recognizing a $6.7 million net gain on extinguishment of debt after recognizing $(303) thousand of unamortized
debt issuance costs associated with the retired debt; and (3) $7.3 million of principal of the 2029 Notes for a repurchase price of $5.5 million, recognizing
a $1.6 million net gain on extinguishment of debt after recognizing $(89) thousand of unamortized debt issuance costs associated with the retired debt.

Compensation and Employee Benefits

Compensation and employee benefits are comprised primarily of salaries, bonuses, stock-based compensation and other employee benefits. The
decrease of $1.8 million in compensation expense is primarily due to a decrease in bonus compensation expense for the six months ended June 30,
2024 as compared six months ended June 30, 2023.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses are primarily comprised of professional fees, lease expense and technology expenses. The decrease during the six months ended
June 30, 2024 as compared to June 30, 2023 of $0.4 million was primarily related to a decrease in professional fees.
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Real Estate Operating Expenses

The increase of $0.6 million from six months ended June 30, 2024 to June 30, 2023 was primarily due to operating expenses from seven properties that
were acquired via foreclosure between June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2024, for which there was no operating expense during the six months ended
June 30, 2023.

Investment Related Expenses

Investment related expenses are comprised primarily of custodian fees, financing costs, servicing fees related to loans and other loan related expenses.
The increase during the six months ended June 30, 2024 as compared to June 30, 2023 of $0.1 million was primarily attributable to an increase in loan
related expenses.

Depreciation and Amortization

The $1.7 million increase during the six months ended June 30, 2024 as compared to June 30, 2023 in depreciation and amortization is primarily
attributable to the timing of acquisitions of property via foreclosure that occurred after June 30, 2023.

Income Tax (Benefit) Expense

Most of our consolidated income tax provision related to the business units held in our TRSs. The decrease in expense of $0.9 million during the six
months ended June 30, 2024 as compared to June 30, 2023 is primarily a result of changes in income generated by our TRSs.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The management of our liquidity and capital diversity and allocation strategies is critical to the success and growth of our business. We manage our
sources of liquidity to complement our asset composition and to diversify our exposure across multiple capital markets and counterparties.

We require substantial amounts of capital to support our business. The management team, in consultation with our board of directors, establishes our
overall liquidity and capital allocation strategies. A key objective of those strategies is to support the execution of our business strategy while maintaining
sufficient ongoing liquidity throughout the business cycle to service our financial obligations as they become due. When making funding and capital
allocation decisions, members of our senior management consider: business performance; the availability of, and costs and benefits associated with,
different funding sources; current and expected capital markets and general economic conditions; our asset composition and capital structure; and our
targeted liquidity profile and risks relating to our funding needs.

To ensure that Ladder can effectively address the funding needs of the Company on a timely basis, we maintain a diverse array of liquidity sources
including: (1) cash and cash equivalents; (2) cash generated from operations; (3) proceeds from the issuance of the unsecured bonds; (4) borrowings
under repurchase agreements; (5) principal repayments on investments including mortgage loans and securities; (6) borrowings under our Revolving
Credit Facility; (7) proceeds from securitizations and sales of loans; (8) proceeds from the sale of securities; (9) proceeds from the sale of real estate;
(10) proceeds from the issuance of CLO debt and other non-mark-to-market loan financing; and (11) proceeds from the issuance of equity capital. We
use these funding sources to meet our obligations on a timely basis and have the ability to use our significant unencumbered asset base to further
finance our business.

Our primary uses of liquidity are for: (1) the funding of loan, real estate-related and securities investments; (2) the repayment of short-term and long-term
borrowings and related interest; (3) the funding of our operating expenses; and (4) distributions to our equity investors to comply with the REIT distribution
requirements. We require short-term liquidity to fund loans that we originate and hold on our consolidated balance sheet pending sale, including through
whole loan sale, participation, or securitization. We generally require longer-term funding to finance the loans and real estate-related investments that we
hold for investment. We have historically used the aforementioned funding sources to meet the operating and investment needs as they have arisen and
have been able to do so by applying a rigorous approach to long and short-term cash and debt forecasting.

In addition, as a REIT, we are also required to make sufficient dividend payments to our shareholders in amounts at least sufficient to maintain our REIT
status. Under IRS guidance, we may elect to pay a portion of our dividends in stock, subject to a cash/stock election by our shareholders, to optimize our
level of capital retention. Accordingly, our cash requirement to pay dividends to maintain REIT status could be substantially reduced at the discretion of
the board of directors.

66



Table of Contents

Our principal debt financing sources include: (1) long-term senior unsecured notes in the form of corporate bonds; (2) CLO issuances; (3) committed
secured funding provided by banks and other lenders; (4) long term non-recourse mortgage financing; (5) uncommitted secured funding sources,
including asset repurchase agreements with a number of banks; and (6) unsecured Revolving Credit Facility.

In the future, we may also use other sources of financing to fund the acquisition of our assets, including credit facilities, warehouse facilities, repurchase
facilities and other secured and unsecured forms of borrowing. These financings may be collateralized or non-collateralized, may involve one or more
lenders and may accrue interest at either fixed or floating rates. We may also seek to raise further equity capital or issue debt securities in order to fund
our future investments.

Refer to “Financial Covenants” and “Our Financing Strategies” for further disclosure of our diverse financing sources and, for a summary of our financial
obligations, refer to the Contractual Obligations table below. All of our existing financial obligations due within the following year can be extended for one
or more additional years at our discretion, refinanced or repaid at maturity or are incurred in the normal course of business (i.e., interest payments/loan
funding obligations).

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

We held cash and cash equivalents of $1.2 billion and restricted cash of $11.9 million as of June 30, 2024. We held cash and cash equivalents of $1.0
billion and restricted cash of $15.4 million as of December 31, 2023.

Cash Flows

The following table provides a breakdown of the net change in our cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash ($ in thousands):

Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 25,031 $ 44,089
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 586,720 523,267
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (480,213) (353,024)
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 131,538 $ 214,332

Six months ended June 30, 2024

We experienced a net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of $131.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024, reflecting cash
provided by operating activities of $25.0 million, cash provided by investing activities of $586.7 million and cash used in financing activities of $(480.2)
million.

Net cash provided by operating activities of $25.0 million was primarily driven by net interest income and net increases in operating income on our real
estate portfolio.

Net cash provided by investing activities of $586.7 million was driven by $611.3 million of repayment from mortgage loan receivables, $147.9 million in
repayments on securities, and $10.6 million of proceeds from sale of securities, partially offset by $(152.3) million in purchases of securities and $(69.6)
million of origination of mortgage loans held for investment.

Net cash used in financing activities of $(480.2) million was primarily as a result of net repayments of borrowings of $(408.6) million, $(59.9) million of
dividend payments, $(8.9) million of shares acquired to satisfy minimum federal and state tax withholdings on restricted stock, $(0.9) million purchase of
treasury stock, and $(1.8) million in deferred financing cost.

Six months ended June 30, 2023

We experienced a net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of $214.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023, reflecting cash
provided by operating activities of $44.1 million, cash provided by investing activities of $523.3 million and cash used in financing activities of $(353.0)

million.

Net cash provided by operating activities of $44.1 million was primarily driven by net interest income and increases in net operating income on our real
estate portfolio.
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Net cash provided by investing activities of $523.3 million was driven by $433.7 million of repayment from mortgage loan receivables, $135.3 million in
repayments on securities, and $14.2 million of proceeds from sale of securities, partially offset by $(44.2) million of origination of mortgage loans held for
investment and $(17.9) million in purchases of securities.

Net cash used in financing activities of $(353.0) million was primarily as a result of net repayments of borrowings of $(281.7) million, $(59.0) million of
dividend payments, $(7.9) million of shares acquired to satisfy minimum federal and state tax withholdings on restricted stock, $(2.3) million purchase of
treasury stock, and $(1.7) million in deferred financing cost.

Unencumbered Assets

As of June 30, 2024, we held unencumbered cash of $1.2 billion, unencumbered loans of $0.9 billion, unencumbered securities of $471.6 million,
unencumbered real estate of $174.5 million and $358.4 million of other assets not encumbered by any portion of secured indebtedness. As of
December 31, 2023, we held unencumbered cash and cash equivalents of $1.0 billion, unencumbered loans of $1.1 billion, unencumbered securities of
$342.8 million, unencumbered real estate of $160.8 million and $394.2 million of other assets not encumbered by any portion of secured indebtedness.

Borrowings under various financing arrangements

Our financing strategies are critical to the success and growth of our business. We manage our leverage policies to complement our asset composition
and to diversify our exposure across multiple counterparties. Our borrowings under various financing arrangements as of June 30, 2024 are set forth in
the table below ($ in thousands):

June 30, 2024

Committed loan repurchase facilities $ 351,864
Uncommitted securities repurchase facilities 1,678
Total repurchase facilities 353,542
Mortgage loan financing(1) 509,421
CLO debt(2) 951,716
Senior unsecured notes(3) 1,563,420
Total debt obligations, net $ 3,378,099

(1) Presented net of unamortized debt issuance costs of $1.3 million and net of premiums of $4.1 million as of June 30, 2024.
(2) Presented net of unamortized debt issuance costs of $0.5 million as of June 30, 2024.
(3) Presented net of unamortized debt issuance costs of $10.2 million as of June 30, 2024.

The Company’s repurchase facilities include covenants covering minimum net worth requirements (ranging from $400.0 million to $871.4 million),
maximum reductions in net worth over stated time periods, minimum liquidity levels (typically $30.0 million of cash or a higher standard that often allows
for the inclusion of different percentages of liquid securities in the determination of compliance with the requirement), maximum leverage ratios
(calculated in various ways based on specified definitions of indebtedness and net worth) and a fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.25x, and, in the instance
of one lender, an interest coverage ratio of 1.50x, in each case, if certain liquidity thresholds are not satisfied. We were in compliance with all covenants
as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023. Further, certain of our financing arrangements and loans on our real property are secured by the assets of
the Company, including pledges of the equity of certain subsidiaries or the assets of certain subsidiaries. From time to time, certain of these financing
arrangements and loans may prohibit certain of our subsidiaries from paying dividends to the Company, from making distributions on such subsidiary’s
capital stock, from repaying to the Company any loans or advances to such subsidiary from the Company or from transferring any of such subsidiary’s
property or other assets to the Company or other subsidiaries of the Company.

Committed Loan Facilities

We are a party to multiple committed loan repurchase agreement facilities, totaling $1.2 billion of credit capacity as of June 30, 2024. As of June 30, 2024,
the Company had $351.9 million of borrowings outstanding, with an additional $804.1 million of committed financing available. As of December 31, 2023,
the Company had $605.0 million of borrowings outstanding, with an additional $637.0 million of committed financing available. Assets pledged as
collateral under these facilities are generally limited to whole mortgage loans collateralized by first liens on commercial real estate, mezzanine loans
collateralized by equity interests in entities that own commercial real estate, and certain interests in such first mortgage and mezzanine loans. Our
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repurchase facilities include covenants covering net worth requirements, minimum liquidity levels, and maximum debt/equity ratios. We believe we were
in compliance with all covenants as of June 30, 2024.

We have the option to extend some of our existing facilities subject to a number of customary conditions. The lenders have sole discretion with respect to
the inclusion of collateral in these facilities, to determine the market value of the collateral on a daily basis, and, if the estimated market value of the
included collateral declines, the lenders have the right to require additional collateral or a full and/or partial repayment of the facilities (margin call),
sufficient to rebalance the facilities. Typically, the facilities are established with stated guidelines regarding the maximum percentage of the collateral
asset’s market value that can be borrowed. We often borrow at a lower percentage of the collateral asset’s value than the maximum leaving us with
excess borrowing capacity that can be drawn upon at a later date and/or applied against future margin calls so that they can be satisfied on a cashless
basis.

Uncommitted Securities Facilities

We are a party to multiple master repurchase agreements with several counterparties to finance our investments in CMBS and U.S. Agency securities.
The securities that served as collateral for these borrowings are highly liquid and marketable assets that are typically of relatively short duration.

Revolving Credit Facility

The Company’s revolving credit facility (“Revolving Credit Facility”) provides for an aggregate maximum borrowing amount of $323.9 million, including a
$25.0 million sublimit for the issuance of letters of credit. The Revolving Credit Facility is available on a revolving basis to finance the Company’s working
capital needs and for general corporate purposes. Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility incur interest at a fixed margin of 2.50% over the index
rate, with reductions in the fixed margin upon the achievement of investment grade credit ratings. On January 25, 2024, the Company amended its
Revolving Credit Facility to extend the final maturity date to January 25, 2029. As of June 30, 2024, the Company had no outstanding borrowings on the
Revolving Credit Facility, but still maintains the ability to draw $323.9 million.

The obligations under the Revolving Credit Facility are guaranteed by the Company and certain of its subsidiaries. The Revolving Credit Facility is
secured by a pledge of the shares of (or other ownership or equity interests in) certain subsidiaries to the extent the pledge is not restricted under
existing regulations, law or contractual obligations.

The Company is subject to customary affirmative covenants and negative covenants, including limitations on the incurrence of additional debt, liens,
restricted payments, sales of assets and affiliate transactions. In addition, the Company is required to comply with financial covenants relating to
minimum net worth, maximum leverage, minimum liquidity, and minimum fixed charge coverage, consistent with our other credit facilities. The Company’s
ability to borrow is dependent on, among other things, compliance with the financial covenants. The Revolving Credit Facility contains customary events
of default, including non-payment of principal or interest, fees or other amounts, failure to perform or observe covenants, cross-default to other
indebtedness, the rendering of judgments against the Company or certain of our subsidiaries to pay certain amounts of money and certain events of
bankruptcy or insolvency.

Mortgage Loan Financing

The Company typically finances its real estate investments with long-term, non-recourse mortgage financing. These mortgage loans have carrying
amounts of $509.4 million and $437.8 million, net of unamortized premiums of $4.1 million and $1.8 million as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023,
respectively, representing proceeds received upon financing greater than the contractual amounts due under these agreements. The premiums are being
amortized over the remaining life of the respective debt instruments using the effective interest method. The Company recorded $0.3 million of premium
amortization, which decreased interest expense for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023. These non-recourse debt agreements provide for
secured financing at rates ranging from 4.39% to 9.03%, and, as of June 30, 2024, have anticipated maturity dates between 2024 and 2034, with an
average term of 3.8 years. The mortgage loans are collateralized by real estate and related lease intangibles, net, of $500.1 million and $474.7 million as
of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, the Company executed ten new term debt
agreements to finance properties in its real estate portfolio with an aggregate outstanding debt balance of $68.9 million. During the three and six months
ended June 30, 2023, the Company did not execute any term debt agreements.
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Collateralized Loan Obligations (“CLO”) Debt

On July 13, 2021, a consolidated subsidiary of the Company completed a privately-marketed CLO transaction, which generated $498.2 million of gross
proceeds to Ladder, financing $607.5 million of loans (“Contributed July 2021 Loans”) at an 82% advance rate on a matched term, non-mark-to-market
and non-recourse basis. A consolidated subsidiary of the Company retained an 18% subordinate and controlling interest in the CLO. The Company
retained consent rights over major decisions with respect to the servicing of the Contributed July 2021 Loans, including the right to appoint and replace
the special servicer under the CLO. The CLO is a VIE and the Company was the primary beneficiary and, therefore, consolidated the VIE. Refer to Note
9, Consolidated Variable Interest Entities for additional information.

On December 2, 2021, a consolidated subsidiary of the Company completed a privately-marketed CLO transaction, which generated $566.2 million of
gross proceeds to Ladder, financing $729.4 million of loans (“Contributed December 2021 Loans”) at a maximum 77.6% advance rate on a matched
term, non-mark-to-market and non-recourse basis. A consolidated subsidiary of the Company retained an 15.6% subordinate and controlling interest in
the CLO. The Company also held two additional tranches as investments totaling 6.8% interest in the CLO. The Company retained consent rights over
major decisions with respect to the servicing of the Contributed December 2021 Loans, including the right to appoint and replace the special servicer
under the CLO. The CLO is a VIE and the Company was the primary beneficiary and, therefore, consolidated the VIE. Refer to Note 9, Consolidated
Variable Interest Entities for additional information.

As of June 30, 2024, the Company had $1.0 billion of matched term, non-mark-to-market and non-recourse CLO debt included in debt obligations on its
consolidated balance sheets. Unamortized debt issuance costs of $0.5 million were included in CLO debt as of June 30, 2024.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had $1.1 billion of matched term, non-mark-to-market and non-recourse CLO debt included in debt obligations
on its consolidated balance sheets. Unamortized debt issuance costs of $2.1 million were included in CLO debt as of December 31, 2023.

Borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”)
As of June 30, 2024, the Company had no debt outstanding with the FHLB.

As of December 31, 2023, Tuebor had $115.0 million of borrowings outstanding, with terms of 0.3 years to 0.75 years (with a weighted average of 0.57
years), interest rates of 5.76% to 5.88% (with a weighted average of 5.82%), and advance rates of 71.7% to 95.7% on eligible collateral. As of December
31, 2023, collateral for the borrowings was comprised primarily of $140.3 million of CMBS.

Tuebor is subject to state regulations which require that dividends (including dividends to the Company as its parent) may only be made with regulatory
approval. However, there can be no assurance that we would obtain such approval if sought. Largely as a result of this restriction, approximately $0.9
billion of Tuebor's member's capital was restricted from transfer via dividend to Tuebor’s parent without prior approval of state insurance regulators at
June 30, 2024. To facilitate intercompany cash funding of operations and investments, Tuebor and its parent maintain regulator-approved intercompany
borrowing/lending agreements.

Senior Unsecured Notes

As of June 30, 2024, the Company had $1.6 billion of unsecured corporate bonds outstanding. These unsecured financings were comprised of $327.8
million in aggregate principal amount of 5.25% senior notes due 2025 (the “2025 Notes”), $611.9 million in aggregate principal amount of 4.25% senior
notes due 2027 (the “2027 Notes”) and $633.9 million in aggregate principal of 4.75% senior notes due 2029 (the “2029 Notes,” and collectively with the
2025 Notes and the 2027 Notes, the “Notes”).

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had $1.6 billion of unsecured corporate bonds outstanding. These unsecured financings were comprised of
$327.8 million of the 2025 Notes, $611.9 million of the 2027 Notes and $635.9 million of the 2029 Notes.

LCFH issued the Notes with Ladder Capital Finance Corporation (“LCFC"), as co-issuers on a joint and several basis. LCFC is a 100% owned finance
subsidiary of LCFH with no assets, operations, revenues or cash flows other than those related to the issuance, administration and repayment of the
Notes. The Company and certain subsidiaries of LCFH currently guarantee the obligations under the Notes and the indenture. The Company believes it
was in compliance with all covenants of the Notes as of June 30, 2024 and 2023. The Notes are presented net of unamortized debt issuance costs of
$10.2 million and $11.8 million as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively.
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The Notes require interest payments semi-annually in cash in arrears, are unsecured, and are subject to an unencumbered assets to unsecured debt
covenant. The Company may redeem the Notes, in whole or in part, at any time, or from time to time, prior to their stated maturity upon not less than 10
nor more than 60 days’ notice, at a redemption price as specified in each respective indenture governing the Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if
any, to the redemption date. The board of directors has authorized the Company to repurchase any or all of the Notes from time to time without further
approval.

During the six months ended June 30, 2024, the Company repurchased $2.0 million of the 2029 Notes and recognized a net gain of $0.2 million on
extinguishment of debt.

Stock Repurchases

On April 24, 2024, the board of directors authorized the repurchase of $75.0 million of the Company’s Class A common stock from time to time without
further approval. This authorization increased the remaining outstanding authorization per the July 27, 2022 authorization from $43.6 million to

$75.0 million. Stock repurchases by the Company are generally made for cash in open market transactions at prevailing market prices but may also be
made in privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. The timing and amount of purchases are determined based upon prevailing market conditions, our
liquidity requirements, contractual restrictions and other factors. As of June 30, 2024, the Company has a remaining amount available for repurchase of
$74.8 million, which represents 5.2% in the aggregate of its outstanding Class A common stock, based on the closing price of $11.29 per share on such
date. Refer to Note 10, Equity Structure and Accounts, to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report, for
disclosure of the Company'’s repurchase activity.

The following table is a summary of the Company’s repurchase activity of its Class A common stock during the six months ended June 30, 2024 ($ in
thousands):

Shares Amount(1)

Authorizations remaining as of December 31, 2023 $ 44,256
Additional authorizations (2) 31,391
Repurchases paid:

March 1, 2024 - March 31, 2024 60,000 (647)

May 1, 2024 - May 31, 2024 2,100 (23)

June 1, 2024 - June 30, 2024 17,590 (189)
Authorizations remaining as of June 30, 2024 $ 74,788

(1) Amount excludes commissions paid associated with share repurchases.
(2)  On April 24, 2024 the Board authorized repurchases up to $75.0 million in aggregate.

Dividends

In order for the Company to maintain its qualification as a REIT under the Code, it must annually distribute at least 90% of its taxable income. The
Company has paid and in the future intends to declare regular quarterly distributions to its shareholders in aggregating to an amount approximating at
least 90% of the REIT’s annual net taxable income.

All distributions are made at the discretion of our board of directors and depend on our earnings, our financial condition, any debt covenants, maintenance
of our REIT qualification, restrictions on making distributions under Delaware law and other factors as our board of directors may deem relevant from time
to time.

Refer to Note 10, Equity Structure and Accounts, to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report, for disclosure of
dividends declared.

Principal Repayments on Investments
We receive principal amortization on our loans and securities as part of the normal course of our business. Repayment of mortgage loan receivables
provided net cash of $611.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and $433.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023. Repayment of

real estate securities provided net cash of $147.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024, and $135.3 million for the six months ended June 30,
2023.
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Proceeds from Securitizations and Sales of Loans

We sell our conduit mortgage loans to securitization trusts and to other third parties as part of our normal course of business and from time to time will sell
balance sheet mortgage loans. There were $69.4 million of conduit mortgage loans collateralized by net leased properties in the Company’s real estate
segment, which were sold into securitizations that are treated as financings under GAAP, for the six months ended June 30, 2024. There were no
proceeds from sales of mortgage loans for the six months ended June 30, 2023.

Proceeds from the Sale of Securities

We sell our investments in CMBS, U.S. Agency securities, corporate bonds, U.S. Treasury securities, and equity securities as a part of our normal course
of business. Proceeds from sales of securities provided net cash of $10.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024, and $14.2 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2023.

Proceeds from the Sale of Real Estate

There were $45.9 million of proceeds from sales of real estate for the six months ended June 30, 2024.There were no proceeds from sales of real estate
for the six months ended June 30, 2023.

Other Potential Sources of Financing

In the future, we may also use other sources of financing to fund the acquisition of our assets, including credit facilities, warehouse facilities, repurchase
facilities and other secured and unsecured forms of borrowing. These financings may be collateralized or non-collateralized, may involve one or more
lenders and may accrue interest at either fixed or floating rates. We may also seek to raise further equity capital or issue debt securities in order to fund
our future investments.

Contractual Obligations

Contractual obligations as of June 30, 2024 were as follows ($ in thousands):

Contractual Obligations (1)

Less than 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years More than 5 Years Total
Secured financings(2) $ 445616 $ 275,309 $ 24,317 $ 114,955 $ 860,197
Senior unsecured notes — 327,756 611,939 633,919 1,573,614
Interest payable(3) 102,669 155,394 76,407 25,270 359,740
Other funding obligations(4) 35,385 800 — 36,185
Operating lease obligations 1,104 4,426 4,537 11,039 21,106
Total $ 584,774 $ 763,685 $ 717,200 $ 785,183 $ 2,850,842

(1) As more fully disclosed in Note 6, Debt Obligations, Net, to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report, the
allocation of repayments under our committed loan repurchase facilities is based on the earlier of: (i) the maturity date of each agreement; or (i) the
maximum maturity date of the collateral loans, assuming all extension options are exercised by the borrower.

(2) Total does not include $1.0 billion of consolidated CLO debt obligations and the related debt issuance costs of $0.5 million, as the satisfaction of
these liabilities will not require cash outlays from us.

(3) Comprised of interest on secured financings and on senior unsecured notes. For borrowings with variable interest rates, we used the rates in effect
as of June 30, 2024 to determine the future interest payment obligations.

(4) Comprised primarily of our off-balance sheet unfunded commitment to provide additional first mortgage loan financing as of June 30, 2024. The
allocation of our unfunded loan commitments is based on the earlier of the commitment expiration date or the final maturity date, however, we may
be obligated to fund these commitments earlier than such date. This amount excludes $58.1 million of future funding commitments that require the
occurrence of certain “good news” events, such as the owner concluding a lease agreement with a major tenant in the building or reaching a pre-
determined net operating income which may or may not be achieved.

The table above does not include amounts due under our derivative agreements as those contracts do not have fixed and determinable payments. Our
contractual obligations will be refinanced and/or repaid from earnings as well as amortization and
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sales of our liquid collateral. We have made investments in various unconsolidated ventures of which our maximum exposure to loss from these
investments is limited to the carrying value of our investments.

Future Liquidity Needs

In addition to the future contractual obligations above, the Company, in the coming year and beyond, as a part of its normal course of business will
require cash to fund unfunded loan commitments and new investments in a combination of balance sheet mortgage loans, conduit loans, real estate
investments and securities as it deems appropriate as well as necessary expenses as a part of general corporate purposes. These new investments and
general corporate expenses may be funded with existing cash, proceeds from loan and securities payoffs, through financing using our Revolving Credit
Facility or loan and security financing facilities, or through additional debt or equity raises. The Company has no known material cash requirements other
than its contractual obligations in the above table, unfunded commitments and future general corporate expenses.

Unfunded Loan Commitments

We may be a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal course of business to meet the financial needs of our borrowers.
These commitments are not reflected on the consolidated balance sheets. As of June 30, 2024, our off-balance sheet arrangements consisted of $94.0
million of unfunded commitments of mortgage loan receivables held for investment. 62% of these unfunded commitments would only be funded upon the
occurrence of certain “good news” events, such as the owner concluding a lease agreement with a major tenant in the building or reaching some pre-
determined net operating income. As of December 31, 2023, our off-balance sheet arrangements consisted of $204.0 million of unfunded commitments of
mortgage loan receivables held for investment to provide additional first mortgage loan financing. Such commitments are subject to our borrowers’
satisfaction of certain financial and nonfinancial covenants and involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit risk in excess of the amount recognized in
the consolidated balance sheets. Commitments are subject to our loan borrowers’ satisfaction of certain financial and nonfinancial covenants and may or
may not be funded depending on a variety of circumstances including timing, credit metric hurdles, and other nonfinancial events occurring.

Interest Rate Environment

The nature of the Company’s business exposes it to market risk arising from changes in interest rates. Changes, both increases and decreases, in the
rates the Company is able to charge its borrowers, the yields the Company is able to achieve in its securities investments, and the Company’s cost of
borrowing directly impacts its net income. The Company'’s net interest income includes interest from both fixed and floating rate debt. The percentage of
the Company’s assets and liabilities bearing interest at fixed and floating rates may change over time, and asset composition may differ materially from
debt composition. Refer to Item 3 “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk” for further disclosures surrounding the impact of rising or
falling interest rate on our earnings.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and judgments in certain circumstances that
affect amounts reported as assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. We have established detailed policies and control procedures intended to ensure
that valuation methods, including any judgments made as part of such methods, are well controlled, reviewed and applied consistently from period to
period. We base our estimates on historical corporate and industry experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be appropriate under the
circumstances. The Company'’s critical accounting policies are those which require assumptions to be made about matters that are highly

uncertain. Different estimates could have a material effect on the Company’s financial results. For all of these estimates, we caution that future events
rarely develop exactly as forecasted and, therefore, routinely require adjustment.

During 2024, management reviewed and evaluated these critical accounting policies and estimates and believes they are appropriate. Our significant
accounting policies are described in Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly
Report. The following is a list of accounting policies that require more significant estimates and judgments:

*  Allowance for loan losses

e Acquisition of real estate

* Impairment or disposal of long lived assets
« Identified intangible assets and liabilities

* Variable interest entities
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¢ Fair value of assets and liabilities

The following is a summary of accounting policies that require more significant management estimates and judgments:

Allowance for Loan Losses

The Company uses a current expected credit loss model (“CECL”") for estimating the provision for loan losses on its loan portfolio. The CECL model
requires the consideration of possible credit losses over the life of an instrument and includes a portfolio-based component and an asset-specific
component. In compliance with the CECL reporting requirements, the Company supplements its existing credit monitoring and management processes
with additional processes to support the calculation of the CECL reserves. The Company engages a third-party service provider to provide market data
and a credit loss model. The credit loss model is a forward-looking, econometric, commercial real estate (“CRE") loss forecasting tool. It is comprised of a
probability of default (“PD”) model and a loss given default (‘LGD”) model that, layered together with the Company’s loan-level data, fair value of
collateral, net operating income of collateral, selected forward-looking macroeconomic variables, and pool-level mean loss rates, produces life of loan
expected losses (“EL") at the loan and portfolio level. Where management has determined that the credit loss model does not fully capture certain
external factors, including portfolio trends or loan-specific factors, a qualitative adjustment to the reserve is recorded. In addition, interest receivable on
loans is not included in the Company’s CECL calculations as the Company performs timely write offs of aged interest receivable. The Company has
made a policy election to write off aged receivables through interest income as opposed to through the CECL provision on its statements of income.

Loans for which the borrower or sponsor is experiencing financial difficulty, and where repayment of the loan is expected substantially through the
operation or sale of the underlying collateral, are considered collateral dependent loans. For collateral dependent loans, the Company may elect a
practical expedient that allows the Company to measure expected losses based on the difference between the collateral’s fair value and the amortized
cost basis of the loan. When the repayment or satisfaction of the loan is dependent on a sale, rather than operations of the collateral, the fair value is
adjusted for the estimated costs to sell the collateral. If foreclosure is probable, the Company is required to measure for expected losses using this
methodology.

The Company generally will use the direct capitalization rate valuation methodology or the sales comparison approach to estimate the fair value of the
collateral for loans and in certain cases will obtain external appraisals. Determining fair value of the collateral may take into account a number of
assumptions including, but not limited to, cash flow projections, market capitalization rates, discount rates and data regarding recent comparable sales of
similar properties. Such assumptions are generally based on current market conditions and are subject to economic and market uncertainties.

The Company’s loans are typically collateralized by real estate directly or indirectly. As a result, the Company regularly evaluates the extent and impact of
any credit deterioration associated with the performance and/or value of the underlying collateral property as well as the financial and operating capability
of the borrower/sponsor on a loan-by-loan basis. Specifically, a property’s operating results and any cash reserves are analyzed and used to assess:

(i) whether cash flow from operations is sufficient to cover the debt service requirements currently and into the future; (ii) the ability of the borrower to
refinance the loan at maturity; and/or (iii) the property’s liquidation value. The Company also evaluates the financial wherewithal of any loan guarantors as
well as the borrower’s competency in managing and operating the properties. In addition, the Company considers the overall economic environment, real
estate sector, and geographic submarket in which the collateral property is located. Such impairment analyses are completed and reviewed by asset
management and underwriting personnel, who utilize various data sources, including: (i) periodic financial data such as property occupancy, tenant
profile, rental rates, operating expenses, the borrowers’ business plan, and capitalization and discount rates; (ii) site inspections; and (iii) current credit
spreads and other market data and ultimately presented to management for approval.

When a debtor is experiencing financial difficulties and a loan is modified, the effect of the modification will be included in the Company’s assessment of
the CECL allowance for loan losses. If the Company provides principal forgiveness, the amortized cost basis of the loan is written off against the
allowance for loan losses. Generally, when modifying loans, the Company will seek to protect its position by requiring incremental pay downs, additional
collateral or guarantees and, in some cases, lookback features or equity interests to offset concessions granted should conditions impacting the loan
improve.

The Company designates a loan as a non-accrual loan generally when: (i) the principal or coupon interest components of loan payments become 90-days
past due; or (ii) in the opinion of the Company, recovery of principal and coupon interest is doubtful. Interest income on non-accrual loans in which the
Company reasonably expects a recovery of the loan’s outstanding principal balance is recognized when received in cash. Otherwise, income recognition
will be suspended and any cash received will be applied as a reduction to the amortized cost basis. A non-accrual loan is returned to accrual status at
such time as the loan becomes contractually current and future principal and coupon interest are reasonably assured to be received. A loan will be
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written off when management has determined principal and coupon interest is no longer realizable and deemed non-recoverable.

The CECL accounting estimate is subject to uncertainty as a result of changing macro-economic market conditions, as well as the vintage and location of
the underlying assets as disclosed in Note 3, Mortgage Loan Receivables, to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly
Report. The provision for loan losses for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023 was $5.1 million and $6.9 million, respectively, and
$10.8 million and $11.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023, respectively.

The allowance for loan losses at June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 was $54.7 million and $43.9 million, respectively. The allowance includes $0.6
million and $0.7 million of reserves for unfunded commitments at June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. The estimate is sensitive to the
assumptions used to represent future expected economic conditions.

Acquisition of Real Estate

We generally acquire real estate assets or land and development assets through purchases and may also acquire such assets through foreclosure or
deed-in-lieu of foreclosure in full or partial satisfaction of defaulted loans. Purchased properties are classified as real estate, net or land and development,
net on our consolidated balance sheets. When we intend to hold, operate or develop the property for a period of at least 12 months, the asset is
classified as real estate, net, and if the asset meets the held-for-sale criteria, the asset is classified as real estate held for sale. Upon purchase, the
properties are recorded at cost. Foreclosed assets classified as real estate and land and development are initially recorded at their estimated fair value
and assets classified as held for sale are recorded at their estimated fair value less costs to sell. The excess of the carrying value of the loan over these
amounts is charged-off against the reserve for loan losses. In both cases, upon acquisition, tangible and intangible assets and liabilities acquired are
recorded at their relative fair values.

Identified Intangible Assets and Liabilities

We record intangible assets and liabilities acquired at their relative fair values, and determine whether such intangible assets and liabilities have finite or
indefinite lives. As of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, all such acquired intangible assets and liabilities have finite lives. We review finite lived
intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. If we
determine the carrying value of an intangible asset is not recoverable, we will record an impairment charge to the extent its carrying value exceeds its
estimated fair value. Impairments of intangibles are recorded in impairment of assets in our consolidated statements of income.

Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets

Real estate assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of their carrying amount or estimated fair value less costs to sell and are included in real
estate held for sale on our consolidated balance sheets. The difference between the estimated fair value less costs to sell and the carrying value will be
recorded as an impairment charge. Impairment for real estate assets are included in impairment of assets in our consolidated statements of operations.
Once the asset is classified as held for sale, depreciation expense is no longer recorded.

We periodically review real estate to be held and used, and land and development assets for impairment in value, whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. The asset’s value is impaired only if management’s estimate of
the aggregate future cash flows (undiscounted and without interest charges) to be generated by the asset (taking into account the anticipated holding
period of the asset) is less than the carrying value. Such estimate of cash flows considers factors such as expected future operating income, trends and
prospects, as well as the effects of demand, competition and other economic factors. To the extent impairment has occurred, the loss will be measured
as the excess of the carrying amount of the property over the fair value of the asset and reflected as an adjustment to the basis of the asset. Impairments
of real estate and land and development assets are recorded in impairment of assets in our consolidated statements of operations.

There was one property classified as held for sale as of June 30, 2024. There were no properties classified as held for sale as of December 31, 2023. We
did not record any impairments of real estate for the six months ended June 30, 2024 or June 30, 2023.

Variable Interest Entities
We evaluate our investments and other contractual arrangements to determine if our interests constitute variable interests in a variable interest entity

(“VIE") and if we are the primary beneficiary. There is a significant amount of judgment required to
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determine if an entity is considered a VIE and if we are the primary beneficiary. We first perform a qualitative analysis, which requires certain subjective
decisions regarding our assessment, including, but not limited to, which interests create or absorb variability, the contractual terms, the key decision-
making powers, impact on the VIE's economic performance and related party relationships. An iterative quantitative analysis is required if our qualitative
analysis proves inconclusive as to whether the entity is a VIE or we are the primary beneficiary and consolidation is required.

Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities

The degree of management judgment involved in determining the fair value of assets and liabilities is dependent upon the availability of quoted market
prices or observable market parameters. For financial and nonfinancial assets and liabilities that trade actively and have quoted market prices or
observable market parameters, there is minimal subjectivity involved in measuring fair value. When observable market prices and parameters are not
fully available, management judgment is necessary to estimate fair value. In addition, changes in market conditions may reduce the availability of quoted
prices or observable data. For example, reduced liquidity in the capital markets or changes in secondary market activities could result in observable
market inputs becoming unavailable. Therefore, when market data is not available, we would use valuation techniques requiring more management
judgment to estimate the appropriate fair value measurement.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements and Recent Accounting Pronouncements Pending Adoption

Our recently adopted accounting pronouncements and recent accounting pronouncements pending adoption are described in Note 2, Significant
Accounting Policies, to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report.

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Distributable Earnings

During the first quarter of 2024, the Company refined its definition of distributable earnings and its descriptions of the adjustments to GAAP income. The
refined definition and descriptions do not change how distributable earnings or adjustments to GAAP income are calculated for prior, current or future
periods. The Company utilizes distributable earnings, a non-GAAP financial measure, as a supplemental measure of our operating performance. We
believe distributable earnings assists investors in comparing our operating performance and our ability to pay dividends across reporting periods on a
more relevant and consistent basis by excluding from GAAP measures certain non-cash expenses and unrealized results as well as eliminating timing
differences related to conduit securitization gains and changes in the values of assets and derivatives. In addition, we use distributable earnings: (i) to
evaluate our earnings from operations because management believes that it may be a useful performance measure; and (ii) because our board of
directors considers distributable earnings in determining the amount of quarterly dividends.

We define distributable earnings as income before taxes adjusted for: (i) net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests in consolidated
ventures; (ii) our share of real estate depreciation, amortization and gain adjustments and (earnings) loss from investments in unconsolidated ventures in
excess of distributions received; (iii) the impact of derivative gains and losses related to hedging fair value variability of fixed rate assets caused by
interest rate fluctuations and overall portfolio market risk as of the end of the specified accounting period; (iv) economic gains or losses on loan sales,
certain of which may not be recognized under GAAP accounting in consolidation for which risk has substantially transferred during the period, as well as
the exclusion of the related GAAP economics in subsequent periods; (v) unrealized gains or losses related to our investments in securities recorded at
fair value in current period earnings; (vi) unrealized and realized provision for loan losses and real estate impairment; (vii) non-cash stock-based
compensation; and (viii) certain non-recurring transactional items.

We exclude the effects of our share of real estate depreciation and amortization. Given GAAP gains and losses on sales of real estate include the effects
of previously-recognized real estate depreciation and amortization, our adjustment eliminates the portion of the GAAP gain or loss that is derived from
depreciation and amortization.
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As discussed in Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report, our
derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting under GAAP and, therefore, any net payments under, or fluctuations in the fair value of
derivatives are recognized currently in our income statement. The Company utilizes derivative instruments to hedge exposure to interest rate risk
associated with fixed rate mortgage loans, fixed rate securities, and/or overall portfolio market risks. Distributable earnings excludes the GAAP results
from derivative activity until the associated mortgage loan or security for which the derivative position is hedging is sold or paid off, or the hedge position
for overall portfolio market risk is closed, at which point any gain or loss is recognized in distributable earnings in that period. For derivative activity
associated with securities or mortgage loans held for investment, any hedging gain or loss is amortized over the expected life of the underlying asset for
distributable earnings. We believe that adjusting for these specifically identified gains and losses associated with hedging positions adjusts for timing
differences between when we recognize the gains or losses associated with our assets and the gains and losses associated with derivatives used to
hedge such assets.

We originate conduit loans, which are first mortgage loans on stabilized, income producing commercial real estate properties that we intend to sell into
third-party CMBS securitizations. Mortgage loans receivable held for sale are recorded at the lower of cost or market under GAAP. For purposes of
distributable earnings, we exclude the impact of unrealized lower of cost or market adjustments on conduit loans held for sale and include the realized
gains or losses in distributable earnings in the period when the loan is sold. Our conduit business includes mortgage loans made to third parties and may
also include mortgage loans secured by real estate owned in our real estate segment. Such mortgage loans receivable secured by real estate owned in
our real estate segment are eliminated in consolidation within our GAAP financial statements until the loans are sold in a third-party securitization. Upon
the sale of a loan to a third-party securitization trust (for cash), the related mortgage note payable is recognized on our GAAP financial statements. For
purposes of distributable earnings, we include adjustments for economic gains and losses related to the sale of these inter-segment loans for which risk
has substantially transferred during the period and exclude the resultant GAAP recognition of amortization of any related premium/discount on such
mortgage loans payable recognized in interest expense during the subsequent periods. This adjustment is reflected in distributable earnings when there
is a true risk transfer on the mortgage loan sale and settlement. Conversely, if the economic risk was not substantially transferred, no adjustments to net
income would be made relating to those transactions for distributable earnings purposes. Management believes recognizing these amounts for
distributable earnings purposes in the period of transfer of economic risk is a useful supplemental measure of our performance.

As more fully discussed in Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report,
we invest in certain securities that are recorded at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in current period earnings. For purposes of distributable
earnings, we exclude the impact of unrealized gains and losses associated with these securities and include realized gains or losses in connection with
any disposition of securities. Distributable earnings includes declines in fair value deemed to be an impairment for GAAP purposes if the decline is
determined to be non-recoverable and the loss to be nearly certain to be eventually realized. In those cases, an impairment is included in distributable
earnings for the period in which such determination was made.

We include adjustments for unrealized and realized provision for loan losses and real estate impairment. For purposes of distributable earnings,
management recognizes loan and real estate losses as being realized generally in the period in which the asset is sold or the Company determines a
decline in value to be non-recoverable and the loss to be nearly certain.

Set forth below is an unaudited reconciliation of income (loss) before taxes to distributable earnings (in thousands):
Three Months Ended

June 30, March 31,
2024 2024
Income (loss) before taxes $ 31,036 $ 18,355
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests in consolidated ventures 224 179
Our share of real estate depreciation, amortization and gain adjustments (1) (1,398) 7,668
Adjustments for derivative results and loan sale activity (2) 2,345 8
Unrealized (gain) loss on fair value securities 19 7
Adjustment for impairment (3) 5,055 5,768
Non-cash stock-based compensation 3,117 10,298
Distributable earnings $ 40,398 $ 42,283

7



Table of Contents

D

@

(©)

The following is a reconciliation of GAAP depreciation and amortization to our share of real estate depreciation, amortization and gain adjustments
and (earnings) loss from investment in unconsolidated ventures in excess of distributions received ($ in thousands):

Three Months Ended

June 30, March 31,
2024 2024

Total GAAP depreciation and amortization $ 8,413 $ 8,302
Depreciation and amortization related to non-rental property fixed assets (109) (110)
Non-controlling interests in consolidated ventures’ share of depreciation and amortization (108) (107)
Our share of operating lease income from above/below market lease intangible amortization (430) (432)
Our share of real estate depreciation and amortization 7,766 7,653
Accumulated depreciation and amortization on real estate sold (a) (9,146) —
Adjustment for (earnings) loss from investments in unconsolidated ventures in excess of distributions

received (28) 15
Our share of real estate depreciation, amortization and gain adjustments $ (1,398) $ 7,668

(a) GAAP gains/losses on sales of real estate include the effects of previously-recognized real estate depreciation and amortization. For purposes
of distributable earnings, our share of real estate depreciation and amortization is eliminated and, accordingly, the resultant gains/losses also
must be adjusted. The following is a reconciliation of the related consolidated GAAP amounts to the amounts reflected in distributable earnings
($ in thousands):

Three Months Ended

June 30, March 31,
2024 2024
GAAP realized gain/loss on sale of real estate, net $ 12,543 $ =
Adjusted gain/loss on sale of real estate for purposes of distributable earnings (3,397) —
Accumulated depreciation and amortization on real estate sold $ 9,146 $ =

The following is a reconciliation of GAAP net results from derivative transactions to our adjustments for derivative results and loan sale activity
within distributable earnings ($ in thousands):

Three Months Ended

June 30, March 31,
2024 2024
GAAP net results from derivative transactions $ 617) $ (4,019)
Realized results of loan sales, net (a) (b) 1,558 1,496
Unrealized lower of cost or market adjustments related to loans held for sale 541 (87)
Amortization of premium on mortgage loan financing included in interest expense (b) (190) (151)
Recognized derivative results 1,053 2,769
Adjustments for derivative results and loan sale activity $ 2,345 $ 8

(a) Includes realized gains from sales of conduit mortgage loans collateralized by net lease properties in our real estate segment of $1.8 million
and $0.9 million and net hedge related gain (loss) on such mortgage loan sales of $(0.2) million and $0.6 million, for the three months ended June
30, 2024 and March 31, 2024, respectively.

(b) Prior to the first quarter of 2024, the Company presented these adjustments within “Adjustment for economic gain on loan sales not recognized
under GAAP for which risk has been substantially transferred, net of reversal/amortization.”

The adjustment reflects the portion of the loan loss provision that management determined to be recoverable. Additional provisions and releases of
those provisions are excluded from distributable earnings as a result.
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Distributable earnings has limitations as an analytical tool. Some of these limitations are:

« Distributable earnings does not reflect the impact of certain cash charges resulting from matters we consider not to be indicative of our
ongoing operations and is not necessarily indicative of cash necessary to fund cash needs; and

¢ Other companies in our industry may calculate distributable earnings differently than we do, limiting its usefulness as a comparative
measure.

Because of these limitations, distributable earnings should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for net income (loss) attributable to
shareholders or any other performance measures calculated in accordance with GAAP. Our non-GAAP financial measures should not be considered an
alternative to cash flows from operations as a measure of our liquidity.

In addition, distributable earnings should not be considered to be the equivalent to REIT taxable income calculated to determine the minimum amount of
dividends the Company is required to distribute to shareholders to maintain REIT status. In order for the Company to maintain its qualification as a REIT
under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, we must annually distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income. The Company has

declared, and intends to continue declaring, regular quarterly distributions to its shareholders in an amount approximating the REIT’s net taxable income.

In the future, we may incur gains and losses that are the same as or similar to some of the adjustments in this presentation. Our presentation of
distributable earnings should not be construed as an inference that our future results will be unaffected by unusual or non-recurring items.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
For a discussion of current market conditions, refer to “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."
Interest Rate Risk

The nature of the Company’s business exposes it to market risk arising from changes in interest rates. Changes, both increases and decreases, in the
rates the Company is able to charge its borrowers, the yields the Company is able to achieve in its securities investments, and the Company’s cost of
borrowing directly impacts its net income. The Company’s net interest income includes interest from both fixed and floating rate debt. The percentage of
the Company’s assets and liabilities bearing interest at fixed and floating rates may change over time, and asset composition may differ materially from
debt composition. Another component of interest rate risk is the effect changes in interest rates will have on the market value of the assets the Company
acquires. The Company faces the risk that the market value of its assets will increase or decrease at different rates than that of its liabilities, including its
hedging instruments. The Company mitigates interest rate risk through utilization of hedging instruments, primarily interest rate futures agreements.
Interest rate futures agreements are utilized to hedge against future interest rate increases on the Company’s borrowings and potential adverse changes
in the value of certain assets that result from interest rate changes. The Company generally seeks to hedge assets that have a duration longer than five
years, including newly originated conduit first mortgage loans, securities in the Company’s CMBS portfolio if long enough in duration, and most of its U.S.
Agency securities portfolio.

The following table summarizes the change in net income for a 12-month period commencing June 30, 2024 and the change in fair value of our
investments and indebtedness assuming an increase or decrease of 100 basis points in the relevant benchmark interest rates on June 30, 2024, both
adjusted for the effects of our interest rate hedging activities ($ in thousands):

Projected change

Projected change in portfolio

in net income(1) value
Change in interest rate:
Decrease by 1.00% $ (25,147) $ 4,162
Increase by 1.00% 25,695 (4,162)

(1) Subject to limits for floors on our floating rate investments and indebtedness.
Market Risk
As market volatility increases or liquidity decreases, the market value of the Company’s assets may be adversely impacted.

The Company’s securities investments are reflected at their estimated fair value. The change in estimated fair value of securities available-for-sale is
reflected in accumulated other comprehensive income. The change in estimated fair value of Agency interest-only securities is recorded in current period
earnings. The estimated fair value of these securities fluctuates primarily due to changes in interest rates and other factors. Generally, in a rising interest
rate environment, the estimated fair value of these securities would be expected to decrease; conversely, in a decreasing interest rate environment, the
estimated fair value of these securities would be expected to increase.

The Company’s fixed rate mortgage loan portfolio is subject to the same risks. However, to the extent those loans are classified as held for sale, they are
reflected at the lower of cost or market. Otherwise, held for investment mortgage loans are reflected at values equal to the unpaid principal balances net
of certain fees, costs and loan loss allowances.

Concentrations of market risk may exist with respect to the Company’s investments. Market risk is a potential loss the Company may incur as a result of
change in the fair values of its investments. The Company may also be subject to risk associated with concentrations of investments in geographic
regions and industries.

Liquidity Risk
Market disruptions may lead to a significant decline in transaction activity in all or a significant portion of the asset classes in which the Company invests
and may at the same time lead to a significant contraction in short-term and long-term debt and equity funding sources. A decline in liquidity of real estate

and real estate-related investments, as well as a lack of availability of observable transaction data and inputs, may make it more difficult to sell the
Company’s investments or determine their fair
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values. As a result, the Company may be unable to sell its investments, or only be able to sell its investments at a price that may be materially different
from the fair values presented. Also, in such conditions, there is no guarantee that the Company’s borrowing arrangements or other arrangements for
obtaining leverage will continue to be available or, if available, will be available on terms and conditions acceptable to the Company. In addition, a decline
in market value of the Company’s assets may have particular adverse consequences in instances where it borrowed money based on the fair value of its
assets. A decrease in the market value of the Company’s assets may result in the lender requiring it to post additional collateral or otherwise sell assets
at a time when it may not be in the Company’s best interest to do so. The Company’s captive insurance company subsidiary, Tuebor, is subject to state
regulations which require that dividends may only be made with regulatory approval, limiting the Company’s ability to utilize cash held by Tuebor.

Credit Risk

The Company is subject to varying degrees of credit risk in connection with its investments. The Company seeks to manage credit risk by performing
deep credit fundamental analyses of potential assets and through ongoing asset management. The Company’s investment guidelines do not limit the
amount of its equity that may be invested in any type of its assets; however, investments greater than a certain size are subject to approval by the Risk
and Underwriting Committee of the board of directors.

Our portfolio’s low weighted average loan-to-value, based on the loan balances and the “as-is” third-party Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and
Enforcement Act of 1989 (“FIRREA”) appraised values at origination, of 64.4% as of June 30, 2024 reflects significant equity value that our sponsors are
motivated to protect through periods of cyclical disruption. While we believe the principal amounts of our loans are generally adequately protected by
underlying collateral value, there is a risk that we will not realize the entire principal value of certain investments.

Credit Spread Risk

Credit spread risk is the risk that interest rate spreads between two different financial instruments will change. In general, fixed-rate commercial
mortgages and CMBS are priced based on a spread to Treasury or interest rate swaps. The Company generally benefits if credit spreads narrow during
the time that it holds a portfolio of mortgage loans or CMBS investments, and the Company may experience losses if credit spreads widen during the
time that it holds a portfolio of mortgage loans or CMBS investments. The Company actively monitors its exposure to changes in credit spreads and the
Company may enter into credit total return swaps or take positions in other credit-related derivative instruments to moderate its exposure against losses
associated with a widening of credit spreads.

Risks Related to Real Estate

Real estate and real estate-related assets, including loans and commercial real estate-related securities, are subject to volatility and may be affected
adversely by a number of factors, including, but not limited to, national, regional and local economic conditions (which may be adversely affected by
industry slowdowns and other factors); local real estate conditions; changes or continued weakness in specific industry segments; construction quality,
age and design; demographic factors; environmental conditions; competition from comparable property types or properties; changes in tenant mix or
performance and retroactive changes to building or similar codes and rent regulations. In addition, decreases in property values reduce the value of the
collateral and the potential proceeds available to a borrower to repay the underlying loans, which could also cause the Company to suffer losses.

Covenant Risk

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into loan and securities repurchase agreements and credit facilities with certain lenders to finance
its real estate investment transactions. These agreements contain, among other conditions, events of default and various covenants and representations.
If such events are not cured by the Company or waived by the lenders, the lenders may decide to curtail or limit extension of credit, and the Company
may be forced to repay its advances or loans. In addition, the Company’s Notes are subject to covenants, including maintenance of unencumbered
assets, limitations on the incurrence of additional debt, restricted payments, liens, sales of assets, affiliate transactions and other covenants typical for
financings of this type. The Company'’s failure to comply with these covenants could result in an event of default, which could result in the Company being
required to repay these borrowings before their due date.

We were in compliance with all covenants as described in this Quarterly Report as of June 30, 2024.
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Diversification Risk

The Company’s investments include mortgage loan receivables collateralized by commercial real estate, owned real estate and real estate backed
securities. The Company'’s real estate investments are primarily middle market focused, spread across geographically diverse regions within the United
States, and granular in nature with an average loan balance of approximately $25 million to $30 million. The primary assets of the Company are therefore
concentrated in the commercial real estate sector, and accordingly, the investment portfolio of the Company may be subject to more rapid change in
value than would be the case if the Company were to maintain a wide diversification among investments or industry sectors. Furthermore, even within
the commercial real estate sector, the investment portfolio may be relatively concentrated in terms of geography and type of real estate investment. This
lack of diversification may subject the investments of the Company to more rapid change in value than would be the case if the assets of the Company
were more widely diversified.

Regulatory Risk

Tuebor is subject to state regulation as a captive insurance company. If Tuebor fails to comply with regulatory requirements, it could be subject to loss of
its licenses and registration and/or economic penalties.

Effective as of July 16, 2021, LCAM is a registered investment adviser under the Investment Advisors Act of 1940, as amended and currently provides
investment advisory services solely to Ladder-sponsored collateralized loan obligation trusts (“CLO Issuers”). The CLO Issuers invest primarily in first
mortgage loans secured by commercial real estate originated or acquired by Ladder and in participation interests in such loans. LCAM is entitled to
receive a management fee connection with the advisory, administrative and monitoring services it performs for the CLO Issuer as the collateral manager;
however, LCAM has waived this fee for so long as it or any of its affiliates serves as collateral manager for the CLO Issuers.

A registered investment adviser is subject to U.S. federal and state laws and regulations primarily intended to benefit its clients. These laws and
regulations include requirements relating to, among other things, fiduciary duties to clients, maintaining an effective compliance program, solicitation
agreements, conflicts of interest, record keeping and reporting requirements, disclosure requirements, custody arrangements, limitations on agency cross
and principal transactions between an investment adviser and its advisory clients and general anti-fraud prohibitions. In addition, these laws and
regulations generally grant supervisory agencies and bodies broad administrative powers, including the power to limit or restrict us from conducting our
advisory activities in the event we fail to comply with those laws and regulations. Sanctions that may be imposed for a failure to comply with applicable
legal requirements include the suspension of individual employees, limitations on our engaging in various advisory activities for specified periods of time,
disgorgement, the revocation of registrations, and other censures and fines.

We may become subject to additional regulatory and compliance burdens if our investment adviser subsidiary expands its product offerings and
investment platform.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company’s management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as required by Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange Act as
of June 30, 2024. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective, as of June 30, 2024, to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or
submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the applicable rules and forms, and
that it is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute,
assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource
constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Due to the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of
controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended

June 30, 2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Part Il
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may be involved in litigation and claims incidental to the conduct of our business in the ordinary course. Further, certain of our
subsidiaries, such as our registered investment adviser and captive insurance company, are subject to scrutiny by government regulators, which could
result in enforcement proceedings or litigation related to regulatory compliance matters. We are not presently a party to any material enforcement
proceedings, litigation related to regulatory compliance matters or any other type of material litigation matters. We maintain insurance policies in amounts
and with the coverage and deductibles we believe are adequate, based on the nature and risks of our business, historical experience and industry
standards.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes during the three months ended June 30, 2024 to the risk factors in Item 1A in our Annual Report.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

a) Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.
c) Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table summarizes the share repurchase activity for the three months ended June 30, 2024 ($ in thousands, except per share data and
average price paid per share):
Approximate Dollar
Total Number of Shares Value of Shares that
Purchased as Part of May Yet Be Purchased
Total Number of Shares Average Price Paid per Publicly Announced Plans Under the Plans or

Period Purchased Share or Programs (1) Programs (1)
April 1, 2024 - April 24, 2024 — = = 43,609
April 24, 2024 - April 30, 2024 — — — 75,000
May 1, 2024 - May 31, 2024 2,100 10.75 2,100 74,977
June 1, 2024 - June 30, 2024 17,590 10.75 17,590 74,788
Total 19,690 $ 10.75 19,690 $ 74,788

(1) OnJuly 27, 2022 the Board authorized repurchases up to $50.0 million in aggregate. On April 24, 2024, the board of directors authorized the
repurchase of $75.0 million of the Company’s Class A common stock from time to time without further approval. This authorization increased the
remaining outstanding authorization per the July 27, 2022 authorization from $43.6 million to $75.0 million.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information

During the three months ended June 30, 2024, no director or officer of the Company adopted or terminated a "Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or "non-
Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K.
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Item 6. Exhibits

EXHIBIT INDEX

EXHIBIT

NO. DESCRIPTION

4.1 Indenture, dated July 5, 2024, among Ladder Capital Finance Holdings LLLP, Ladder Capital Finance Corporation, the guarantors
party thereto and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 5, 2024).

311 Certification of Brian Harris pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

31.2 Certification of Paul J. Miceli pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

32.1* Certification of Brian Harris pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350. as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

32.2* Certification of Paul J. Miceli pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

101 101.SCH* iXBRL Schema Document.
101.CAL* iXBRL Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF* iXBRL Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB* iXBRL Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE* iXBRL Presentation Linkbase Document.

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted in inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

* The certifications attached hereto as Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 are furnished to the SEC pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

and shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, nor shall they be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing
under the Securities Act, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

LADDER CAPITAL CORP
(Registrant)

Date: July 26, 2024 By:  /s/ BRIAN HARRIS

Brian Harris

Chief Executive Officer

Date: July 26, 2024 By: /s/ PAUL J. MICELI

Paul J. Miceli

Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a), AS AMENDED

I, Brian Harris, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Ladder Capital Corp;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely

to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: July 26, 2024 Is/ Brian Harris

Brian Harris

Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a), AS AMENDED

I, Paul J. Miceli, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Ladder Capital Corp;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: July 26, 2024 /sl Paul J. Miceli
Paul J. Miceli

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION FURNISHED PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the filing of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2024 (the “Report”) by Ladder Capital Corp (the
“Company”), |, Brian Harris, as Chief Executive Officer of the Company hereby certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: July 26, 2024 /sl Brian Harris

Brian Harris

Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION FURNISHED PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the filing of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2024 (the “Report”) by Ladder Capital Corp (the
“Company”), I, Paul J. Miceli, as Chief Financial Officer of the Company hereby certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: July 26, 2024 Is/ Paul J. Miceli

Paul J. Miceli

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



